Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street g e e . B
Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone:  716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

- &
Buftalo’Urban Development Corporation

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Board of Directors Meeting
Date: Tuesday, March 31, 2020
. Time: Noon
Conference Call for Board Members and Staff
Live Stream Audio for Press and Public

1.0 CALL TO ORDER
2.0 READING OF THE MINUTES (4crion} (Enclosure)

3.0 NEW BUSINESS

3.1 Governance Committee Report (Enclosure)
3.11 2019 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements w/ Results (Info.) (Encl,)
3.1.2 2020 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements (Approve) (4ct.) (Encl.)
3.13  Procurement Policy (Re-adopt) (Action) (Enclosure)
3.1.4  Property Disposition Guidelines (Re-adopt) (Action) (Enclosure)
3.1.5 2019 Public Authorities Annual Report (Approve) (Action) (Enclosure)
3.2 Audit & Finance Committee Report (Enclosure)
32.1 2019 683 Northland Master Tenant, LL.C Audited Financial Statements (Information)
(Enclosure)
322 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements (Approve) (Action) (Enclosure)
3.2.3 2019 Audited Financial Statements - BBRF (Information) (Enclosure)
324 2019 Investment Report (Approve) (Action) (Enclosure)
3.2.5 Investment and Deposit Policy (Re-adopt) (Action) (Enclosure)
32.6 Reimbursement of 2019 Brownfield Expenses from BBRF (Approve) (4ct) (Encl)
3.3 Monthly Financial Report (4ction) (Separate Distribution)
3.4 Northland Central Lease Proposal (Action) (Separate Distribution)
3.5 Northland Corridor — Community Solar & Microgrid RFP Proposal (Action) (Enclosure)
3.6 RCWI Centennial Park Project - MVV A Contract Amendment (4ction) (Enclosure)
3.7 BBRP / Race For Place Project Update (Information)
3.8 Northland Beltline Project Update (Information)
3.9 Waterfront / Ralph C. Wilson Jr. Centennial Park Project Update (Information)
3.10 Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park Project Update (Tnformation)
3.11 308 Crowley Project Update (Information)

4.0 LATE FILES

5.0 TABLED ITEMS

6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION
7.0 ADJOURNMENT (4ction)

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Board Chair * Dennis Penman, Vice Chair » Peter M. Cammarata, President * David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President * Brandye Merriweather, Vice President
Mollie Profic, Treasurer » Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer « Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary =i



1.0

2.0

3.0

Minutes of the Meeting
of the
Board of Directors
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Buffalo, New York 14203
February 25, 2020

12:00 p.m.
Call to Order
Directors Present: Directors Absent:
Hon. Byron W. Brown (Chair) Dennis W. Elsenbeck
Trina Burruss Michael J. Finn
James W. Comerford Thomas R. Hersey, Jr.
Janique S. Curry Brendan R. Mehaffy
Darby Fishkin David J. Nasca
Dottie Gallagher Maria R. Whyte

Thomas Halligan

Thomas A. Kucharski

Amanda Mays

Kimberley A. Minkel

Dennis M. Penman (Vice Chair)
Darius G. Pridgen

Craig A. Slater

Officers Present:

Peter M. Cammarata, President

David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President
Brandye Merriweather, Vice President
Mollie M. Profic, Treasurer

Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer

Others Present: Dawn Boudreau, ECIDA; Evan Y. Bussiere, Hurwitz & Fine, P.C.; Daniel Chorley, Watts
Architecture & Engineering; John Cleary, Gilbane Building Company, David Dittmar, 34 Group, Inc.;
Jonathan Epstein, The Buffalo News; James Fink, Buffalo Business First, Garrett Gruendike, Gilbane
Building Company; Arthur Hall, BUDC; Kellena Kane, Uniland Development Company; and Michael
Montante, Uniland Development Company.

Roll Call - The meeting was called to order at 12:05 p.m. The Secretary called the roli of directors and
a quorum was determined to be present. Mr. Kucharski joined during the presentation of item 3.0. Mayor
Brown and Ms. Gallagher joined the meeting during the presentation of item 3.2.

Presentation of the Minutes - The minutes of the January 28, 2020 mesting of the Board of
Directors were presented. Mr. Slater made a motion to approve the meeting minutes. The motion was
seconded by Ms. Burruss and unanimously carried (11-0-0).

Monthly Financial Reports




BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 25, 2020

3.1 683 Northland Master Tenant , LLC Financial Statements — Ms. Profic presented for
information purposes the financial statements for 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC for the period
ending January 31, 2020.

3.2 BUDC Consolidated Financial Statements — Ms. Profic presented the consolidated financial
statements for BUDC and its affiliates, 683 Northland LLC and 683 WTC, LLC for the period ending
January 31, 2020. Ms. Profic noted that the auditor’s report and cost certification in connection with the
tax credits for the project are pending. Mr. Pridgen made a motion to accept the financial report. The
motion was seconded by Mr. Comerford and unanimously carried (14-0-0).

3.3 Corporate Lines of Credit — BUDC & 683 Northland LLC ~ Ms. Profic presented her
February 25, 2020 memorandum regarding a proposal to establish lines of credit for BUDC and 683
Northland LLC through KeyBank. She explained the lengthy reimbursement process for project grants,
which has resulted in constraints on BUDC's general operating cash. To date, construction costs have
exceeded three million dollars, with only $949,000 reimbursed to BUDC. Ms. Profic also explained the
need for a line of credit for 683 Northland LLC. The Audit & Finance Committee reviewed this item at its
February 5, 2020 meeting and is recommending that the Board approve pursuing two separate lines of
credit from KeyBank, a working capital line of credit for BUDC in the amount of two million dollars and a
working capital line of credit for 683 Northland LLC in the amount of one million dollars. The Board
discussed the item. In response to a question from Ms. Gallagher, Ms. Profic stated that interest
expenses for the proposed lines of credit are not included in the budget, and she also confirmed that
there is no present need to draw on either line. Mr. Penman stated that having access to lines of credit
is standard operating procedure for a development company and would be appropriate for BUDC. Ms.
Profic stated that she would provide monthly updates to the Board regarding any draws made against
the lines of credit. Mr. Cammarata added that all draws would be reported to the Audit & Finance
Committee and the Board of Directors. At the conclusion of the discussion, Mr. Pridgen made a motion
to authorize the President or Executive Vice President to execute and deliver the necessary documents
to establish two separate working capital lines of credit for Buffalo Urban Development Corporation and
683 Northland LLC in the amounts of two million dollars and one million dollars, respectively, with terms
consistent with the memorandum presented, and with the requirement that all draws be reported on a
monthly basis to the Board of Directors and the Audit & Finance Committee. The motion was seconded
by Mr. Comerford and unanimously carried (14-0-0).

4.0 New Business

4.1 BLCP — Uniland Development Co. Amendment to Land Sale Agreement — Mr.
Cammarata presented his January 28, 2020 memorandum regarding a proposed amendment to
the Land Sale Agreement between Uniland Development Company and BUDC for the 255 Ship
Canal Parkway property. In the course of Uniland’s due diligence, it encountered unanticipated
issues including unfavorable soil conditions and potential difficulty utilizing the NYS Brownfield
Cleanup Program. Based on these difficulties, Uniland submitted a request for an extension of the
contractual due diligence period through August 31, 2020 and a waiver of the $2,000 per month
exclusivity fee requirement during the extended due diligence period. Mr. Cammarata noted that
the proposed amendment was reviewed with members of the Real Estate Committee that were
present at the Committee’s February 28, 2020 meeting, but formal action to approve the item was
not taken due to the lack of a quorum. Mr. Slater stated that the members present at the February
28th meeting were in favor of the extension. Mr. Slater then made a motion to approve an
amendment to the Land Sale Agreement to extend the due diligence period to August 31, 2020
and to waive the exclusivity fee requirement during the extended due diligence period. The motion
was seconded by Mr. Kucharski and unanimously carried (14-0-0).




4.2

4.3

4.4

BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 25, 2020

Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Additional Due Diligence — Mr. Stebbins
presented his February 25, 2020 memorandum regarding additional due diligence to be performed
in connection with the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park project. He noted that Gardiner &
Theobald has undertaken a thorough review of the due diligence work and is recommending
additional hydrological analysis to support design and regulatory approvals for the shoreline
improvements, sourcing and analyzing fill material for the project and completing the required
State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQRA) and National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA)
processes. Gardiner & Theobald determined that BUDC's due diligence consultant, Wendel
Companies, was best positioned to perform the preparation of materials and managing the
SEQRA and NEPA review processes as well as managing and subcontracting with an
environmental and geotechnical consultant to assess the fill material. Wendel prepared a proposal
to perform the desired work and sought competitive proposals from three subconsultants for
environmental and geotechnical services. SJB Services was selected as the lowest cost
subconsultant. Mr. Stebbins noted that the proposed not-to-exceed cost of the Wendel proposal
is $84,000. The current contract with Wendel is $165,000 and upon approval of the Wendel
proposal, the total contract amount will be $249,000 with the entire cost paid from Ralph C. Wilson,
Jr. Foundation grant funding. This proposal was reviewed with the Downtown Committee at its
February 19, 2020 meeting, but formal action to approve the item was not taken due to the lack
of a quorum. Mr. Pridgen made a motion to amend the existing agreement with Wendel
Companies for additional due diligence services for the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park
project for the not-to-exceed amount of $84,000 and to authorize the President or Executive Vice
President to take such actions as are necessary to implement the authorization. The motion was
seconded by Ms. Curry and unanimously carried (14-0-0).

683 WTC, LLC — Documenting Inter-company Loan Transaction — Ms. Profic presented
her February 25, 2020 memorandum and provided a handout regarding the need for additional
documentation for Phase Il of the 683 Northland project. Ms. Profic noted that the BUDC Board
of Directors had previously approved the tax credits transaction and financial model for Phase |
and Phase |l of the 683 Northland project in December 2017. At the time of closing, Phase | inter-
company grant and loan documents were executed. At the closing of Phase | of the project, Phase
Il of the project had yet to be designed and final costs for Phase Il were estimated so the inter-
company grant and loan documents for Phase Il were not executed. Ms. Profic stated that now
that Phase Il is nearly complete, additional documentation to fully document the tax credits model
for Phase |l of the project is necessary. The additional documentation consists of a promissory
note from 683 WTC, LLC to BUDC and a sub-recipient agreement between BUDC and Buffalo
Brownfield Restoration Corporation (BBRC) to document a grant from BUDC to BBRC. Ms. Profic
noted that the execution of these documents will not create any additional financial obligations for
BUDC or its affiliates. She also noted that the BBRC Board of Directors approved the sub-recipient
agreement at its meeting, which was held just prior to this Board meeting. Ms. Gallagher made a
motion to approve the execution and delivery by 683 WTC, LLC of the Phase Il Note, the execution
and delivery by BUDC of the Phase Il Subrecipient Agreement and to authorize the President or
Executive Vice President to execute such other documents or instruments and take such actions
as may be necessary in connection with the transactions outlined in the memorandum. The
motion was seconded by Mr. Hersey and carried with thirteen affirmative votes (13-0-1). Ms.
Mays abstained from the vote.

541 E. Delavan — 34 Group Phase 1C Core & Shell Bids (Roofing, Masonry,
Excavation Underpinning, and Framing & Sheathing) — Mr. Stebbins presented his
February 25, 2020 memorandum regarding the balance of Phase 1 Work planned for the
restoration and renovation of the eastern plant building. He noted that the 34 Group had released
bid documents for the Phase 1C work on behalf of NorDel |, LLC. Proposals were received and
were de-scoped by Watts and 34 Group. Each recommended bidder submitted a M/WBE
Utilization Plan. Mr. Stebbins noted that the work will be funded with the Restore NY V grant and
a 10% local match from the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund. This item was reviewed by
the Real Estate Committee at its February 18, 2020 meeting but no formal action to approve the




4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 25, 2020

item was taken due to the lack of a quorum. Mr. Pridgen made a motion to (i) approve (a) the
roofing contract with Jos. A. Sanders & Sons, Inc. in the amount of $829,765, (b) the framing and
sheathing contract with Datz Dat! Construction, Inc. in the amount of $97,000, (c) the masonry
contract with Thomas Johnson, Inc. in the amount of $242,000 and (d) the excavation and
underpinning contract with DMyles, Inc. in the amount of $143,840, (ii) approve the use of the
Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund for the 10% match, or up to $131,261 and (iii) to
authorize the President or Executive Vice President to execute contracts with each of the
contractors on behalf of NorDel [, LLC and take such actions as are reasonably necessary in
connection with the work. The motion was seconded by Ms. Minkel and carried with thirteen
affirmative votes (13-0-1). Ms. Mays abstained from the vote. Mr. Pridgen left the meeting after
the presentation of this item.

541 E. Delavan — Apollo Steel Change Order — Mr. Cammarata presented his February
25, 2020 memorandum regarding a change order to the Apollo Steel Corporation contract for the
repair of significant structural deficiencies that were discovered during the final demolition phase
of the project. This additional work includes reconstruction of the corners of the building and
replacement of steel lintels on the north facade. The cost of this work is $175,545 and is
reimbursable through the Restore NY V grant. The Real Estate Committee reviewed the proposed
change order at its February 18, 2020 meeting but no formal action to approve the item was taken
due to the lack of a quorum. Mr. Slater made a motion to amend the existing construction contract
with Apollo Steel Corporation for additional structural steel reconstruction and replacement work
at 541 E. Delevan Avenue for a net additional change order cost of $175,545 and to authorize the
President or Executive Vice President to execute and deliver the amendment to the construction
contract on behalf of NorDel |, LLC. The motion was seconded by Ms. Minkel and carried with
twelve affirmative votes (12-0-1). Ms. Mays abstained from the vote.

683 Northland Phase 2B (NWTC Expansion Space) — Gilbane Change Order — Mr.
Stebbins presented his February 25, 2020 memorandum regarding a proposed Gilbane Building
Company change order in the amount of $15,967.22 to cover extra costs associated with the
expansion of the Northland Workforce Training Center (NWTC) into Area 3 at 683 Northland. The
work includes final cleaning expenses in connection with preparing the Area 3 space for
occupancy. Mr. Stebbins noted that the cost of this work will be funded through the ESD equipment
grant. The Real Estate Committee reviewed the proposed change order at its February 18, 2020
meeting but no formal action to approve the item was taken due to the lack of a quorum. Mr.
Penman made a motion to amend the existing construction management agreement with Gilbane
Building Company to cover the extra costs associated with the expansion of the NWTC into 9,505
square feet of space in Area 3 at a cost of $15,967.22 and to authorize the President or Executive
Vice President to execute and deliver the amendment to the construction management agreement
on behalf of 883 Northland LLC. The motion was seconded by Ms. Burruss and carried with twelve
affirmative votes (12-0-1). Ms. Mays abstained from the vote.

Northland Beltline Corridor Project Update - Mr. Hall circulated a handout outlining the
progress of the construction projects at 612 Northland, 637 and 541 E. Delavan Avenue. He
reported that interviews will be held this week with respondents to the Northiand Community Solar
and Microgrid RFP. He also discussed progress on the Brownfield Opportunity Area, noting that
a public meeting has been scheduled for March 5, 2020 to discuss the BOA project. He also
reported that the next session of the Northland Business Network Series will be held on March
26t He noted that BUDC staff is investigating whether to apply for an Economic Development
Assistance Grant through the EDA for 631 Northland and 541 E. Delavan. He completed his report
with an update regarding the commencement of landlord improvements for the Retech Systems
space at 683 Northland.

Buffalo Building Reuse Project Update — Ms. Merriweather presented an update regarding
Buffalo Building Reuse Project matters. She reported on the rollout of the Race for Place initiative
program which will enhance efforts for attracting talent to the downtown core. She aiso discussed




5.0

6.0

7.0
8.0

BUDC Board of Directors Meeting — February 25, 2020

the Smart Cities technology initiative and efforts to create a modern technology eco-system in the
downtown area. Ms. Merriweather also reported on progress on the entertainment district project,
including a report on the current responses to the public art RFP which are due on March 161" .
She completed her report with an update on the Congress for New Urbanism event. Ms. Gallagher
left after the presentation of the item.

4.9 Waterfront-RCWJ Centennial Park Project Update — Mr. Stebbins reported that MVVA in
the process of refining its schematic design work and is conducting value engineering. Design
work for the pedestrian bridge is underway. The next community workshop is scheduled for March
10t to review the park design.

4.10 Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park Project Update — Mr. Cammarata reported that the
three land sale agreements for parcels in the park are currently in their respective due diligence
periods.

4.11 Information Package — Mr. Cammarata reviewed the informational, marketing and media
materials that were included in the monthly information package.

Late Files — Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — City Funding Agreement — Following
the presentation and vote on item 4.6, Mr. Stebbins introduced a late file item relating to the Raiph C.
Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park project. Ms. Gallagher made a motion to accept the late file. The motion
was seconded by Mr. Kucharski and unanimously carried (13-0-0). Mr. Stebbins then presented his
February 25, 2020 memorandum regarding the funding agreement between BUDC and the City of
Buffalo. BUDC has been asked to advance funding to the City of Buffalo for the next phase of bridge
design work from the design grant previously awarded to BUDC by the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation.
The estimated cost of the work is $975,148. To accomplish this, BUDC executive staff is seeking Board
authorization to amend the previously approved funding agreement between BUDC and the City of
Buffalo to authorize the transfer of $975,148 to the City of Buffalo from the second Foundation grant.
Mr. Slater made a motion to approve the amendment to the funding agreement between BUDC and the
City of Buffalo to facilitate the transfer of $975, 148 to the City of Buffalo from the second Ralph C. Wilson,
Jr. Foundation grant for the pedestrian bridge design work and to authorize the President or Executive
Vice President to take such actions as are necessary to implement the amendment. The motion was
seconded by Mr. Comerford and unanimously carried (12-0-0). Mr. Kucharski was absent during the vote
on this item.

Tabled Items — None.

Executive Session — None.

Adjournment — Upon motion made by Mr. Kucharski, seconded by Ms. Curry and unanimously
carried, the February 25, 2020 meeting of the Board of Directors was adjourned at 1:10 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

1s1 Rewio ﬂ Banner

Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary




Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone:  716-856-6525 L c e
fax: 716-856-6754 -
web: buffalourbandevelopment.com BuRisioRS e Beyveigpment Corpari
Item 3.1
MEMORANDUM

TO: Buffale Urban Development Corporation Board of Directors

FROM: Thomas Kucharski, Governance Committee Chair

SUBJECT: Governance Committee Report

DATE: March 31, 2020

At the March 16, 2020 meeting, those members participating from the BUDC Governance

Committee reviewed the following items that do not require action by the full Board:

Board Self-Evaluation Process

Governance Committee Self-Evaluation

2019 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements w/ Results (Item 3.1.1 to follow)
Code of Ethics

Governance Committee Charter

Whistleblower Policy

Travel, Conferences, Meals & Entertainment Policy

2020 Summary of Employee Benefits

PAAA Training Opportunities

New Board Member Orientation Process

Those members participating from the Committee recommended that the following items

be forwarded to the full Board for action:

2020 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements (ftem 3.1.2 to follow)
Procurement Policy (Item 3.1.3 to follow)

Property Disposition Guidelines (Item 3.1.4 to follow)

2019 Public Authorities Annual Report (Item 3.1.5 to follow)

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Board Chair « Dennis Penman, Vice Chair « Peter M. Cammarata, President * David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President « Brandye Merriweather, Vice President
Mollie Profic, Treasurer « Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ¢ Kevin 1. Zanner, Secretary i



ITEM 3.1.1

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC)

2019 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements (w/ Results)
Date Approved: 3/26/2019

BUDC Mission Statement:

The mission of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is to support the urban
economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose
of attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City as part of the region. The
mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of downtown Buffalo by serving as
the lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) initiatives, working in
collaboration with the City of Buffalo; including the coordination of financial assistance for
downtown adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way improvements.

BUDC Performance Measurements:

Goal: To reclaim abandoned and distressed land and buildings for future
development.

Objective A:  Continue to establish the Northland Beltline (“Northland”) as the prime
urban area for reclamation, by implementing the redevelopment strategy
and continuing to engage in appropriate planning processes for future
development.

Measurement: Assemble any additional properties that become available which are
needed to enhance Northland.

Result: Acquired 714 Northland. This property has a long-term tenant and
provides additional parking for the campus. Continued to work with the
City on the swap of key commercial properties for vacant residential
properties. Continued to work with Plesh Industries to swap vacant land
for potential campus parking areas.

Measurement: Obtain City of Buffalo Planning Board approval for various phases of
Northland redevelopment as they occur.

Result: No further projects required Planning Board approval.

Measurement: Obtain State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) approval to maximize
the preservation of structures that will contribute to the redevelopment of
Northland and the select demolition of structures that are an impediment
to the redevelopment.

Result: No further SHPO approvals were required for the advancement of projects
in 2019.



Measurement: Complete construction of Buffalo Manufacturing Works (BMW) and
Phase 2 renovation of 683 Northland (“Northland Central”).

Result: BMW work was completed for their opening in the fall of 2019. All other
Phase 2 work is scheduled to be completed by March of 2020.

Measurement: Manage all compliance and milestones related to the financing for
Northland Central; including Historic Preservation Tax Credits,
Brownfield Cleanup Program Tax Credits, New Market Tax Credits, and
bridge loan financing.

Result: Compliance milestones were managed as the projects advanced.
Compliance documents have been advanced as quickly as the milestones
have been reached.

Measurement: Negotiate and execute any lease agreement amendments with the
Economic Development Group Inc. and BMW for Northland Central.

Result: A lease agreement amendment was executed with Economic Development
Group for the expansion space in 2019.

New Measurement: Execute State funding agreement with Northland Workforce Training
Center (NWTC) for Phase 2.1 construction at Northland Central and
complete design and construction.

Result: N/A. This funding was included as part of the lease agreement stated
above.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with Thinking Roebot Studios (TRS)
and two (2) other potential tenants at Northland Central.

Result: TRS decided not to lease space at Northland Central, but SparkCharge and
Retech Systems leases were negotiated and executed.

New Measurement: Complete tenant build-outs for any new tenants at Northland Central.
Result: As of March 2020, this work is on-going.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with a food service provider for the
restaurant space at Northland Central.

Result: A lease was negotiated with Manna and they began operations in late fall
of 2019.

New Measurement: Secure SHPO and National Park Service Part 3 approval for Phase 1
and 2 work at Northland Central.

Result: The SHPO and National Park Service approvals are pending.

Measurement: Complete any further remedial investigation and implement the Soil
Management Plan (SMP) for Northland Central, under the NYS
Brownfield Cleanup Program.



Result: A small amount of remedial investigation continues into the spring of
2020, related to further vapor intrusion well placement and testing.
Implementation of the SMP will begin when this work is finalized.

Measurement: Continue effective M/WBE Utilization and Workforce Participation
programs for all Northland Central construction.

Result: This is an on-going measurement, but results for 683 Northland were 42%
and 60% for 612 Northland.

New Measurement: Continue to implement the Restore NY IV & V Grant initiatives,
including the completion of renovations at 612 Northland, Phase 1
renovations at 541 East Delavan, and partial demolition of 777 Northland.

Result: 612 Northland renovations were completed under the Restore NY IV
grant. Renovations at 541 E. Delavan are on-going under the Restore NY
V grant. The partial demolition of 777 Northland was dropped as part of
Restore V.

Measurement: Continue to coordinate with the City of Buffalo on all aspects of the
Northland Avenue streets improvements project until completion.

Result: The project has been completed. Final payments and reimbursements
are being processed.

Measurement: Continue the implementation of the Historic Preservation Mitigation
measures agreed to with the State Historic Preservation Office, according
to the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).

Result: All further work at 612 Northland and 541 E. Delavan will be reviewed by
our historical architect consultant and remain true to the MOA.

New Measurement: Continue to work with the NYSDEC regarding Superfund
investigation and remediation at the 537 E. Delavan site.

Result: We are working with and monitoring the Superfund work at 537 E.
Delavan. It continues in the investigative stage.

Measurement: If funding becomes available, begin renovations or other actions necessary
to bring other space within Northland Beltline to a “ready-to-lease”
condition.

Result: N/A. No additional funding became available in 2019.

Measurement: Continue the Community Outreach Program, with at least one additional
Public Meeting and two additional Stakeholder Advisory Committee
meetings, and additional community outreach, as appropriate such as
newsletters, social media and individual outreach.

Result: One public meeting and two stakeholder meetings were held in 2019.
Extensive individual outreach was completed by Art Hall and Sandy

10



White. An additional Northland Newsletter was published and social
media outreach continued.

New Measurement: Complete design and construction of the Entrepreneurial Center at
Northland Central.

Result: The design of the Building which was to house the Entrepreneurial Center
was completed in 2019 and construction will be completed in March 2020.
Currently the location of the Center is being discussed for another part of
the east side and the building may have a different tenant.

New Measurement: Prepare and begin to implement a green infrastructure plan for 537 E.
Delavan.

Result: A portion of this plan was implemented with the landscaping
improvements included in the renovation of 612 Northland for the
Albright Knox Art Gallery occupancy.

New Measurement: Prepare and begin to implement a community solar and district
energy plan for the Northland Corridor.

Result: A Request for Proposals for this plan was issued in late 2019 and a
consultant team will be chosen in the spring of 2020.

New Measurement: Continue to work with energy stakeholders to solicit funding from
Eaton Corporation to create an Energy Experience Center at Northland
Central, and assist in developing a community solar and district energy
plan for the Northland Corridor.

Result: A preliminary commitment for funding has been obtained from Eaton
Corporation and other funding sources are being pursued. This includes
both the Energy Experience Center and the district energy plan.

New Measurement: Complete building condition analysis and begin to implement, if
appropriate, the renovation of 631 Northland.

Result: The building condition analysis has been completed, but no renovation
was started in 2019

Objective B: Secure funds to continue to advance the Northland Beltline projects.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6.7M Grant Distribution
Agreement (GDA) with Empire State Development (ESD).

Result: All remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $10.3M GDA with ESD for
Northland Central.

Result: Almost all remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

11



Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6M GDA with ESD for the
WNY Workforce Training Center.

Result: Almost all remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

New Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $25M GDA with ESD
for Phase 2 of Northland Central.

Result: All remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

New Measurement: Execute a grant agreement with LISC for the $50,000 Northland
Economic Development Grant and implement the related scope of work.

Result: The grant agreement with LISC was executed and the scope of work
implemented.

Measurement: Identify additional funding sources (i.e. grants and tax credits) and income
opportunities for future phases of Northland Beltline projects.

Result: A Request for Proposals was issued in late 2019 to help identify funding
sources for the renovation of 631 Northland. A consultant will be chosen
in spring of 2020. National Grid’s economic development programs
continue to be a funding source for on-going Northland development
phases.

Objective C:  Prepare land and buildings for development through remediation, select
demolition, infrastructure upgrades/construction, site improvements, and
amenity construction.

New Measurement: Assemble appropriate properties throughout the City to increase
inventory for future brownfield projects.

Result: No additional properties were assembled throughout the City in 2019, but
various acquisition opportunities were discussed with the Real Estate
Committee.

Measurement: Number of acres remediated to shovel-ready condition.
Result: One additional acre at Northland Central.
Measurement: Number of building square feet rehabilitated to leasable condition.

Result: Approximately 100,000 square feet in 2019.

Goal: To attract and/or retain new and existing businesses to the City and
region.

Objective A:  Market BUDC properties as an urban alternative for new construction of
light manufacturing, distribution and office facilities.

12



Measurement: Assist in a minimum of four (4) prospects interested in purchasing land
and/or buildings.

Result: Assisted three prospects at Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park (BLCP) and
one at 308 Crowley.

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) “earned” media appearances and five hundred (500)
website page and social media views.

Result: At least ten earned media appearances were related to the land sale
agreements at BLCP and 308 Crowley.

Measurement: Maintain infrastructure amenities to enhance the marketability of the
BLCP properties.

Result: Maintenance contracts were maintained to continue to hand the BUDC
properties at BLCP and Northland.

Objective B:  Support the economic development efforts of the City of Buffalo Office of
Strategic Planning (OSP) with the task of expanding or relocating
businesses of a diverse nature in the City.

Measurement: Assist in identifying parcels of land in or added to marketable inventory.

Result: At least three parcels in other areas of the City were identified to the Real
Estate Committee as potentially being added to the marketable inventory.

Measurement: Number of businesses contacted, as directed by OSP.

Result: At least six in 2019.

Objective C:  Support the economic development efforts of the City by maintaining
procurement practices that encourage the participation of local (50%),
minority (25%), and women-owned (5%) businesses.

Measurement: All informal bids, formal bids, request for proposals, and requests for
qualifications will include the City’s participation goals listed above.

Result: The City’s participation goals were included in all BUDC solicitations.
Goal: To support the revitalization of downtown Buffalo.

Objective A:  Serve as lead management entity for BBRP initiatives.

Measurement: A minimum of twenty (20) companies contacted.

Resulit: At least fifty (50) companies contacted.

Objective B:  Coordinate financial assistance for adaptive re-use projects.

13



Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects assisted.
Result: Four (4) projects assisted.

Objective C:  Manage lending program as an incentive for adaptive re-use and/or new
construction projects.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) loans approved and closed.

Result: No loans were approved in 2019. Several are in the immediate pipeline
for early in 2020.

Measurement: Finalize modifications to the BBRP Loan Program for Loan Committee
review and approval, and NYBDC use.

Result: BUDC has developed recommendations and the BUDC Loan Committee
is in the process of reviewing for approval.

Objective D:  Assist coordination of public right-of-way and public space improvements.
Measurement: A minimum of two (2) city blocks and one (1) public space improved.

Result: BUDC is in the process of coordinating public improvements to the
entertainment district, Erie Street public spaces and underpass areas.
Construction will begin in 2020.

New Measurement: Develop a draft waterfront implementation strategy.

Result: BUDC is working with waterfront stakeholders to facilitate regular
waterfront coordination meetings and continues to pursue funding for the
design of public realm improvements.

New Measurement: Develop a draft Flower District / Ellicott Corridor Concept Plan.

Result: BUDC is in the process of completing the Ellicott Corridor Plan.
Anticipated completion is the spring of 2020.

Objective E: Coordinate additional phases of Queen City Pop Up (QCPU).

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) temporary retailers and two (2) permanent retailers
added to the downtown market area.

Result: Nine (9) temporary and one permanent retailers were added.

Measurement: Coordinate at least two (2) technical assistance training sessions for QCPU
retailers.

14



Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective F:

Measurement:

Result:

Four technical assistance trainings were coordinated (website
development, marketing & merchandising, social media, and media
relations).

Maintain a webpage and directory for/of QCPU participants.

BUDC is in the process of developing a directory that will be located on
the recently updated website.

Coordinate the publication, marketing, and distribution of an updated
State of Downtown Report.

A minimum of five hundred (500) copies distributed and two (2) “earned”
media appearances.

Vice President Brandye Merriweather coordinated the roll-out of the new
downtown development strategy (Buffalo’s Race for Place), which was
unveiled at the 2020 State of the City address.

Objective G: Build awareness of BBRP programs, tools, and incentives.

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective H:
Measurement:
Result:

Objective I:

Measurement:

At least two (2) presentations to business associations and
professional/community groups on BBRP.

Ms. Merriweather made four (4) presentations in 2019 including the
Buffalo Business First Power Breakfast, the WNY @ Work Radio Show,
It Takes a Village Action Organization, and the Buffalo Niagara Area
Realtors.

Finalize a list of recommendations for additional BBRP tools and
incentives, based on current market conditions.

BUDC finalized recommendations outlined in Buffalo’s Race for Place
plan, these include public/private funding for infrastructure and “smart
cities” technology.

Promote the construction of additional units of downtown housing.
The announcement of two hundred fifty (250) units to be constructed.
Approximately 220 residential units announced.

Coordinate the resolution or redevelopment of targeted problem
properties within the BBRP boundaries.

A minimum of three (3) problem properties addressed.

15



Result: Numerous BBRP problem properties were discussed in 2019, with
strategies pending.

Objective J:  Explore additional strategies and best practices for addressing problem
properties.

Measurement: Finalize draft of the “white paper” entitled City of Buffalo Problem
Property Strategy Report, for review by the City of Buffalo and final
publication.

Result: BUDC is in the process of coordinating strategies with the City of Buffalo.

Goal: To effectively manage property, development projects and initiatives.

Objective A:  Engage in all aspects of productive property management including
marketing, leasing, maintenance, etc.

Measurement: Keep property related costs within budget.

Result: Incorporating various challenges brought forward by the ever-increasing
stable of Northland Corridor properties, property related costs were held
within budget.

Objective B:  Support development projects by working with regional utility companies
to include their grant programs in local initiatives. Package other
economic development incentives to enhance the marketability of
properties.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects referred.

Result: BUDC staff referred at least six (6) projects to regional utility companies
in 2019,

16



Additional Questions:

Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the mission of
BUDC?

The Board discussed and approved the BUDC’s mission statement at the March 26, 2019 Board
meeting.

Who has the power to appoint the management of BUDC?

The Board of Directors appoints the management of BUDC to the positions of President,
Executive Vice-President, Vice-President, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary.

If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when appointing the
management of BUDC? :

The Board follows the BUDC By-Laws when appointing management.

Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the implementation of
the mission.

Management works closely with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Committee Chairs in formulating an
on-going work plan for management to carry out the strategic goals related to the mission of the
organization. Board members review and approve individual projects, initiatives and transactions
to ensure that they are consistent with BUDC’s mission. Board members also review and
approve the annual budget to ensure resources are allocated appropriately to meet the BUDC’s
mission.

Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses to each of
these questions?

Yes, these questions and responses were discussed and approved by the Board at the March 26,
2019 Board meeting.

17



ITEM 3.1.2

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC)

2020 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements
Date Approved: 3/31/2020

BUDC Mission Statement:

The mission of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is to support the urban
economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose
of attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City as part of the region. The
mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of downtown Buffalo by serving as
the lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) initiatives, working in
collaboration with the City of Buffalo; including the coordination of financial assistance for
downtown adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way improvements.

BUDC Performance Measurements:

Goal: To reclaim abandoned and distressed land and buildings for future
development.

Objective A:  Continue to establish the Northland Beltline (“Northland”) as the prime
urban area for reclamation, by implementing the redevelopment strategy
and continuing to engage in appropriate planning processes for future
development.

Measurement: Assemble any additional properties that become available which are
needed to enhance Northland.

Measurement: Obtain City of Buffalo Planning Board approval for various phases of
Northland redevelopment as they occur.

Measurement: Obtain State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) approval to maximize
the preservation of structures that will contribute to the redevelopment of
Northland and the select demolition of structures that are an impediment
to the redevelopment.

Measurement: Complete all remaining components of Phase 2 renovation at 683
Northland (“Northland Central”), including the “Red Shed” and Retech
Systems related spaces.

Measurement: Manage all compliance and milestones related to the financing for
Northland Central; including Historic Preservation Tax Credits,
Brownfield Cleanup Program Tax Credits, New Market Tax Credits, and
bridge loan financing.

Measurement: Negotiate and execute any lease agreement amendments with the
Economic Development Group Inc. NWTC), EWI (BMW), SparkCharge,
Retech Systems, and Manna Culinary Group for Northland Central.

18



New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with Rodriguez Construction Group
and two (2) other potential tenants at Northland Central.

Measurement: Secure SHPO and National Park Service Part 3 approval for Phase 1 and 2
work at Northland Central.

Measurement: Complete any further remedial investigation and implement the Soil
Management Plan (SMP) for Northland Central, under the NYS
Brownfield Cleanup Program.

Measurement: Continue effective M/WBE Utilization and Workforce Participation
programs for remaining Northland Central construction.

Measurement: Continue to implement the Restore NY IV & V Grant initiatives, including
the final completion of renovations at 612 Northland and Phase 1
renovations at 541 East Delavan.

Measurement: Continue the implementation of the Historic Preservation Mitigation
measures agreed to with the State Historic Preservation Office, according
to the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).

Measurement: Continue to work with the NYSDEC regarding Superfund
investigation and remediation at the 537 E. Delavan site.

Measurement: If funding becomes available, begin renovations or other actions necessary
to bring other space within Northland Beltline to a “ready-to-lease”

condition.

Measurement: Continue the Community Outreach Program, with at least one additional
Public Meeting and two additional Stakeholder Advisory Committee
meetings, and additional community outreach, as appropriate such as
newsletters, social media and individual outreach.

Measurement: Continue to implement the green infrastructure plan for 537 E. Delavan.

New Measurement: Finalize the procurement process and execute a contract with the
consultant team for the Community Solar and Microgrid project. Initiate
the pre-development planning, analysis, and financing phases of the
project.

Measurement: Continue to work with energy stakeholders to solicit funding from Eaton
Corporation to create an Energy Experience Center at Northland Central,
and get construction of same underway.

New Measurement: Finalize the procurement process and execute a contract with the
consultant team for the tax credit, legal, and accounting services needed to
determine the feasibility of moving forward with a renovation project at
631 Northland.

19



Objective B: Secure funds to continue to advance the Northland Beltline projects.

New Measurement: Develop and execute a $2M Grant Distribution Agreement (GDA)
with Empire State Development (ESD) for the Northland Community
Solar project.

Measurement; Close-out all documentation related to the $6.7M GDA with ESD for
Northland Central.

Measurement: Close-out all documentation related to the $10.3M GDA with ESD for
Northland Central.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6M GDA with ESD for the
WNY Workforce Training Center.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $25M GDA with ESD for
Phase 2 of Northland Central.

Measurement: Continue a grant agreement relationship with Local Initiatives Support
Corporation (LISC) for additional funding related to Northland Corridor

redevelopment.

Measurement: Identify additional funding sources (i.e. grants and tax credits) and income
opportunities for future phases of Northland Beltline projects.

New Objective C: Continue to transition Northland Corridor management
responsibilities to the Northland Project Manager.

New Measurement: Complete the Northland Brownfield Opportunity Area Application
for designation and submit to NYSDOS.

New Measurement: Further Development of the Northland Small Business Networking
Series. At least three (3) additional events in 2020.

New Measurement: Reach a decision on the future hosting of an Urban Manufacturing
Alliance National Gathering in 2020 or 2021, and solicit sponsors if the
event moves forward.

New Measurement: Work with LISC to implement the Northland Corridor Delavan
Grider Community Enhancement Project.

New Measurement: Complete required annual and bi-annual compliance reports for
ECIDA and NTCIC/Tax Credit Investors.

20



Objective D:  Prepare land and buildings for development through remediation, select
demolition, infrastructure upgrades/construction, site improvements, and
amenity construction.

Measurement: Assemble appropriate properties throughout the City to increase inventory
for future brownfield projects.

Measurement: Number of acres remediated to shovel-ready condition.

Measurement: Number of building square feet rehabilitated to leasable condition.

Goal: To attract and/or retain new and existing businesses to the City and
region.

Objective A:  Market BUDC properties as an urban alternative for new construction of
light manufacturing, distribution and office facilities.

Measurement: Assist in a minimum of four (4) prospects interested in purchasing land
and/or buildings.

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) “earned” media appearances and five hundred (500)
website page and social media views.

Measurement: Maintain infrastructure amenities to enhance the marketability of the
BLCP properties.

Objective B:  Support the economic development efforts of the City of Buffalo Office of
Strategic Planning (OSP) with the task of expanding or relocating
businesses of a diverse nature in the City.

Measurement: Assist in identifying parcels of land in or added to marketable inventory.

Measurement: Number of businesses contacted, as directed by OSP.

Objective C:  Support the economic development efforts of the City by maintaining
procurement practices that encourage the participation of local (50%),
minority (25%), and women-owned (5%) businesses.

Measurement: All informal bids, formal bids, request for proposals, and requests for
qualifications will include the City’s participation goals listed above.

Goal: To support the revitalization of downtown Buffalo.
Objective A:  Serve as lead management entity for BBRP/Race for Place initiatives.
Measurement: A minimum of twenty (25) companies contacted.

Objective B: Coordinate financial assistance for adaptive re-use projects.

21



Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects assisted.

Objective C:  Manage lending program as an incentive for adaptive re-use and/or new
construction projects.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) loans approved and closed.

New Measurement: Implement approved loan modifications for the Downtown Loan
Program.

Objective D:  Assist coordination of public right-of-way and public space improvements.
Measurement: A minimum of two (2) city blocks and one (1) public space improved.

New Measurement: Identify funding and develop waterfront public realm strategy and
continue waterfront stakeholder coordination efforts.

Measurement: Develop a draft Flower District / Ellicott Corridor Concept Plan.

New Measurement: Facilitate a strategy to improve downtown infrastructure maintenance
and sustainability with the six partners.

New Measurement: Coordinate with the six partners to develop strategy for a capital
campaign to solicit private funding for public realm improvements.

Objective E:  Coordinate additional phases of Queen City Pop Up (QCPU).

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) temporary retailers and two (2) permanent retailers
added to the downtown market area.

Measurement: Coordinate at least two (2) technical assistance training sessions for QCPU
retailers.

Measurement: Maintain a webpage and directory for/of QCPU participants.

New Objective F: Coordinate the publication, marketing, and online distribution of the
new Race for Place Plan.

Measurement: A minimum of five hundred (500) copies distributed and two (2) “earned”
media appearances.

Objective G: Build awareness of Downtown programs, tools, and incentives.

Measurement: At least two (2) presentations to business associations and
professional/community groups on BBRP,

22



New Measurement: Finalize a list of recommendations from Race for Place outreach and
focus groups.

Objective H: Promote the construction of additional units of downtown housing.
Measurement: The announcement of two hundred fifty (250) units to be constructed.

Objective I:  Coordinate the resolution or redevelopment of targeted problem
properties within the BBRP boundaries.

Measurement: A minimum of three (3) problem properties addressed.

Objective J: Coordinate a series of Innovative Focus Group sessions to gain community
input on upcoming smart city technologies and related infrastructure
improvements.

Measurement: Organize four (4) sessions with the community.

New Goal: To transform LaSalle Park into Ralph C. Wilson Centennial
Park, and a world class waterfront park and recreational amenity that
will serve both neighborhood residents, regional citizens and visitors.

New Objective A: Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with the management of
the design and due diligence phases of the project.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute contracts with Michael Van Valkenburgh
Associates for Schematic Design, Design Development, and Construction
Documents.

New Measurement: Manage the design team and the design process to ensure that the
project proceeds on schedule and within budget.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute contracts for required due diligence
investigations, SEQRA, NEPA and other regulatory approvals.

New Objective B: Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with the overall
management of the project.

New Measurement: Solicit, negotiate and execute contracts for a third-party project
management company to assist BUDC, the City of Buffalo and other
partners with the implementation and overall management of the project,
including design, regulatory approvals, and construction.

New Measurement: Manage the contract and deliverable for the project management
team contracted to provide assistance.

23



New Objective C: Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with identifying, securing
and managing funding for the implementation of the project.

New Measurement: Work with the Ralph C. Wilson Foundation to apply for and manage
grants that they have committed for the design and implementation of the
project.

New Measurement: Work with other partners, including Buffalo Niagara Waterkeeper
and the Ralph C. Wilson Foundation, to identify additional funding
sources to implement and construct the project.

New Measurement: Preparer, submit, execute and manage grant applications and
agreements that are secured for the project.

New Objective D: Assist the City of Buffalo and other partners with ensuring effective
and sustainable long-term maintenance and operations of the park.

New Measurement: Work with the City of Buffalo and the design and project
management team to ensure that the final design of the park is sustainable
from a maintenance and operations perspective.

New Measurement: Assist the Ralph C. Wilson Foundation, the City of Buffalo and other
project partners to identify and secure funding and a governance structure
to ensure sustainable long-term maintenance and operations of the park.

Goal: To effectively manage property, development projects and initiatives.

Objective A:  Engage in all aspects of productive property management including
marketing, leasing, maintenance, efc.

Measurement: Keep property related costs within budget.

Objective B:  Support development projects by working with regional utility companies
to include their grant programs in local initiatives. Package other
economic development incentives to enhance the marketability of
properties.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects referred.

24



Additional Questions:

. Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the mission of
BUDC?

The Board discussed and approved the BUDC’s mission statement at the March 31, 2020 Board
meeting.

.  Who has the power to appoint the management of BUDC?

The Board of Directors appoints the management of BUDC to the positions of President,
Executive Vice-President, Vice-President, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary.

. If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when appointing the
management of BUDC?

The Board follows the BUDC By-Laws when appointing management.

. Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the implementation of
the mission.

Management works closely with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Committee Chairs in formulating an
on-going work plan for management to carry out the strategic goals related to the mission of the
organization. Board members review and approve individual projects, initiatives and transactions
to ensure that they are consistent with BUDC’s mission. Board members also review and
approve the annual budget to ensure resources are allocated appropriately to meet the BUDC’s
mission.

Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses to each of
these questions?

Yes, these questions and responses were discussed and approved by the Board at the March 31,
2020 Board meeting,.

25



ITEM 3.1.3

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

AMENDED AND RESTATED PROCUREMENT POLICY

Scope and Purpose.

Pursuant to Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Law, the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (“BUDC”) is required to establish and adopt a
procurement policy. This Amended and Restated Procurement Policy (“Policy™)
shall also be applicable to all procurements undertaken by any existing subsidiary
or affiliated organizations of BUDC and such other subsidiaries and affiliates as
may hereafter be established by BUDC.

Procurement Procedures.

1. Solicitation Procedures for the Purchase of Goods and Services.

a. Up to $10,000 per instance — Documented verbal quotes or
written/fax/email quotes from at least two vendors.

b. Greater than $10,000 to $25,000 per instance — Written/fax/email
quotes from at least three vendors.

c. Greater than $25,000 to $100,000 per instance — Formal written
Request for Proposal (RFP) submitted to at least three vendors and
posted at the BUDC website.

d. Greater than $100,000 per instance — Formal written Request for
Proposal (RFP) submitted to at least three vendors, posted at the
BUDC website and publicly noticed in the NYS Contract Reporter.

e. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if it is reasonably anticipated that
cumulative procurements pursuant to subsections (a) or (b) above
will cost between $25,000 and $100,000 per calendar year for a
single vendor or service, BUDC shall comply with the provisions
of subsection (c) above; or if such cumulative procurements are
reasonably anticipated to cost over $100,000 per calendar year,
BUDC shall comply with the provisions of subsection (d) above.

2. Exceptions. Alternative proposals or quotations shall not be required for
procurements made through or with respect to:

a. New York State or Erie County contracts.
b. State Finance Law Section 175-b (from agencies for the blind or
severely handicapped).

26



Correction Law Section 186 (articles manufactured in correctional
institutions).

Emergency Procurements — an emergency exists if the delay
caused by soliciting quotes would endanger public health, welfare
or property. Approval of the President after consultation with the
officers of BUDC is necessary, which shall be documented in the
procurement file and shall include a description of the facts giving
rise to the emergency and the basis for selecting the particular
vendor.

Time Sensitive Economic Development Opportunity — An
opportunity is time-sensitive when a vendor must be retained
quickly to avoid a delay that would adversely impact an economic
development project or initiative of BUDC. Such time-sensitive
situations include, but are not limited to: the possible loss of grant
funding; the termination, default or withdrawal of an existing
vendor; the need to respond to a court order or regulatory directive;
or some other compelling need for goods or services. Approval of
the President after consultation with the officers of BUDC is
necessary, which shall be documented in the procurement file and
shall also include a description of the facts relating to the time-
sensitive opportunity and the basis for selecting the particular
vendor.

Sole Source Procurements — A “sole source” means a situation
where (i) there is only one possible source in the marketplace for
the goods or services, (ii) no other goods and/or services provide
substantially equivalent or similar benefits, and (iii) considering
the benefits, the cost to BUDC is reasonable and in the best
interests of BUDC. Approval of the President after consultation
with the officers of BUDC is necessary, which shall be
documented in the procurement file along with an explanation of
the basis for the procurement qualifying as a sole source
procurement.

Single Source Procurements — A “single source” means a situation
where, even though two or more vendors are available to supply
the required goods or services, BUDC determines that: (i) one
particular vendor has unique knowledge or expertise with respect
to the required goods, services or project, rendering the use of
competitive procedures impractical; and (ii) considering the
benefits, the cost to BUDC is reasonable. Approval of the
President after consultation with the officers of BUDC is
necessary, which shall be documented in the procurement file
along with an explanation of the basis for concluding that a single

27



source procurement was in the best interests of BUDC and the
manner in which BUDC identified the selected vendor.

h. Utilities and Affiliate Transactions — The purchase of utilities and
inter-affiliate or subsidiary transactions are excepted from
alternative proposal/quotation requirements.

i. Unavailability of the minimum number of vendors required under
Section B, as applicable, that are able or willing to respond to a
solicitation.

J- Resolution Waiving Solicitation Requirements — The BUDC Board

of Directors may adopt a resolution prospectively waiving
solicitation requirements upon the Board’s determination that
solicitation would be impractical and such waiver is in the best
interests of BUDC.

Basis for the Award of Contracts.

It is the general policy of BUDC to award contracts to the lowest
responsible dollar offeror who meets the specifications therefor. BUDC
may award contracts to other than the lowest responsible dollar offeror
under circumstances that BUDC determines justify an award to other than
the lowest responsible dollar offeror. In making any such determination,
BUDC shall consider relevant factors including, without limitation:

a. The vendor is an MBE or WBE firm, or relative to other vendors
for the specific procurement has demonstrated the ability to meet
or exceed applicable M/WBE and/or minority or workforce
participation requirements;

b. Delivery, quality and quantity requirements;
c. Past vendor performance and/or experience;

d. Which proposal is most advantageous to BUDC, considering other
factors in addition to price;

28



Unavailability of the minimum number of vendors required under
Section B, as applicable, that are able or willing to respond to a
solicitation; and

Any procurement excepted from the alternative proposal/quotation
requirements as set forth in subsection 2 of this Section B, and the
procurement of professional services in Section E of this Policy.

Documentation: Procurement Tracking Form.

Each procurement made under this Policy shall be documented on a
separate Procurement Tracking Form, the form of which is attached hereto
as Schedule A and made a part hereof. An annual procurement report shall
be presented to the Audit & Finance Committee.

Contents of Requests for Proposals (RFP).

For all procurements under this Policy that require an RFP, the following
information shall be included in the solicitation:

a.

b.

Goods being sought or the scope of services desired;
The projected term of the contract;

Criteria to be used in evaluating proposals and the requirements
that must be fulfilled;

Schedule of relevant dates;
Insurance requirements;
M/WBE goals; and

Designation of the BUDC representative to whom communications
regarding the RFP should be directed.

Contents of Requests for Qualifications (RFQ).

For all procurements under this Policy that require an RFQ, the following
information shall be included in the solicitation:

a.

The scope of services desired;

29



b. Criteria to be used in evaluating qualifications and the
requirements that must be fulfilled;

C. Insurance requirements, if applicable;
d. M/WBE goals; and

e. Designation of the BUDC representative to whom communications
regarding the RFQ should be directed.

C. Erie County Businesses and Minority & Women Owned Enterprises.

It is the goal of BUDC to provide opportunities for the purchase of goods and
services from (i) business enterprises located in Erie County and (ii) certified minority
and/or women-owned business enterprises. To that end, BUDC will utilize available lists
of M/WBE businesses certified by Erie County and/or State of New York and use its best
efforts to solicit proposals from such businesses by notifying them of opportunities to
submit proposals for goods or services when practical. In addition, where the
procurement of a specific good or service is to be accomplished using funds other than
the funds of BUDC or its affiliates, BUDC shall comply with all M/WBE goals and other
M/WBE requirements applicable to such funding.

D. Effect on Other Procurement Requirements.

Where the procurement of a specific good or service is to be accomplished using
funds other than the funds of BUDC and such funding sources specify different or more
restrictive procurement requirements than are provided for in this Policy, the procurement
requirements of the funding source will supersede the requirements of this Policy.

In those instances where BUDC is a recipient of federal funds which it will use to
pay for goods or services, the procurement provisions set forth in 2 C.F.R §200.318 et
seq. shall apply, including procurement requirements applicable to goods or services that
exceed $150,000 in value (as such amount is adjusted in accordance with 48 C.F.R.
Section 2.101). For procurements using federal funds, BUDC shall include in its contract
with the vendor or contractor the applicable contract provisions set forth in Appendix II
to Part 200 of Title 2 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or any successor regulation or
appendix.

E. Professional Services.

Contracts for professional services involve the application of specialized
expertise, the use of professional judgment, or a high degree of creativity. Professional
services include services which require special education and/or training, license to
practice or are creative in nature. Examples are: lawyers, doctors, accountants, and
engineers. Furthermore, professional service contracts often involve a relationship of
personal trust and confidence. Procurement of professional services in an amount up to
$25,000 is not subject to the solicitation procedures contained in Sections B(1)(a) and (b)
of this Policy. Procurement of professional services in an amount greater than $25,000

30



shall be made through a written Request for Proposal (RFP) or a Request for
Qualifications (RFQ) process.

F. Procurement of Insurance.

Procurement of Insurance Brokerage services is subject to this Policy as a
professional service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, actual insurance policies procured
are not subject to the requirements of this Policy.

G. Procurement Lobbying.

BUDC shall follow the applicable provisions of the New York Procurement
Lobbying Law (State Finance Law §§ 139-j, 139-k)) for any contract or other agreement
for an article of procurement involving an estimated annualized expenditure in excess of
$15,000.

H. Reporting Requirements.

Procurements are intended to be made for no greater than the fair market value of
the asset procured. In the event circumstances exist in which the acquisition of an asset is
made where the contract price to be paid by BUDC exceeds the fair market value of the
asset, BUDC shall include in its annual report required by Section 2800(2) of the Public
Authorities Law a detailed explanation of the justification for making the purchase and a
certification by the President and Chief Financial Officer of BUDC that they have
reviewed the terms of the acquisition and determined that it complies with applicable law
and this Policy.

| 8 Approval Thresholds.

The following approval thresholds shall apply to the procurement of all goods and
services, except those procurements made under Section B(2)(d) and (e):

1. The President and Executive Vice President of BUDC are each authorized
to procure goods and services in an amount up to $10,000. Prior to
procuring such goods or services, the President or Executive Vice
President shall confer with the Treasurer to confirm that the proposed
expenditure is within budgetary limits. The President or Executive Vice
President shall report the procurement of goods and services at the next
Board of Directors meeting following the date of procurement.

2. The Audit and Finance Committee, Downtown Committee and Real Estate
Committee, as applicable, are each authorized to approve the procurement
of goods and services greater than $10,000, but not in excess of $25,000.
Prior to procuring such goods or services, the President and applicable
committee chair shall confer with the Treasurer to confirm that the
proposed expenditure is within budgetary limits. The President or
Executive Vice President shall report the procurement of goods and

31



services authorized by the applicable committee at the next BUDC Board
of Directors meeting following the date of procurement.

3. The procurement of goods and services in an amount greater than $25,000
shall require the approval of the BUDC Board of Directors. By resolution,
the Board may delegate to BUDC executive staff or a committee of the
Board the authority to procure goods or services in an amount greater than
$25,000 without Board approval.

J. Annual Review.

This Policy shall be annually reviewed and approved by BUDC’s Board of
Directors.

Adopted: 7/7/2009

Amended & Adopted: 6/8/2010
Re-adopted: 3/29/2011
Re-adopted: 3/27/2012
Re-adopted: 2/26/2013

Amended and Adopted: 3/31/2015
Re-adopted: 3/29/2016
Re-adopted: 3/28/2017

Amended & Adopted: 3/27/2018
Re-adopted: 3/26/2019
Re-adopted: 3/31/2020

32



SCHEDULE A
Procurement Tracking Form

33



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street | Buffalo, NY 14203 | Phone: 716-856-6525 | Fax: 716-856-6754

Procurement Tracking Form

Original Solicitation Date: Procurement Category: O Goods/Services
Procurement Description: O Professional Services

Approving Party (§1, 1-3): O President O Executive Vice President O BUDC Committee O Board of Directors
Vendor Selected:

Is Vendor an M/WBE? O Yes (O NO if Yes, Specify type: Contract Price:
Date Awarded: Source of Funds:

If A Procurement Exception Applies, Please Explain (§ 8(2)(a-})):

(e.g., Emergency, Time Sensitive Opportunity, Sole Source, Single Source, etc.)

Reporting Procedure (51, 1-3)

Procurement Report Delivered to: O Board of Directors O N/A
Date of Report {(Meeting):

Quotations/Proposals Received:

# Vendor Type of Solicitation (§ B(1)(a-d)) Amount
1 (O RFP/RFQ/Written Proposal O Written O Verbal
2 O RFP/RFQ/Written Proposal O Written O Verbal
3 O RFP/RFQ/Written Proposal O Written O) Verbat
4 O RFP/RFQ/Written Proposal O Written O Verbat
5 O RFP/RFQ/Written Proposal O Written O Verbal
6 QO RFP/RFQ/Written Proposal O Written O Verbal

Was Lowest Cost Proposal Selected? O Yes O No
If No, Please Explain {5 a(3)(a-h)}:

[Section (“§”) references in this form refer to sections of the BUDC Amended and Restated Procurement Policy}
v.103/27/2018

34



ITEM 3.1.4

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Property Disposition Guidelines

The Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (“BUDC”) is required by Section 2896 of
the Public Authorities Law to adopt by resolution comprehensive guidelines regarding the use,
awarding, monitoring and reporting of contracts for the disposal of Property (as defined herein).
The following guidelines (the “Guidelines™) are adopted pursuant to such requirement and are
applicable with respect to the use, awarding, monitoring and reporting of all Property Disposition
Contracts which are (i) entered into by BUDC or (ii) solicited or awarded by BUDC on behalf of
any subsidiary of BUDC (a “BUDC Subsidiary™).

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

1. “Contracting Officer” shall mean the officer of BUDC who shall be appointed by
resolution of the Board of Directors of BUDC to be responsible for the disposition of Property.

2. “Dispose” or “disposal” or “disposition” shall mean the transfer of title or any
other beneficial interest in Property from BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary to any unrelated third

party.

3. “Property” shall mean personal property in excess of Five Thousand Dollars
($5,000.00) in value, real property, or any other legally transferable interest in such property, to
the extent that such interest may by conveyed to another person for any purpose, excluding an
interest securing a loan or other financial obligation of another party.

4, “Property Disposition Contracts” shall mean written agreements for the sale,
lease, transfer or other disposition of Property from BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary to any
unrelated third party.

5. “Real Property” shall mean real property and interests therein.

ARTICLE II
APPOINTMENT AND DUTIES OF CONTRACTING OFFICER

A. Appointment

The Contracting Officer shall be an officer of BUDC appointed by the Board of Directors

35



who is responsible for the supervision and direction over the custody, control and disposition of
Property and responsible for BUDC’s compliance with and enforcement of these Guidelines.
The Vice President of BUDC shall be the Contracting Officer for purposes of these Guidelines.
B. Duties

The duties of the Contracting Officer shall include the following:

1. Maintaining adequate inventory controls and accountability systems for all
Property under BUDC’s control.

2. Periodically conducting an inventory of Property to determine which Property
may be disposed of.
3. Preparing an annual written report of all Property. Each report shall include a list

of all Real Property, a full description of all real and personal property disposed of during the
reporting period, the price received and the name of the purchaser for all Property sold during
each reporting period. Each report shall be completed and delivered to the New York State
Comptroller, the Director of the Budget, the Commissioner of General Services and the New
York State Legislature no later than ninety (90) days following the completion of BUDC’s fiscal
year.

4, Disposing of Property as promptly as possible in accordance with these
Guidelines, as directed by BUDC.

ARTICLE III
PROPERTY DISPOSITION REQUIREMENTS

A. Method of Disposition

1. Subject to such exceptions and/or requirements set forth in these Guidelines, in
the event that BUDC or a BUDC Subsidiary determines to dispose of any of its Property, BUDC
shall endeavor to dispose of such Property for at least the fair market value of the Property. The
disposition of Property may be made by sale, exchange, or transfer, for cash, credit or other
Property, with or without warranty, and upon such terms and conditions as are determined by
BUDC to be appropriate and reasonable and consistent with these Guidelines.

2. No disposition of Real Property, or any interest in Real Property, may be made
unless an appraisal of the value of such Real Property has been made by an independent
appraiser and included in the record of the transaction. In addition, no disposition of any personal
property, which because of its unique nature or the unique circumstances of the proposed
transaction is not readily valued with reference to an active market for similar property, shall be
made without an independent appraisal.

36



B. Award and Approval of Property Disposition Contracts

1. Compliance with Guidelines: Approval Requirements. All dispositions of
Property shall be conducted in accordance with these Guidelines by or under the supervision of
the Contracting Officer. Any proposed dispositions of real property shall be presented to the
BUDC Real Estate Committee for consideration, and if approved by said committee, shall be
submitted to the BUDC Board of Directors for approval or other appropriate action.

2. Disposition by Public Bid.

(a) All Property Disposition Contracts may be made only after publicly
advertising for bids, unless the criteria set forth in Article III(B)(3) below has been satisfied for
such contracts to be made by negotiation or public auction.

(b) Whenever public advertising for bids is required, (i) the advertisement for
bids shall be made at such time prior to the disposal or contract, through such methods, and on
such terms and conditions, as shall permit full and free competition consistent with the value
and nature of the Property; (ii) all bids shall be publicly disclosed at the time and place stated in
the advertisement; and (iii) the award shall be made with reasonable promptness by notice to the
responsible bidder whose bid, conforming to the invitation for bids, will be most advantageous
to BUDC and New York State, price and other factors considered.

(c) Any public bid for the disposition of Property may be rejected, refused, or
declined by BUDC or the Contracting Officer on any basis or ground allowable at law.

3. Disposition by Negotiated Sale/Public Auction. The following dispositions are
exempt and excepted from the public bidding requirements set forth above in Article III(B)(2)
and may be consummated through a negotiated sale or by public auction:

(a) Below Market Dispositions. BUDC may dispose of Property for less than
the fair market value of the Property under the circumstances set forth in Article III(B)(5) of
these Guidelines.

(b)  Disposition of Certain Personal Property. BUDC may dispose of
personal property where such personal property has qualities separate from the utilitarian
purpose of such property, such as artistic quality, antiquity, historical significance, rarity, or
other quality or similar effect, that would tend to increase its value, or if the personal property is
to be sold in such quantity that, if it were disposed of through public advertisement and bidding,
would adversely affect the state or local market for such property, and the estimated fair market
value of such property and other satisfactory terms of disposal can be obtained by negotiation.

(c) Disposition of Low FMV Property. BUDC may dispose of Property the
fair market value of which does not exceed Fifteen Thousand Dollars (§15,000.00).

(d Disposition Following Receipt of Unacceptable Bid Prices. BUDC may
dispose of Property where the bid prices received by BUDC after public advertising are not

37



commercially reasonable (either as to all or some part of the Property) as determined by BUDC
in its sole discretion.

(e) Disposition to New York State. BUDC may dispose of Property to
New York State or any political subdivision of New York State.

® Disposition Authorized by Law. BUDC may dispose of Property
where such disposition is otherwise authorized by law.

4. Reporting Requirements Regarding Negotiated Dispositions.

(@ Preparation of Written Statements. The Contracting Officer shall
prepare a written statement explaining the circumstances of each negotiated disposition of
Property involving any of the following:

(1) the negotiated disposition of personal property which has an
estimated fair market value in excess of Fifteen Thousand Dollars
($15,000.00);

(i)  the negotiated disposition of Real Property that has an  estimated
fair market value in excess of One Hundred Thousand Dollars
($100,000.00),

(iii)  the negotiated disposition of Real Property that will be  disposed
of by lease, if the estimated annual rent over the term of the lease
is in excess of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00); or

(iv)  the negotiated disposition of Real Property or real and related
personal property where the same will be disposed of by exchange,
regardless of value, or any Property any part of the consideration
for which is Real Property.

b) Submission of Written Statements. Written statements prepared pursuant
to Article ITII(B)(4) shall be submitted to the New York State Comptroller, the Director of the
Budget, the Commissioner of General Services and the State Legislature no later than ninety (90)
days prior to the date on which the disposition of Property is expected to take place. The
Contracting Officer shall maintain a copy of all written statements at BUDC’s principal office.

5. Disposal of Property for Less Than Fair Market Value.

(a) No asset owned, leased or otherwise in the control of BUDC may be sold,
leased or otherwise alienated for less than its fair market value unless such disposition meets one
of the following requirements:

38



(1) The transferee is a government or other public entity, and the terms
and conditions of the disposition require that ownership and use of the asset will remain with the
government or any other public entity.

(i)  The purpose of the disposition is within BUDC’s corporate
purpose, mission or its governing statute.

(b)  Inthe event that BUDC seeks to dispose of an asset for less than its fair
market value and neither of the circumstances set forth in Section 5(a)(i) and (ii) are applicable,
then BUDC shall provide written notification of the proposed disposition to the Governor, the
Speaker of the Assembly and the temporary President of the Senate, and such proposed
disposition shall be subject to approval or denial by the Govemor, the Senate or the Assembly in
accordance with the provisions set forth in the Section 2897 (7) of the Public Authorities Law.

(c) In the event a below fair market value disposition is proposed, the
following information shall be provided to the BUDC Board of Directors and to the public:

1) A full description of the asset;

(i)  An appraisal of the fair market value of the asset and any other
information establishing the fair market value that may be sought by the Board;

(iii) A description of the purpose of the disposition and a reasonable
statement of the kind and amount of the benefit to the public resulting from the disposition,
including but not limited to the kind, number, location, wages or salaries of jobs created or
preserved as required by the disposition, the benefits, if any, to the communities in which the
asset is situated as are required by the disposition;

(iv) A statement of the value to be received compared to the fair market
value;

§%) The names of any private parties participating in the disposition,
and if different than the statement required by paragraph (iv) above, a statement of the value to
the private party; and

(vi)  The names of other private parties who have made an offer for
such asset, the value offered, and the purpose for which the asset was sought to be used.

(d) Before authorizing the disposition of any property for less than fair market
value, the BUDC Board of Directors shall consider the information described in 5(c) above and
make a written determination that there is no reasonable alternative to the proposed below
market disposition that would achieve the same purpose as the proposed disposition.

39



ARTICLE IV
GENERAL PROVISIONS

A. Annual Review and Submission of Guidelines

These Guidelines shall be annually reviewed and approved by the BUDC Board of
Directors. On or before the 31% day of March of each year, BUDC shall file with the New York
State Comptroller a copy of the most recently reviewed and adopted guidelines, including the
name of the Contracting Officer, and shall post the Guidelines on BUDC’s website. Guidelines
posted on BUDC’s website shall be maintained at least until the Guidelines for the following
year are posted on BUDC’s website.

B. Effect of Awarded Contracts

These Guidelines are intended for the guidance of the officers, directors and employees of
BUDC and its Subsidiaries only. Nothing contained herein is intended or shall be construed to
confer upon any person, firm or corporation any right, remedy, claim or benefit under, or by
reason of, any requirement or provision hereof, or be deemed to alter, affect the validity of,
modify the terms of or impair any contract or agreement made or entered into in violation of, or
without compliance with, these Guidelines. Without limiting the generality of the preceding
sentence, any deed, bill of sale, lease, or other instrument executed by or on behalf of BUDC or a
BUDC Subsidiary, purporting to transfer title or any other interest in Property shall be
conclusive evidence of compliance with these Guidelines insofar as concerns title or other
interest of any bona fide grantee or transferee who has given valuable consideration for such title
or other interest and has not received actual or constructive notice of lack of compliance with
these Guidelines prior to the closing.

C. Effective Date; Amendments.

These Guidelines shall be effective upon the affirmative vote of the Board of Directors of
the Corporation and may be amended upon affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of
Directors.

Effective Date: November 30, 2006
Amended: March 2, 2010
Re-Adopted: March 29, 2011
Re-Adopted: March 27, 2012
Re-adopted: February 26, 2013
Re-adopted: February 25, 2014
Re-adopted: March 31, 2015
Re-adopted: March 29, 2016
Re-adopted: March 28, 2017
Re-adopted: March 27, 2018
Re-adopted: March 26, 2019
Re-adopted; March 31, 2020

40



ITEM 3.1.5

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT
CORPORATION

BUFFALO BROWNFIELD RESTORATION CORP.
BBRC LAND COMPANY I LLC
RIVERBEND LLC
BUFFALO LAKESIDE COMMERCE PARK I LL.C
NORDEL ILLC
NORDELIILLC
683 WTC,LLC
683 NORTHLAND LL.C
KING CROW, LLC
714 NORTHLAND LLC

2019 ANNUAL REPORT
(For purposes of Section 2800(2) of the Public Authorities Law)

41



Purpose of the Annual Report:

As a local development corporation established by the City of Buffalo, the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (BUDC) is required to comply with New York State’s Public
Authorities Law. Under this Law, BUDC is required to submit a comprehensive annual
report that includes information on:

Operations and accomplishments

Financial Reports

Mission Statement & Performance Measurements

Bonds and notes outstanding

Compensation (for those earning $100,000 +)

Projects undertaken during the year

Property Report

Code of Ethics

An assessment of internal control structure and effectiveness
10 Legislation that forms the statutory basis of the authority

11. Board structure

12. By-Laws

13. Listing of material changes in operations and programs

14. Four-year Financial Plan

15. Board Performance Evaluations

16. Assets/Services brought or sold without competitive bidding
17. Description of material pending litigation

VPRGN R LN~

In compliance with the Public Authorities Law, the following required information is
presented for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

1. Operations & Accomplishments:

A report on the 2019 operations and accomplishments of the BUDC and its affiliates is
posted on BUDC’s website at http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-

reports.

2. Financial Reports:

i) Audited Financial Statements:

The audited financial statements for the BUDC will be posted on its website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports. The financial
statement certification is included on page 8.

The financial statements are audited on an annual basis, by BUDC’s external auditors
Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C. In their opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of BUDC as of December 31, 2019 and the
changes in net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with
accounting principals generally accepted in the United States of America.

42



ii) Grants & Subsidy Programs:

BUDC and its affiliates are recipients of certain Federal, State, and Local grant programs
that are utilized for land development projects. Details of the various grants are outlined
in BUDC’s audited financial statements.

iii) Operating & Financial Risks:

The following outline some of the operating and financial risks that impact BUDC:

Liquidity — A significant portion of BUDC’s assets consist of land and buildings
held for sale or lease which are not readily convertible to cash. Since BUDC
relies upon land sales to fund operations, a reduction in the amount of cash
derived from land sales could cause BUDC difficulty in funding operations.
Recovery of Land held for sale — BUDC has capitalized a large proportion of its
development costs as “Land and Improvements held for sale”. If BUDC has
difficulty selling the underlying parcels due to local economic conditions, it may
not be able to recover the amount recorded on the financial statements.
Environmental — Since BUDC and its affiliates may assume title to properties
with environmental contamination, it is exposed to the related potential clean-up
costs, litigation and other liabilities.

Regulatory — BUDC is subject to various regulations including those imposed by
the NYS Authority Budget Office. These regulations may increase the cost of
compliance or impact the financial position of the Corporation. In 2017, BUDC
also closed on tax credit financing for the Western New York Workforce Training
Center involving New Markets and Historic Tax Credits. Changes to regulations
governing these and Brownfield Tax Credits could impact the overall funding of
the project.

Funding — As a not-for-profit local development corporation, BUDC has limited
sources of operating funds and relies heavily on grant funding from New York
State for certain projects. BUDC management is always cognizant of the fact that
a change in the legislative climate of the State could have a significant effect on
future grant opportunities.

BUDC mitigates a portion of the above risks by prudent financial management, external
legal guidance and comprehensive insurance coverage.

iv) Current bond ratings:

BUDC does not issue bonds on its own behalf and therefore is not rated by municipal
bond rating agencies.

v) Long-term liabilities including leases and employee benefit plans:

BUDC has long-term liabilities related loans and notes payable as described in Section 4.

43



3. Mission Statement & Performance Measurements:

BUDC’s Mission Statement & Performance Measurements Report for 2019 is included in
Attachment 1. This document was reviewed and approved by the Board at the March 31,
2020 Board meeting.

4. Schedule of Bonds and Notes Outstanding:

In 2006, BUDC issued $675,000 in promissory notes in connection with the expansion of
its Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park remediation and redevelopment. During 2007,
$150,000 of these notes were repaid while in 2008 an additional $267,619 of these notes
were repaid, leaving a balance of $257,381 outstanding at December 31, 2019. In 2017,
683 Northland LLC borrowed amounts totaling $13,730,000 related to the Northland
‘Workforce Training Center project as part of a transaction to syndicate certain tax credits.
683 Northland LLC also entered into two agreements for bridge financing in 2017
totaling $30,000,000, all of which was outstanding at December 31, 2019. See
Attachment 2 for detail of BUDC’s loans and notes payable.

5. Compensation Schedule:

See Attachment 3 for a list of BUDC employees who had a salary exceeding $100,000
during 2019. Attachment 3A is a summary of benefits provided to those staff per the New
York State Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS). Biographies for
these individuals are posted on BUDC’s website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-contact-us.  Salaries and  benefit
information for other BUDC staff are also reported under the PARIS system.

None of the directors of the Buffalo Urban Development Corporation or its affiliates
receive any compensation for their services as directors. None of the officers of the
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation or its affiliates receive any compensation for
their services as officers beyond their compensation as employees.

6. Projects Undertaken by the Corporation during fiscal vear 2019:

See above Operations and Accomplishments report posted at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports for a listing of various
initiatives accomplished in 2019. Buffalo Urban Development Corporation does not
provide project financing, therefore, no such project details are included in this section.

7. Listing of certain Property of the Corporation:

Attachment 4 provides information regarding the real property holdings of BUDC and its
affiliates.

8. Code of Ethics:

The Corporation’s Code of Ethics is posted on BUDC’s website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-policies.

44



9. Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Control Structure and Procedures:

Management’s Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Controls of BUDC is posted
on BUDC’s website at https://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-

reports.

BUDC’s external auditors have conducted tests of the effectiveness of its internal
controls over financial reporting and their report is included in the audited financial
statements posted on BUDC’s website at
https://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports.

10. Legislation that forms the Statutory Basis of the Authority:

BUDC

BUDC is a local development corporation which was formed and empowered to conduct
certain projects pursuant to Not-For-Profit Corporation Law § 1411. Distinguished from
IDAs (which exist as public benefit corporations), LDCs are established as charitable
corporations that are empowered to construct, acquire, rehabilitate and improve for use
by others, industrial or manufacturing plants in the territory in which its operations are
principally to be conducted (“Benefited Territory”) and to make loans. LDCs can provide
financial assistance for the construction, acquisition, rehabilitation, improvement, and
maintenance of facilities for others in its Benefited Territory. Specific LDC powers
include the ability to: (i) disseminate information and furnish advice, technical assistance
and liaison services to Federal, State and local authorities; (ii) to acquire by purchase,
lease, gift, bequest, devise or otherwise, real or personal property; and (iii) to borrow
money and to issue negotiable bonds, notes and other obligations. LDCs are empowered
to sell, lease, mortgage or otherwise dispose of or encumber facilities or any real or
personal property or any interest therein.

A copy of thlS spemﬁc legislation can be found at the following address:

TA=$$NPC1411$3@TXNPCO01411 +&LIST—LAW+&BROWSER—EXPLORER-F&TO

KEN=35134270+&TARGET=VIEW

Buffalo Brownfields Restoration Corporation (BBRC)

BBRC is a corporation as defined in subparagraph (a)(5) of Section 102 of the Not-for-
Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York and is a Type B corporation as defined
in Section 201 of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law. A copy of this legislation can be
found at the following address:

http://public.leginfo.state.ny.us/LAWSSEAF.cei?QUERYTYPE=LAWS+&QUERYDA
TA=@LLNPC+&LIST=LAW+&BROWSER=EXPLORER+&TOKEN=35134270+&T
ARGET=VIEW.

45



11. Description of the Authority and its Board Structure:

i) Names of Committees and Committee Members:
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation operates a Real Estate Committee, Audit &

Finance Committee, Governance Committee, Downtown Committee, and Loan
Committee. A description of the committees and a listing of committee members is
posted on the BUDC website at http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-board-
committees.

ii) Lists of Board Meetings & Attendance:
A list of the 2019 Board meetings and Board attendance is outlined on Attachment 5.

iii) Description of major authority units. subsidiaries:
BUDC’s Corporate Chart is included in Attachment 6.

iv) Number of Employees:
BUDC had four full-time employees in 2019. It also utilized employees of the Erie

County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA) to provide financial, administrative,
and property management services on a fee basis.

v) Organizational Chart:
BUDC’s organizational chart is posted on BUDC’s website at:

http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-contact-us.

12. Bylaws:

The Bylaws for BUDC are posted on its website at
http://www .buffalourbandevelopment.com/documents/budc corporate policies/ BUDCB
y-Laws Feb 2012.pdf.

13. Listing of Material Changes in Operations and Programs:

There was one material change in BUDC operations and programs in 2019, as
indicated in Section 1 (Operations & Accomplishments) in the section titled Waterfront /
Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park Project. This project will be described in greater
detail at the end of this section.

BUDC continued to make significant strides in the Northland Beltline Corridor
redevelopment area. More specifically, the Phase II renovation of 683 Northland
(Northland Central) was substantially completed in September 2019, allowing for the
opening of Buffalo Manufacturing Works (BMW) as the second anchor tenant.

The Northland Central project is the complete rehabilitation of a vacant, 240,000
square foot industrial complex at 683 Northland Avenue in the City of Buffalo, which
houses the Northland Workforce Training Center (NWTC), BMW, SparkCharge, and
Manna Restaurant. The over $100 million Project is a signature initiative of Governor
Andrew Cuomo’s “Buffalo Billion” Investment Plan, and is part of a larger regional plan

46



to promote smart growth, workforce development, and economic development goals.
Through the efforts of Mayor Byron W. Brown, this site was identified long ago as an
area that could ignite significant development on Buffalo’s east side.

The NWTC is an approximately 80,000 square foot facility that includes
administrative space, classrooms, and industrial shops/labs designed to train and graduate
new highly-skilled members of the local workforce to meet the requirements of the 21%
century advanced manufacturing and electric utility industries. The NWTC was created
through an adaptive reuse of a portion of the historic industrial structure at Northland
Central (the former Niagara Machine & Tool Works) and was financed through a
partnership between Empire State Development (ESD), the New York Power Authority
(NYPA), and the City of Buffalo (City).

With technical support by the University at Buffalo’s Regional Institute, ESD
developed a business plan for the NWTC which was targeted to best provide workforce
training opportunities to the traditionally most under-represented groups in the City’s
workforce. The instructional staff/curricula components of the NWTC are provided by
two SUNY institutions (SUNY Erie and Alfred State College). ESD also selected
Economic Development Group (EDG), (a not-for-profit consortium of Catholic Charities,
Goodwill Industries, Buffalo Niagara Manufacturing Alliance, and the Buffalo Urban
League) to operate the NWTC and to provide access for wrap-around services for the
students.

The NWTC was the initial anchor for Northland Central and the Northland
Beltline Corridor. As mentioned, the second major anchor at Northland Central is Buffalo
Manufacturing Works (BMW), which relocated in 2019 from their previous location on
Main Street to a state-of-the-art 55,000 square foot space within the building, adjacent to
the NWTC. Buffalo Manufacturing Works provides technical assistance and access to
specialty equipment to assist local manufacturers in their efforts to innovate. BMW
wasfully-operational in Northland Central by September of 2019.

BMW’s move to Northland Central also involved a co-location with Insyte
Consulting, which creates a holistic suite of service providers for the benefit of local
manufacturers. BMW’s already-established STEM education Additive Manufacturing
Learning Lab was also relocated and expanded in its new home at Northland Central,
with an on-going goal of training 200-300 students and teachers per year. These efforts
will continue to complement efforts at the NWTC and other aligned efforts (e.g., Burgard
High School’s Advanced Manufacturing Program) on Buffalo’s East Side to help create a
pool of skilled talent to help drive the local manufacturing economy.

In addition to the NWTC and BMW, there was approximately 80,000 additional
square feet of space available to advanced manufacturing and other companies wishing to
locate to Northland Central. The majority of that available space featured high-bay (40°)
light-industrial space and below-market electrical rates. BUDC is pleased to report that as
of December 2019 the majority of that space has been leased to two manufacturing
companies, SparkCharge and Retech Systems. The proximity to the NWTC and BMW

47



provides other companies leasing space in the complex with access to specialist
manufacturing equipment, technical assistance and a trained workforce.

Northland Central is the anchor to the overall Northland Beltline Corridor
redevelopment plan, which when fully built-out will include the re-use of an additional
300,000 square feet of industrial space, construction of street and right-of-way
improvements along Northland Avenue, public open space and public art. These
investments in existing assets/infrastructure will increase development density in the
City’s core, encourage walkability and multi-modal transportation, connect dis-
advantaged communities with employment clusters, and attract private investment to
further foster a vibrant, sustainable community in line with the Region’s established
smart growth principles. The Northland Beltline Corridor is continuing to evolve as an
innovation hub focused on workforce training, advanced manufacturing, and energy, with
a focus on encouraging job training and employment for East Side residents.

The combined project at Northland Central will exceed $100 million. In addition
to the grant funding from ESD, NYPA and the City of Buffalo, additional financing is
being provided by Citibank and Key Bank, through the use of Historic Preservation Tax
Credits and New Market Tax Credits allocated through the National Trust Community
Investment Corporation and Building America Community Development Entity. Key
Bank is providing bridge financing.

In addition to the further development at Northland Central in 2019, BUDC had
two other construction projects that proceeded in the corridor during the year. In two
different cycles, BUDC was awarded Restore NY funding from ESD to enhance
development in the Northland Beltline Corridor. These funds are being used to renovate
15,000 and 40,000 square foot buildings on the former Houde Manufacturing site. The
15,000 square foot building was completed in 2019, and is now the temporary home for
Albright Knox Art Gallery, as they undertake a three year renovation of their main
Gallery on Elmwood. The 40,000 square foot building is in the first phase of “core and
shell” improvements to bring this long-abandoned structure back to life.

As mentioned earlier, as an extension of BUDC’s role supporting downtown
infrastructure and development activity, BUDC applied to the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr.
Foundation for grant funds to assist the City of Buffalo to become more engaged in
downtown waterfront planning and development activities. In 2019, the Foundation
awarded BUDC a $2.8 million dollar grant to enhance both BUDC’s and the City’s
capacity to manage such development activities and to successfully implement the design
and construction of Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park.

In May of 2019, the Foundation awarded BUDC with an additional $3.9 million
to cover costs associated with the schematic design, design development, site
development, and due diligence work related to the Centennial Park project. The Board
approved a contract with Michael Van Valkenburgh Associates (MVVA) to provide
landscape design services for the park transformation. The Board approved a contract
with Wendel Companies to provide due diligence services for the park project.

48



14. Four-Year Financial Plan:

A copy of the four-year financial plan is posted on BUDC’s website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports.

15. Board Performance Evaluations:

The BUDC Board of Directors conducted a Board Performance Evaluation for 2019 and
forwarded the results to the Authority Budget Office. The results of the survey are not
subject to disclosure under Article six of the Public Officers Law.

16. Assets/Services bought or sold without competitive bidding:

Attachment 7 is a Procurement Report that will be filed under the PARIS system. The
report outlines the assets and services purchased through competitive and non-
competitive bidding for those procurements in excess of $5,000.

17. Description of material pending litigation:

The audited financial statements for BUDC outline any material pending litigation.
The audited financial statements are posted on BUDC’s website at
http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports.

49



Certification Pursuant to Section 2800(3) of the Public Authorities Law

Pursuant to Section 2800 (3) of the Public Authorities Law, each of the undersigned
officers of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, does hereby certify with respect to
the annual financial report of the Corporation (the “Annual Financial Report™) posted on
BUDC’s website at http://www.buffalourbandevelopment.com/budc-corporate-reports
that based on the officer’s knowledge:

1. The information provided in the Annual Financial Report is accurate, correct and
does not contain any untrue statement of material fact;

2. Does not omit any material fact which, if omitted, would cause the financial
statements contained in the Annual Financial Report to be misleading in light of
the circumstances under which such statements are made; and

3. Fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of
operations of the Corporation as of, and for, the periods presented in such
financial statements.

Peter M. Cammarata Date
President

Mollie Profic Date
CFO

50



Attachment 1

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC)

2019 Mission Statement and Performance Measurements (w/ Results)
Date Approved: 3/26/2019

BUDC Mission Statement:

The mission of Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is to support the urban
economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose
of attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City as part of the region. The
mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of downtown Buffalo by serving as
the lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) initiatives, working in
collaboration with the City of Buffalo; including the coordination of financial assistance for
downtown adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way improvements.

BUDC Performance Measurements:

Goal: To reclaim abandoned and distressed land and buildings for future
development.

Objective A: Continue to establish the Northland Beltline (“Northland’’) as the prime
urban area for reclamation, by implementing the redevelopment strategy
and continuing to engage in appropriate planning processes for future
development.

Measurement: Assemble any additional properties that become available which are
needed to enhance Northland.

Result: Acquired 714 Northland. This property has a long-term tenant and
provides additional parking for the campus. Continued to work with the
City on the swap of key commercial properties for vacant residential
properties. Continued to work with Plesh Industries to swap vacant land
for potential campus parking areas.

Measurement: Obtain City of Buffalo Planning Board approval for various phases of
Northland redevelopment as they occur.

Result: No further projects required Planning Board approval.

Measurement: Obtain State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) approval to maximize
the preservation of structures that will contribute to the redevelopment of
Northland and the select demolition of structures that are an impediment
to the redevelopment.

Result: No further SHPO approvals were required for the advancement of projects
in 2019.

51



Measurement: Complete construction of Buffalo Manufacturing Works (BMW) and
Phase 2 renovation of 683 Northland (“Northland Central”).

Result: BMW work was completed for their opening in the fall of 2019. All other
Phase 2 work is scheduled to be completed by March of 2020.

Measurement: Manage all compliance and milestones related to the financing for
Northland Central; including Historic Preservation Tax Credits,
Brownfield Cleanup Program Tax Credits, New Market Tax Credits, and
bridge loan financing.

Result: Compliance milestones were managed as the projects advanced.
Compliance documents have been advanced as quickly as the milestones
have been reached.

Measurement: Negotiate and execute any lease agreement amendments with the
Economic Development Group Inc. and BMW for Northland Central.

Result: A lease agreement amendment was executed with Economic Development
Group for the expansion space in 2019.

New Measurement: Execute State funding agreement with Northland Workforce Training
Center NWTC) for Phase 2.1 construction at Northland Central and
complete design and construction.

Result: N/A. This funding was included as part of the lease agreement stated
above.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with Thinking Robot Studios (TRS)
and two (2) other potential tenants at Northland Central.

Result: TRS decided not to lease space at Northland Central, but SparkCharge and
Retech Systems leases were negotiated and executed.

New Measurement: Complete tenant build-outs for any new tenants at Northland Central.
Result: As of March 2020, this work is on-going.

New Measurement: Negotiate and execute a lease with a food service provider for the
restaurant space at Northland Central.

Result: A lease was negotiated with Manna and they began operations in late fall
0f 2019.

New Measurement: Secure SHPO and National Park Service Part 3 approval for Phase 1
and 2 work at Northland Central.

Result: The SHPO and National Park Service approvals are pending.

Measurement: Complete any further remedial investigation and implement the Soil
Management Plan (SMP) for Northland Central, under the NYS

Brownfield Cleanup Program.

52



Result: A small amount of remedial investigation continues into the spring of
2020, related to further vapor intrusion well placement and testing.
Implementation of the SMP will begin when this work is finalized.

Measurement: Continue effective M/WBE Utilization and Workforce Participation
programs for all Northland Central construction.

Result: This is an on-going measurement, but results for 683 Northland were 42%
and 60% for 612 Northland.

New Measurement: Continue to implement the Restore NY IV & V Grant initiatives,
including the completion of renovations at 612 Northland, Phase 1
renovations at 541 East Delavan, and partial demolition of 777 Northland.

Result: 612 Northland renovations were completed under the Restore NY IV
grant. Renovations at 541 E. Delavan are on-going under the Restore NY
V grant. The partial demolition of 777 Northland was dropped as part of
Restore V.

Measurement: Continue to coordinate with the City of Buffalo on all aspects of the
Northland Avenue streets improvements project until completion.

Result: The project has been completed. Final payments and reimbursements
are being processed.

Measurement: Continue the implementation of the Historic Preservation Mitigation
measures agreed to with the State Historic Preservation Office, according
to the Memorandum of Agreement (MOA).

Result: All further work at 612 Northland and 541 E. Delavan will be reviewed by
our historical architect consultant and remain true to the MOA.

New Measurement: Continue to work with the NYSDEC regarding Superfund
investigation and remediation at the 537 E. Delavan site.

Result: We are working with and monitoring the Superfund work at 537 E.
Delavan. It continues in the investigative stage.

Measurement: If funding becomes available, begin renovations or other actions necessary
to bring other space within Northland Beltline to a “ready-to-lease”
condition.

Result: N/A. No additional funding became available in 2019.

Measurement: Continue the Community Outreach Program, with at least one additional
Public Meeting and two additional Stakeholder Advisory Committee
meetings, and additional community outreach, as appropriate such as
newsletters, social media and individual outreach.

Result: One public meeting and two stakeholder meetings were held in 2019.
Extensive individual outreach was completed by Art Hall and Sandy

53



White. An additional Northland Newsletter was published and social
media outreach continued.

New Measurement: Complete design and construction of the Entrepreneurial Center at
Northland Central.

Result: The design of the Building which was to house the Entrepreneurial Center
was completed in 2019 and construction will be completed in March 2020.
Currently the location of the Center is being discussed for another part of
the east side and the building may have a different tenant.

New Measurement: Prepare and begin to implement a green infrastructure plan for 537 E.
Delavan.

Result: A portion of this plan was implemented with the landscaping
improvements included in the renovation of 612 Northland for the
Albright Knox Art Gallery occupancy.

New Measurement: Prepare and begin to implement a community solar and district
energy plan for the Northland Corridor.

Result: A Request for Proposals for this plan was issued in late 2019 and a
consultant team will be chosen in the spring of 2020.

New Measurement: Continue to work with energy stakeholders to solicit funding from
Eaton Corporation to create an Energy Experience Center at Northland
Central, and assist in developing a community solar and district energy
plan for the Northland Corridor.

Result: A preliminary commitment for funding has been obtained from Eaton
Corporation and other funding sources are being pursued. This includes
both the Energy Experience Center and the district energy plan.

New Measurement: Complete building condition analysis and begin to implement, if
appropriate, the renovation of 631 Northland.

Result: The building condition analysis has been completed, but no renovation
was started in 2019

Objective B: Secure funds to continue to advance the Northland Beltline projects.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6.7M Grant Distribution
Agreement (GDA) with Empire State Development (ESD).

Result: All remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $10.3M GDA with ESD for
Northland Central.

Result: Almost all remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

54



Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $6M GDA with ESD for the
WNY Workforce Training Center.

Result: Almost all remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

New Measurement: Draw-down all remaining funds related to the $25M GDA with ESD
for Phase 2 of Northland Central.

Result: All remaining funds for this grant have been drawn-down.

New Measurement: Execute a grant agreement with LISC for the $50,000 Northland
Economic Development Grant and implement the related scope of work.

Result: The grant agreement with LISC was executed and the scope of work
implemented.

Measurement: Identify additional funding sources (i.e. grants and tax credits) and income
opportunities for future phases of Northland Beltline projects.

Result: A Request for Proposals was issued in late 2019 to help identify funding
sources for the renovation of 631 Northland. A consultant will be chosen
in spring of 2020. National Grid’s economic development programs
continue to be a funding source for on-going Northland development
phases.

Objective C:  Prepare land and buildings for development through remediation, select
demolition, infrastructure upgrades/construction, site improvements, and
amenity construction.

New Measurement: Assemble appropriate properties throughout the City to increase
inventory for future brownfield projects.

Result: No additional properties were assembled throughout the City in 2019, but
various acquisition opportunities were discussed with the Real Estate
Committee.

Measurement: Number of acres remediated to shovel-ready condition.
Result: One additional acre at Northland Central.
Measurement: Number of building square feet rehabilitated to leasable condition.

Result: Approximately 100,000 square feet in 2019.

Goal: To attract and/or retain new and existing businesses to the City and
region.

Objective A:  Market BUDC properties as an urban alternative for new construction of
light manufacturing, distribution and office facilities.

55



Measurement: Assist in a minimum of four (4) prospects interested in purchasing land
and/or buildings.

Result: Assisted three prospects at Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park (BLCP) and
one at 308 Crowley.

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) “earned” media appearances and five hundred (500)
website page and social media views.

Result: At least ten earned media appearances were related to the land sale
agreements at BLCP and 308 Crowley.

Measurement: Maintain infrastructure amenities to enhance the marketability of the
BLCP properties.

Result: Maintenance contracts were maintained to continue to hand the BUDC
properties at BLCP and Northland.

Objective B:  Support the economic development efforts of the City of Buffalo Office of
Strategic Planning (OSP) with the task of expanding or relocating
businesses of a diverse nature in the City.

Measurement: Assist in identifying parcels of land in or added to marketable inventory.

Result: At least three parcels in other areas of the City were identified to the Real
Estate Committee as potentially being added to the marketable inventory.

Measurement: Number of businesses contacted, as directed by OSP.

Result: At least six in 2019.

Objective C:  Support the economic development efforts of the City by maintaining
procurement practices that encourage the participation of local (50%),
minority (25%), and women-owned (5%,) businesses.

Measurement: All informal bids, formal bids, request for proposals, and requests for
qualifications will include the City’s participation goals listed above.

Result: The City’s participation goals were included in all BUDC solicitations.
Goal: To support the revitalization of downtown Buffalo.

Objective A:  Serve as lead management entity for BBRP initiatives.

Measurement: A minimum of twenty (20) companies contacted.

Result: At least fifty (50) companies contacted.

Objective B:  Coordinate financial assistance for adaptive re-use projects.

56



Measurement: A minimum of two (2) projects assisted.
Result: Four (4) projects assisted.

Objective C: Manage lending program as an incentive for adaptive re-use and/or new
construction projects.

Measurement: A minimum of two (2) loans approved and closed.

Result: No loans were approved in 2019. Several are in the immediate pipeline
for early in 2020.

Measurement: Finalize modifications to the BBRP Loan Program for Loan Committee
review and approval, and NYBDC use.

Result: BUDC has developed recommendations and the BUDC Loan Committee
is in the process of reviewing for approval.

Objective D: Assist coordination of public right-of-way and public space improvements.
Measurement: A minimum of two (2) city blocks and one (1) public space improved.

Result: BUDC is in the process of coordinating public improvements to the
entertainment district, Erie Street public spaces and underpass areas.
Construction will begin in 2020.

New Measurement: Develop a draft waterfront implementation strategy.

Result: BUDC is working with waterfront stakeholders to facilitate regular
waterfront coordination meetings and continues to pursue funding for the
design of public realm improvements.

New Measurement: Develop a draft Flower District / Ellicott Corridor Concept Plan.

Result: BUDC is in the process of completing the Ellicott Corridor Plan.
Anticipated completion is the spring of 2020.

Objective E:  Coordinate additional phases of Queen City Pop Up (QCPU).

Measurement: A minimum of six (6) temporary retailers and two (2) permanent retailers
added to the downtown market area.

Result: Nine (9) temporary and one permanent retailers were added.

Measurement: Coordinate at least two (2) technical assistance training sessions for QCPU
retailers.

57



Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective F:

Measurement:

Result:

Four technical assistance trainings were coordinated (website
development, marketing & merchandising, social media, and media
relations).

Maintain a webpage and directory for/of QCPU participants.

BUDOC is in the process of developing a directory that will be located on
the recently updated website.

Coordinate the publication, marketing, and distribution of an updated
State of Downtown Report.

A minimum of five hundred (500) copies distributed and two (2) “earned”
media appearances.

Vice President Brandye Merriweather coordinated the roll-out of the new
downtown development strategy (Buffalo’s Race for Place), which was
unveiled at the 2020 State of the City address.

Objective G: Build awareness of BBRP programs, tools, and incentives.

Measurement:

Result:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective H:
Measurement:
Result:

Objective I:

Measurement:

At least two (2) presentations to business associations and
professional/community groups on BBRP.

Ms. Merriweather made five (5) presentations in 2019 including the
International Downtown Association, the WNY @ Work Radio Show, It
Takes a Village Action Organization, and the Buffalo Niagara Area
Realtors.

Finalize a list of recommendations for additional BBRP tools and
incentives, based on current market conditions.

BUDC finalized recommendations outlined in Buffalo’s Race for Place
plan, these include public/private funding for infrastructure and “smart
cities” technology.

Promote the construction of additional units of downtown housing.
The announcement of two hundred fifty (250) units to be constructed.
Approximately 220 residential units announced.

Coordinate the resolution or redevelopment of targeted problem
properties within the BBRP boundaries.

A minimum of three (3) problem properties addressed.

58



Result:

Objective J:

Measurement:

Result:

Numerous BBRP problem properties were discussed in 2019, with
strategies pending.

Explore additional strategies and best practices for addressing problem

properties.

Finalize draft of the “white paper” entitled City of Buffalo Problem
Property Strategy Report, for review by the City of Buffalo and final
publication.

BUDC is in the process of coordinating strategies with the City of Buffalo.

Goal: To effectively manage property, development projects and initiatives.

Objective A:

Measurement:

Result:

Objective B:

Measurement:

Result:

Engage in all aspects of productive property management including

marketing, leasing, maintenance, etc.
Keep property related costs within budget.

Incorporating various challenges brought forward by the ever-increasing
stable of Northland Corridor properties, property related costs were held
within budget.

Support development projects by working with regional utility companies
to include their grant programs in local initiatives. Package other
economic development incentives to enhance the marketability of

properties.

A minimum of two (2) projects referred.

BUDC staff referred at least six (6) projects to regional utility companies
in 2019.

59



Additional Questions:

Have the board members acknowledged that they have read and understood the mission of
BUDC?

The Board discussed and approved the BUDC’s mission statement at the March 26, 2019 Board
meeting.

‘Who has the power to appoint the management of BUDC?

The Board of Directors appoints the management of BUDC to the positions of President,
Executive Vice-President, Vice-President, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer and Secretary.

If the Board appoints management, do you have a policy you follow when appointing the
management of BUDC?

The Board follows the BUDC By-Laws when appointing management.

Briefly describe the role of the Board and the role of management in the implementation of
the mission.

Management works closely with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Committee Chairs in formulating an
on-going work plan for management to carry out the strategic goals related to the mission of the
organization. Board members review and approve individual projects, initiatives and transactions
to ensure that they are consistent with BUDC’s mission. Board members also review and
approve the annual budget to ensure resources are allocated appropriately to meet the BUDC’s
mission.

Has the Board acknowledged that they have read and understood the responses to each of
these questions?

Yes, these questions and responses were discussed and approved by the Board at the March 26,
2019 Board meeting.

60



Attachment 2

62 10 12 abey

00°8LL'LZ9'VE oL
00'gLL 1Ze'v$ MON
00°0$ Bupunjey 1ajua) Bulujes) aaioppopy
00°03 14 s|qeleA %90°'S aagnedwo) L102/8C12L
{s10) ajeq
eauenss) J0 3509 uue) adAj ysesept| 1802 Jselejuj eniy, S58201 enss| Buisoj) puog sjunowly 100f0ld
: wesbolg a0 - 1990 Alioyiny sjgeq jo edAL
SOOUEHSS] 1990 MaN
SOA- ¢pouad Buppodal eyy Bupnp 3gep Aue panss) fuoyiny ey sey ‘sef | | Z
EN poued Bujlodas ayy Buunp jujod Aue Je qap ynpuod Buipnjoul jqep Buipuejsine Aue arey Auoyiny oyl pig | ‘
asuodsey uopsanp
Jgeg ueany

V/N @jeqg paygman
A3LLINGNSNN :snje)s

0202/60/€0 |jeq uny

"

S Le@e iR LLL A ) B

610Z/LE/C) :Owpu3 Jeap [eds)y |

|
uopeiodion juswdoeaag ueqin oleyng 403 Bodey [Enuuy w
|

NN

61



62 J0 ZZ obed

62

00°€20'686'SY 00°0 00°8L1'129'Y 00'G06'£9€°6C 000 $IVLOL
EupueurJ jusulalou
101id - Jaeq npuo| Inpuod
1920 Unpuog) unpuo)
00°£20'686'CY 0o'o 00'8L1L 129" 00°506°£9€'6€ 000 JOYI0 -198@ Ajsoyiny| Jayio - 1geQq Ajuoyny
B8NuaAay -1qeq Auoyiny| enueAsy - igag AQuoyny
uonefiqol uogebiiacy
[R18UBD -390 AOUINY |eseuag -1qe@ Auoyiny
pepun4-sjElg 48Ul Papund-elels JOWo
uonebiyjaQ |eJop ejey: uoneBiqo alels
uopebiiqo Jusbuguod a_m.m_ uogebliiqQ ejels
pspoddng eje) uonebiiqQ e1e)s
pasjuesens oje) uogebiiqo eiels
(I (§hee )]
leas|4 jo pu3 Bujpuejsing| (3) Poapoyiq0q)  ($)seouenssi1qaa menjiedstd o pels Bulpueising|  ($)uonezuouiny Alongels) 39eQ jo adA )
1950 /50 Jo spaydss
V/N 8leq paupia) 6L0Z/1€/2) Buipuz Jea, feosiy
a3aLinansNn snejg

uoneiodio) juswdoaeq uBqin oleyng Jos Hoday [enuuy

020Z/60/£0 81eq uy




Attachment 3

saxe] aosueansuyj uawkojdwisun SAN ¥ (a1edipay g Aunoag [BI100g) saxe] Yol 10 aleys sJakojdwg syussaiday ,
Geg'ell $ | 69282 £22°0L - EFS'vEL $ JuspIsSaid S0IA 8ANJ9X] sulqqge)s pliaeq
889°CLL $ | £20'v2 Zre‘ol = CLE6EL $ va_mm..m_ elejewie)) sjod
1ejo1 sjyeuag +Soxe] uonesuadiuos Arejeg apIL sulen
lloifed aouelLIOMad

6102 ‘L€ Joquiadaq :papu3 Jeaj
a|npaysg uonjesuadwon
uonesodion Juawdojarag ueqin ojeyng

‘6102 Ul 000001 $ uey) Ja)es.b Aiefes e pey saaiojdwa Buimo| o) sy

63



Attachment 3a

62 Jo 91 ebed

Juspisald
0IA piaeg
X aApnoex3 ‘sujqgelSs
Jalad
X juspisald | ‘elelewwes
edsuelnsu| sple) aAee]
sjjjeusyg i npaiy sdys pasnup
asay) | juewdhojdwz | eoueisissy | jJuspusdag | eosuemoly sueo syesodion ~Joquiaig lo} abeyoed
PEINTe} Jo auoN Jes A-BInw uoming / tesnodg Buisnoy | uopepodsues) | oy jeuosiad Jo asn qn|y | uewdeq | asuelansg aplL IweN
mes
SI0PAAQ elep
X 40 preogd ‘AUM
y siojoalg usA8Ig
X 10 pieog “Heudayg
s10pallg
X jo pieog | Biesn sjels
siojoallq snueq
X J0 pieog ‘uabpud
siojoadIq sjuusqg
X o pJeog ‘uewIuad
si0joaAIa piaeq
aedueinsu| spied aAedT]
sjljeueg 8 Wpard sdiys pasnufn
asay) | Juswlojdwg | soueysissy | juapuadag asuemo|y sueo ajesodio) | -Jaquialy 10} sheyoed
1BYO JLENLIY] Jea  -pIinw uopng  fesnodg BujsnoH | uopepodsuely | oy jeuosiag joasn qnio Juswied | 9suRIBA’S SHIL aweN
V/N :81eQ payie)n 610Z/1€/Z} Buipuz JeaA |2oSId
Q3LLIWGNSNN ‘sniejg
0202/60/€0 ‘|jeqg uny uoljelodion juswdojaasq ueqi ojeyng Joj Hoday |enuuy

LLIS S AST LEOIIZ LIS R | 45 el h e chias )

64



Attachment 4

UIMO||0) BY | "¢ B|qe L

00062y § | 61/8Z/20 | isors anmowny 3 vipoonemer ot o dod | 000'GZ___$ | BUIPING PaIdnions 1S 0008} UE /M PUE] JO SAIoE 15} SNUBAY PUEIUNON 1.
Gv._._ by asetdind 12]198 Jo SSaIppy g sweN Ausdoud jo Auadoug so uonduaseq find Apedoud jo uonesoT pue sseippy
¥1.2) Apug pajejay
oang Aq pied 221d 10 3jeq AW pajewnsy
"610Z Buunp paunboe sem yey) Apadoid |eas |je Jo Buns) & si B
(ouea) Az ojeg J3SBL2Ind jJO SSAIPPY g sWeN Apedouy jo Ausdoid jo uonduosaq ||nd Apadold Jo uonedsoT pue ssalppy
P oonmans ooy | 42 0 A pejewns3

Aq pan@oay aaud

‘6102 Buunp Jo pasodsip sem Jey) Auadoud [eal ||e pue (000"G$ JO SS8oxa ul {,AN4.) enjeA Jaxew ey e yym) Auadoud jeuosiad jo Bupsy e si B

LMoo} 8Yl “Z sjgel

000'L81 $ Buipiing 3018Jap 1'S $2£'GLE B /M PUB| JO SBUd. 2L SNUBAY AdmoID GOE| olenng ‘paleien 1oN

0012 $ PUB]| JUBOBA JO 210E 90°0 SNUBAY Yed YINos ZzEl 180

0029 [ pue| JUBDEA JO 8J3B 6Z'0 @nuaAy uopng 8zZ1

005'S $ PpuE| JUBDEA JO 8I0E 90 enuaAy uohng 9z |

000'0S $ Bulpjing J01/0J8P *¥'S 000° L8 B /M PUE} JO S3I08 ¢} 8NuUsAyY puejyuoN LL2

00,2 $ puej JuedeA Jo a1oe gL 0 SNUBAY puejyloN /9.

000'009 $ Buipiing 101184ep 'S 000°26 B /M PUE] JO S3I08 6't BNUBAY PUBIYMON L.

000'Sey $ | Buipling psidndo0 *J's 0008 Lie /M pue| Jo sasoe |8’} SNUSAY PUB|YUON 1L

0092 y bupyted jo aoe gL°0 SNUBAY pUB|YLON 069

0oy’ L2 [ aoedsusalb pue bupped jo saloe Go°) aNUBAY pPuejyoN 889

000'008°L $ sBuipiing pa1dnaoo Jo °J's O0'GEZ /M PUE| JO SBI08 4Z°L anuaAy puejyUoN £89

00+'9 $ soedsusalb pue bunped jo aioe 680 anuaAy Pue|yUoN 199

- [3 aoedsuaalb pue bupjed Jo saioe §g'| BNUBAY PUB|UHON SS9

008't % Bunped jo a1oe G20 SnuBAY puejyUON 9| HOA MeN ‘ojeyng

000'06S $ bujpling JUEdEA }'S 000'GE B /M PUE| JO SaIoe £9'Z 8NUBAY PUBILLION LEQ| Paimmen Buag awog

00922 [ aoedsuealb Jo 810B §9°0 anuaAy puejyuoN /6]  selovy g0°2¢

000051 $ | sBuiping juedea jo 'I's 000°GL /A PUE] JO SB.0€ 250} enusAy UeAE|eQ ISe3 LEGOPIIOD PUBIYLON

008'0E€ $ (8|qe8sN 00"9) Pue| JUBJEA JO S3IIE 80°8l Aep\ sJa10Ge] 921

0St'L6L $ pue| JURDRA JO salde 2p'G Aep sJB10qeT 62|

0SY'eol [ PUE| JUBOEA JO SOIOB 29} Aep\ sJesoqe /g

ose'sey $ (8|qB3SM L1L"0}) PUE| JUBDEA JO SBIOE || '8] Ae sJedoqen 02

00zZ'981L $ pug| JUBJBA Jo salde 2¢'g Aepn sJeioge 1§

000681 $ PUB| JUBDBA JO SRIJB OF'S Aep se10qe ¥

00Z2°'2LL $ pue| JUBDEBA JO SBIOE 26 Repp sJeloqe Gl

059172 $ (21qeasn ££°G) PUB| JUBOEA JO SAI0E 1801 Remxied [eued diug 0L€

00L'vi $ pug| JueoeA Jo alde Zp') Aemyled [eue) diug 082

009'ZLL $ PUE] JUBOBA JO SBJOB 980 Aemsiped [eued diys gz

004'50Z $ pue| JUBOBA JO SBIOE 99'G Aemled feuen diys 0oz| HoA meN ‘oleyng

059'6ee ¢ PUE| JUBDBA JO SBIOE 656 Kemyieg [euen diys £61| peewen busg son

08Z's. $ pue| Juedea Jo sa1oe GL'g Aemyled jeue) diyg g61| sesov Ge'GLL

0S2°GL % puUE| JUBDBA JO SBIDE G|'Z Remyled jeuen diys ve|| ed eolswiwio)

-Kiea few anjea .ajes 0S€°0L $ pue| JUBDEA JO SBI0E LO'Z Aemled [eued diys g| spisexeT oleung |

eull., paienaBay “siesjesdde jusuna-uou o [ £3 134014 10 Apadoid jo uonduaseg [Ind Apedoid Jo 1g$ 10 ssaippy Kypoes oang

Burdwes e uo paseq enjea aioe Jad abessae
ue Buisn pajewpse si AN 8YL 810N

AINL pojeunys3

610Z ‘L€ 19quwa0a( e ‘ssueipisqns Jo sajejjue s) ybnouy) Jo ‘Dang Aq paumo Auadoud [eas jje jo Bunsy e st siyl L sjge)

8102 ‘L€ Joquiadaq :papug Jes)

poday Auadoid

uonelodio) Juswdojeasq ueqln ojeyng

65



Attachment 5

10§ wnion

|

‘Suneaw paeoq 6107 ‘67 Adenuer sy

b e 3ney 10u pip 2ang 's10392410 4o paeog ay3 Jo Bunnd [e1dads e Sem aA0ge past| Suieaw pieoq 6T0Z ‘TT Aenuerayl | :3;0n

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

2IAUM Ly

6T/T1/T
papus W)

X

yeudals usalls

x

x

Ja1ejs Sien)

b

x

b3

uadplid snueq "A9y

uewiuad siuuaQg

x

BISEN piaeq

e
[AUIN ABl1BqW &

X| x| x| x

Ajjeysiy uepuaug

XK X|X|X| X

x

sAe|\ epuewy

x

XK X|X|X| x| X

BIsieyany| sewoyy

x

x

-Jf ‘A9sJay sewoy]

XXX X | x| x| x| X

b

XK K[| x| x| X

uesijjeH sewoyjl

x

x

Jaysejjes aimoq

KX x| X || X X]|X]|X

x

x

upjysi4 Ag.leq

61/0€/L
uedaq wiaj|

x

ULy [9eYOIA

oaquoes|3 siuuag

Aun) anbjuer

x

PJ0jIaWo) sswer

x| X| x| X

x| x| x| x

xX|X| x| X

x| XX

X | x| X

x| x| xX| X

X | x| xX| X

x| x| x| X

ssnung _uLi]

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

UMOoJg uocJAg "uoH

Sunoaw
ON

61/92/11

61/6z/0%

6T/ve/6

6T/L2/8

6T/0€/L

61/52/9

61/82/s

6t/0c/Y

61/9Z/¢

6T/92/2

6T/11/1

SOJON

JaQ

AON

PO

das

3ny inf

unfg

Aepy

ady

deAl

934

uer

laquiap

papuany = X
1517 3suepusny Sunesy pieog 2angd 6102



Attachment 6

‘uoijeziuedio

1dwaxa-xel (7){3)T0S e S UONEIIOSSY 3Y ] "UOIILIDOSSY BY1 JO SJ030aUIQ

Se 8AI9s 01 saaudisap sy sajiua Auadoxd 4718 jo diysiaumo s,Jang

asnedaq JANSG 40 dleliye alpul ue st {, UoIePOoSsY, ayl) "IN ‘NOILYIDOSSY
SYINAMO AL¥IJOUd (dI18) HY¥Vd IDHIWINOD FAISTHVT OTv44Ng €

‘suonezivesio 1dwaxs-xel (€}(2)10S 21e Dygg pue NG

'$1019341p
(pa3leljyye Hang-uou) Juspuadapu) oMl Yyum Suoje ‘33)iwon) aje)s] [eay
$,20N4 40 SIoquisw 3y} JO jje jo pasLidwiod s sJo1rauiq JO pieog JYgg @yl T

6107 ‘T€ J9qua238Q J0 sy
uey) aunpniis ajerodio]

‘S31ON
3NUBAY PUBlYLION £89
'sBUIp|oH 31e1s3 Jeay J71 ‘INVNIL
1T ANVIHLYON €89 YIL1SVIN ONVYIHLINON £89
(w3awan
{ )
ONIDYNYIN) %1
%56
(Puen
38a.1s vonNng 82-921 ue3ea) Aeamjied |eued diys 972 anuIAY
INUSAY PUBIUMION ££L 78 L9L Aem siatoqeq §ZT 9 £8 TS ‘ST {pue|Jueden) AamouD 80E
SNUBAY puRlYUON YT/ "T¥L ‘069 ‘889 '¥99 ‘P9 ‘TE9 anuaAy UeAe|a( 1583 /€5 :s8ulpjoy 21183 [eay ANUBAY Yled YINos TZET :s8uip|oH
T ‘t ANVAINOD sBuIp|oH 212353 |eay :sSuipjoH a1e3s3 teay :sufpjoH sne1s] jeay 71 ‘1= Ndvd 3DYINOD is3ulpjoy sje)sy |eay aqe)s] |eay
ANV Ddas D11 ‘J1M €89 IT1 GNVIHLYON YTL 21 W I3AUON J71 ‘1130¥0N 3AISANVT O1v44N8 271 ‘ON3FY3ATY 27 ‘MOYD ONDI
%001 %00T %007 %00T %00T %00T
%00%
%001
.
{>¥88) NOILYHOdY0D
NOILVYOLSIY (377 ' - ¥Vd 3DUZWINOD 3QISTAVT OT74INE A paumo sjsased pue sied Mang 2y} Suipnfaxe) yJed 3319WwWa) 3pisaxeT ojeyng
A1IEHNMOYY :s8upjoH 23e)5] JERYy
ovidne {3an8) NOILYYOJYOI LNIWIOTIAIA NYSSN OTVIING

NOILYHO4H0D LNIINAOTIAIA NVEHN OTV44Ng

67



Attachment 7

6¢ 10 | abed

¢men aoueuld Siels oy Jo (g)l-6E 1
UOJIoaS Y}t S8OUEPIODDE U] ‘PALINDID0 SARY SUDIE|OIA SISLM SSUB)SUI Ul SUOoues esadw 0) pue ‘yuswiainooid
SOA e Buunp 10BjU0D a|qIss|uIadwy jo suopebsje ajebisaaul pue maiaas 0] ssacold e aaey Ajuoyiny ayj saoQ 6
£10BJU02 S|qissiuuadul Sily) JO SPEL pIodes B Sem ‘SBA )| | eB
imet
aoueuld ajeig au Jo (0L)-6 L uonoag YIm aouepioade ul ‘pouad Buniodes ay) Sulinp Jusweaundold sy} sausnyul
ON 0} pajdwagie 40 Juswainoold & Buunp joejuod ayqissiuuadwy pey Jopusa e Jey) aulualep Ajuoyiny ay) pid ‘g
¢0Y BuifqqoT uswainooid at, ‘me adueuld sjelg ayj Jo (e)(Z)FGE] UoROag Wim sauepiodoe
soA | W “uswainocid oyoads e Uo JoRUDD pazuoyIne sy} Se anies 0} suossed 1o uosiad e ajeubisep Auoyiny aul pid ‘]
£S10B1)U0D JusLiaInooad Jo) suoneoyoads 10 ‘sjuawnaop piq ‘sjesodosd
oN JO UonENDYOS S Ul suoRIqIyoud pue saloljod Juswainoosd sl jo Atewiuns e sjesodiooul Ajoyiny aly ssoq ‘9
SOA 2luswaaisbe uoisnjjoo-uou e ubis 0} suappiq eAnsadsaid esinbal fjuoyiny ey} seoq G
OoN ¢4 50seyand ssauisng Jo/pue [ael} Jo} seakojdwa o} spied ypaso ubisse Auoyiny ay) seog ¥
OoN £50U)jepinb Juswaino0sd oty 0} suondaoxa Joy moj|e Ajluoyiny ay) saod e
SOA ipJeog sy} Aq peacudde pue 'papasu i pepusilue ‘Ajjenuue pamaiasl sauljapinb juawainsold ay) ety Z
§8191j0d-8)e10d102-3pNg/LI00" JusWAD|RASPUBGINOBYNG MMM/ Ay SOA £58uliepinb juawainoosd arey Auoyiny ay) ssoq 'L
(a1geayddy J1) Tan esuodsoy uoygsanp

VIN © 8leq payiuen
a3LLINENSNN sl
0202Z/60/€0  :ojeq uny

6102/1€/Z| :Buipu3 Jea, jeosiy

uoie:odion juswdojeaaq ueqin ojeyng Joj Jodsy juawainsold

68



6¢€ 40 Z sbed

junowy ayy ueyy

uopduosag SS9 S 8NjBA Ja)IBHA

Juswdinba Sujuiel) Jajuag Buiuiel] S0J0BUOAA PUBULON juawaIndoid Jjed ayy Aym ugejdxy
1e3) [e9s)d

sajels pajun Aiunoy 00°629'09% o4 papuadx3 junowy
uoiBiayjesuinoid 00000°L20°}$ junowy

¥ shid onjeA joyJep ey

250V L apoy eysod 6L02/1E/Z) ojeq pu3

AN ajels 8102/L/G ajeq piemy

YHOMNY LSV A pig eapedwo) - oe[uo) Ajuoyiny $58204d plemy
100G BOBUSS 199/ Zouj] ssalppy sol|ddng/sanpowwos) juswiensoid jo adA}
69 X09 'O'd L8u|7 ssaippy "0U| ‘sejeg {BOlUYISL JOJIIN MV SWEN JOpusp 'C
unowy ay} uey)

uopdussaq $597 S| SN[EA JoNJel

108loid ueasipq 1seT LG 40} Juswsbeuel uogonisuon) JUBWBINI0L ajed ey} Aym upejdxy
Jeaj [essly

S8eig paun Anuno) $9'92.9'P61$ Jog papuadx3 junowy
uo|Boy/esuincid 19015 LEVS junowy

¥ snid anjep jexJep Jed

702yl 8po |ejsod 020Z/0E/9 8jeq pu3

AN ojels 610¢/L/8 ojeq piemy

Ov44dnd A9 pig eAnpedwo) - oenuo) Ajuoyiny §5900.d plemy
l-geung Zeuy ssaippy SoUBUBJUIBIN/UONONISUOY) pue ubisa( juswiaInoosd jo adA |

19215 BOSUSS 005 Lau] ssesppy ‘ou| ‘dnolg ¢ awepN JOpUap ‘L

V/N : 81eQ paijiued

a3L1INGNSNN snielg

020Z/60/€0 ‘gleq uny

LitTas P2 LLI SO

69



6¢€ Jo ¢ abeyd

uondjasaq

junowly ey) uetjy
$597 S| anjeA Javen

‘Juawdinba Buiuies) Jejuas Bulllel) S910PHOAL PUBLLON JuUBWBIND0IY J1ed ayy Aym urejdx3
Jea ) [eosid

saels paiun Aiuno ¥80LE'EZS o4 papuadx3 junowy
uo|Bay/aoujroig ¥8°0v6'vrS unowy

¥ shid anjeA Jauen Jjed

#8051 apoJ |eysod 610Z/1E/C) ejeqg pug

vd ajels 810Z/L/6 8jeq plemy

WNLNIFIVL Ao PIg sAnpedwo) - Pesuod Aloyiny $S800.d plemy

Zaur ssaippy selddng/sanipowilo) jusLIaND0Id Jo adf |

SnuaAy pig I1Se3 0zZ¢ Laul ssaippy U} ‘WissAg Jeuoneonpy Aueybe))y SWBN JOPUAA v
junowy ay} uey

uonduosag S597 S| AnjeA (el

-aouensuy Aypgel) pue Auadoud | jagquoN juawaInsoid Jied ay3 Aym ugejdxsy
Jes), [easiy

Sejels pepun Anunog S1'682°0L$ 104 papuadx3 junowy
uojfayj/esujaold 51'682°01% unowy

P snid anjeA Joiep Jed

860¥0 apoJ |eysod 0c0z/02/6 ajeg pu3l

L 9jerg 6102/02/6 2)eq piemy

HOOHELSIM Ao pig aAnyedwoy - Joejuog Auoyiny $5030.d pJemy
Z3Uu|] SSa4ppY. S80IAIeG [BUOISS3)0ld 80 jJuswaInsoid Jo adA ),

0106 X0g 'O'd L9U|] SSAIPPY @oueInsu| BjpedY Swep JOpuap K>

VIN : sieq payiuen

Q3 LLINENSNN
020z/60/€0

'snjelg
:a)eg uny

i

6102/1€/2) :Bulpu Jea [eosid

uoyelodio) Juetudojaaa ueqsn) Ojeyng Joj Loday JUBWIBIND0IY

S BT A b LT Nk | L A G

70



6¢ o ¢ abed

unowy sy} uety)
uopdusseq $597 S| 8NeA Jod el

uswdinbe Bujures; Jajue) Bujuies] e2IOPUOA PUBIYHON juswaInNs0d e ayy Aym upedxz
1ea ) |ess|d

$9181S pajun fAunoy 16°8v6'Les 104 papuadx3 junowy

uojBay/esujroid LE°8v6'L2S junowy

P Snid anjeA JaxJey Jed

¥8E0E 8po |ejsod 610Z/1€/2) ajeq pu3

vO aje1g 6102/Li4 ajeq premy

VINVILY Ao pig eAgedwo) - esuag Auoyiny $5920.d plemy

Zoug ssaippy salddng/sanipowiwos) jJusWBIND0Id Jo odA}

£L1¥20¥ X08 'O'd L @uj7] ssauppy "OU| ‘WwodjoadijuogeIoiNy SWEN JOPUsA ‘9

junowy ay} uey}

uopdj9saq 591 S| anjeA }oiel

‘ueAaia( 1SeT LG Je SeoIAeS uoIjjoweq juswaIN90lg 14 ayy Aym ugejdxg
Jea, [BoS|d

SejElS pPaIuN Anunop 04'680'Lb¥$ Jo 4 pepusdxy junowy

uojBay/esunoid 00°005'G2S$ junowy

¥ snid aN[BA JoNJBW Jjed

Soevl 9po [ejsod 610Z/1E21 ayed pugy

AN ajels 6102/22/L ojeq] piemy

STV VHVOVIN 819 pig aApedwog - 10eJu0D Ajuoyiny $5300.d plemy

Zau|] ssaippy 20UBUSBJUIBI/UOIONIISUOY) PuE ubisag JUBWIAIND0A Jo odA)

pieasinog sied 8pAH | LGt Leu| ssalppy 07 ‘seorusg bupuewsiq@ ofjody SWeN JOpusA 'S

V/N - @jeq psyiyad
a3LlngnsNn SMEelS
0202/60/20 ‘eleg uny

6102/1€/2) :Buipuz Jea) [easly

uonesodio) juswdojaraq uegdn ojeyng Joj Joday JUSWLINd0Id

XD L AL T LR |

i
!

71



6¢€ J0 G abey

junowy ayj uey)
uopdisasaqg §597 S aN[EA J9xep

"OVAH PUBYLON 219 jusuwiainaold 44 oyl Aym ujejdxy
18, [E9S5(]

sejels paun Anunogy 00°LEL'EVS Jog papuedx3 junowy
uojbay/eouiroly 00'06S'8v$ junowy

v snid anjeA 1aye Jjed

1607 L 8po) |eysod 0zoz/iel ajeqg pug

AN sjeig 6102/92/L ejeq piemy

LSHIHNY LSV Ao pig sApaduwio?) - 19eRUOD Aluoyiny S5390.d piemy

Z8u|] ssalppy soueusjuleyy/uoioNIsuo) pue ubisag JUSWIAIND0IY Jo adAy

peoy JIsuel| GG9g L8u7 SSeIppy -ou| ‘Buljoo) B BueaH deuyjieg SWBN JopUsp 8
junowy ayj ueyy

uopdiosag S5 S| anjeA Je)Ie

‘pue|yloN /.G e Aedsip pe ojgndg jusweINdold ifed oy Aym ugejdx3
Jes,, [easij

Sajels pajun Anunop 00'525'2¢$ 404 pepuadx3 junowy
uojBayesupold 00°0S0'St$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA jayiel Jieq

80yl apoJ |ejsod 6102/L1LL ajeq pu3

AN slelg 810Z/EZH ajeqg piemy

0vddng A0 pig eAnnadwoy - J0enuod Aluoyiny $580014 PIEMY

Z8u| Ssalppy B0 JUBWSIND0I Jo adA}

enuaAy ueasja(q 1se3 £62 J8uf] ssaippy 971 ‘woy subissgond SN JOPUIA ‘2

VIN © ejeq payie

a3LLINGNSNN
0202/60/€0

smejg
8leqg uny

6102/1€/2) :Buipus Jea A |easiy

uopesodion) yuswidopaag ueqin ojeyng Joj Noday Juswainoold

[OOSR ) [ e 6 T s A s

72



6¢ Jo 9 abed

jJunowy ay) ueu
‘uopjeoyqnd uopduasag S584 S| anjeA jeyren

ssauisnq Apjeam jeao) e ‘Isii4 sseuisng uj subledwed pe pajabie| JUSWBINI0IH Jie4 ayy Aym uejdxg
1eaj [eas)d

ssierg pajun Aunog 00'565°6%$ o4 papuadxg junowy

uojBay/eouinoiyg unowy

¥ Snid SNEA 1B Jjed

£6909 8poJ jeysod ejeq pu3g

| ae)g ajeq piemy

09OVIIHD Ao 18pI0) 8SBYING/JUBWaIN0.d JOBIJUOYD LUON $$9904d plemy

Zoeu|T ssaippy ByI0 JUBWIBIND0L Jo adA )L

aAlQ JajuaD) sSuo93j0D 9LOY L Laul] ssaJippy js414 ssauisng ojeyng aWeN JOPUIA 0L

junowsy 3y vew

uopduasag S50 S) aNjeA JIeN

“JEIS HANG 404 se1vijod asueinsu) YjjlesH JuswWAINI0Ig Jjeg ay3 Aym ugejdxy
1ea) [edastd

Sejels psiun Anuno) 90'cLZ'7LS log papuadx3 junowy

uo|bay/eoulAcd 90'eL2'v1l$ junowy/

¥ shid anjeA e Jjed

9251 |8poY |ejsod 020g/L/1 sjeqg pu3g

vd ajels 6L02/L/C ajeq plemy

HOYNEs.LLid Ao pig eangedwon - yoenuon Auoyiny §S8001d piemy

99E¥9 Xog Od Zoul ssaJppy SSOIISG |BUOISSAI0Id JSYID juBWaIN90Id Jo odAL

J8JUB7) SS800. JusABH Loul] ssauppy pIeIys anig ssosD anig SWIBN JOPUBA 6

V/N - 8leQ payiue)
dzaL1INansNN sniglg
0202/60/€0 8jeq uny

610z/1€/21 :Buipusg Jea) jedsid

uopelodio)) Jjuswdojarag ueqin ojeyng 4o} Hoday JUsWaINo0ld

Fll s ] B L g Clie ey S

73



6¢€ Jo . abey

junowy ayj uey;

uopdposeq sS37 Sl anjep Joyep

"saifjod saueinsuy Ajigel) pue Apadoad puejyuop pl2 JUsWAINI04g Jeg ey} Aym ugejdx3
Jea) [eds]d

sejejs pajun fyunoy G2°G62'61% 104 papuadx3 junowy
uojbayyeoujroid G.'G6Z'6L$ junowy

v snid anjep Joylep sed

G82¢2 8po) jejsod 0202/8212 ajeq pu3g

YA ojels 610¢2/821 ejeqg plemy

AONOWHOIN A1D pig eAgiadwoy - joenuol Auoyiny $58904d pJemy

00F SUng Zour ssalppy SE0IAIBS [EUDISSBJ0Id JOYIO juswainaold jo adAy

Kemjled juiod Auolg 0Z/8 Laul sselppy ‘07 soueInsuj AuojoD alweN 1o0puap 4}
junowy au uely

uopduosag 5587 S) anjeA JoyJel

‘PUBIYUON Z |9 Je Uonejjejsul Jooy JUaWaINa0lg a4 ayy Aym upepdx3
Jea), [easid

S8)e}g pajun Aiunog 0L'€86'1S 104 papuadxg junowy
uoifioy/eauiaoid 00°0£1'822$ junowy

¥ shid angea JaxyJew Jjed

80ckL apo) |eysod 6102/0€/6 o9jeq pu3j

AN 9jels 2102/2/0) ejeqg plemy

Qv4dng A0 pig aagnadwoy - Jaenuod Aluoyiny $58901d plemy

Zourt ssalppy @oUueLBIUEN/UONONISUOY pue ublseg juswainsold jo adAy

8NUBAY POOMUBIS) HZE |aul] ssaIppy 971 ‘siayjolg winuAg awiep JOpusp o

74

VIN - 8leq payiuaD
a3aLLINaNSNN snieyg
i 0202/60/€0 Sleq uny

610z/1L8/21 :Buipug Jeo) [eosty

uojjesodion) Juswwdojeaaq ueqin ofeyng o} podey Juswainaold

LM LT | S ) AT




6¢ o g abed

Junowly ay) ueyy

uopdysosag 597 S| anjeA JeE

"PUBIYHON Z 19 O} SOIAISS [EDL]O3[S 240)SaY jusweingoly Jfe4 oY) Aym ujejdxg
~Jea), [easid

salelg pajun Aunoy 0£°89¢'96% Jo4 papuadx3 junowuy
uoyfay/eoujrosd 00°206°€8L$ junouy

¥ Snid ange jaxysep ey

[1]%44" apo) jeysod 020¢/ie/L ajeq pug

AN ajelg 810¢/1/9 ojeq plemy

Ovddng Ao pig aagedwoy) - Joeauo) Auoyiny $S820id plemy
ZoUu| ssaIppy @auBUSUIB/UOIIONIISUDY pue ubiseq JuswiaInsoid jo adA}

je84g N3 022 |euj] ssalppy “ouj ‘oujoalg xeyeg e Iopuap b
junowy ayj uey)

uopdussaq $597 S} anjeA Jo3e.

“Jjapjunds PUBjYUON ¥L2L jusweIns0ld 1124 ay) Aym ujejdx3z
Jed) [easiq

saje)s pajiun Anunogy 26°'926'GS 104 papuadx3 junowy
uojBayasusroid 26'926'SS junowy

¥ snid 26'926'S$ anjeA joxiel Jiey

L¥E20 8poy) [eysod ayeq puj

VIN 9jelg 6102/9/9 2je(] plemy

NOLlsOod 1D pig aAedwon-uo - eauod Aoyiny S$S8201d piemy

Zouy] ssalppy esuBUSIUIRIN/UORONIISUDY pue ublseq jusuIaINg0ld Jo adAy

200ZL¥ X0G "O'd Lauj] SSaIppy -ou| ‘Auedwos sepjuidg Jawin sineq aluRN JOPUBA €1

VIN
QaLLNGNSNN
0202/60/€0

: eleq peyHe)
smeg
1aje(] uny

6102/L€/Z1 :Buipuz Jes) jBosly |

uoneiodion juswdojeasq Ueqn ojeyng 10} Loday juslusinoold

75



6€ 10 6 abed

junowy ay3 ueyy
i uopdusseq $607 S} enjeA Jaxien

18CHON Joj pue (Aemol) gog) 11 MmouD Bury| Joj soueinsul Ajige) jeseuss) JUBWBINI0IH 14 ayy Aym ugejdxy
FECNCEE

sajelg pajun Anunogd £8'L6E'BLS 404 pepuadx3 junowy
uojbiay/aoujaoid £8°L6E'8L$ junowy -

¥ snid anjeA e Jed

S1009 9poJ ejsod 020z/82/LL 8jeQg pug

|l ajeg 6102/02/9 ajeq piemy

ai3didy33aa 10 pig saado - peguo) Auoyny S$53301d plemy

Zoul ssalppy SSOISS |BUOISSS)0Id JOYIO juawaInaoid jo adA L

yuoN Aemyied g} Laur] ssaippy Auedwo?) soueINSU| UOJSUBAT WEN JOpUaA ‘9l

junoly syj ueys

R U] uopdusseq $8917 S| an|eA 19MJEN

pue ‘juswasinquial Jje)s 1oefosd PUBULION £89 8U) Joj 98} UoHEASILILPY JuSWAINS0Id Jjed sy Aym ujejdxgy
Jea ) |[edsiq

sale|g pajun Anunogy 25612'86L$ Jod4 papuadxg junoury

uoifay/eouinoiyd junowy

¥ shild anjeA e Jjed

€02yl apo |e1sod 9ajeq pu3

AN jelg 9jeq piemy

Qvding Ao J8pI0) 2SELDING/UBLIBIND0s JORIIUOD UON S530014d plemy

£0¥ aunNs Zau|] ssaIppy saoeg Buyels juswaIN20id §o adAL

jeeng Ausd g6 }9uf] SS3IppPY Asusby uswdojeaaq [euisnpu; Aunod aug BLUEN JOPUBA ‘Sl

S

V/N : @eq payiue)
A3 LLINGNSNN smejg
0202/60/€0 ‘8jleg uny

Rl

610Z/1£/2) :Bulpuz Jea) |eosi]
uonesodion) juswdojpaaq uequn) ofeyng 10} Hoday Juswainoold

AT LA e p k] A LR G

76



6¢ 10 01 9bed

‘uonesgns
{eauloe]e ay) pulyag PUeiYHON #i9 JO 3PIS Yuou aiy) uo Buiouay | eseud junowy 8y ueyj
feuonippy (2) ‘eousy pio sy} JO jeAOWS PUB PEOI S,PUBIYHON 8JePOLLILLIOIoE uopduoseq $S97 S| ANJEA Joey
0} ueA3[a(] 1seT] /£6 Jo Aepunog Yinos ey) Buoje uoiejjeisul eous) maN () jJuswiainsold Jje4 oy} Aym ugejdxzy
1ea) |eos|d
sejels pauun Anunog S92yl log4 pepuadx3 junowy
uojBay/edurold Sr'9Zy'LS junowy
¥ snid anje 1exJep Jed
GOEYL 8poY jeysod 8102/1/01 ajed pu3l
AN aqeLIg 8102/0¢/2 sjeq piemy
STIVd VHVOVIN A pig sapiaduiog - Joepuo) Auoyiny $6900.d piemy
Zou( ssalppy S0UBUS]UIBI/UOIONIISUOY) pue ubisag juswainaoid jo adky
peoy Hodxyo0 /£9Z Leu|T] ssaippy *oU| ‘9ouUs X04 auwieN Jopusp 8l
junowy ayy uew
uopduaseq $837 S) anjeA Joiely
‘| |BQHON 404 Aoyjod @oueINSUI BllRIGIN JusWaINd0Id 1e4 ay) Aym ujejdx3
Jea ) [e9siy
Sejels payun Anuno) 00°020'v01$ 104 papuadx3 junowy
uojBayeoujroig 00'020'v01L$ junotuy
¥ snid anfen janJely Jed
££08Y 8poY |ejsod 120Z/LIL ajeq pu3g
1IN ajels 6102/4/L ajeq piemy
aT3idHiNOS Ao pIg eajedwon - Joequod Auoyiny $S900.g piemy
ZoU|T) ssaippy S9OIAI9S [BUOISSD)0Id JOYIOD juswiaindoid jo adA )
peoy ydesBajal 009z Lau|] ssaJppy eoueinsu} AINdIspy 1S4l aweN Jopusp n

VN - 91eQ psyiue)
a3LLINGNSNN sneg
0202/60/€0 8jeq uny

6L02/1€/Z) :Buipul Jea) eSSl

uonesodion yuswidoeasq] UBGIN Ojeyng 1o} Hoday JusWaINdold |

[T A o S W T8 o) [ o 0 108 8 wu LI O o T N S

77



6€ 10 L1 9bey

Junowy ey} uey

uopdpasag £537 S| SNJeA 1Bl

‘uoe|jeisul A/ Jalus?) Bujulel] S0I0pIOA PUBIYUON £89 juawaINg0ig g ayy Aym ugerdx3
' Jea, [essid

seje)s pejun Anunog £0'GL6'P2LS Jo 4 papusdxg junowy
uojfiayjeoujrosd ZL21e'a6es junowy

v shid anjep JaxJep e

1545 8poJ |eysod 6102/1E/2} 8jeqg pu3

AN ajels 81.02/6/9 ajeq piemy

VANVMVYNOL Ao pig aAgedwog - oequo) Auoyiny 58201 piemy
Zou| ssaIppy souBUSuiEp/UORONLSUDY pue ubisag juawainoold jo adAy

snuany aolead 00} Jauiq] ssaippy '2U| ‘UOHONUSUOY) JUYIBIg Asi4 awepN JOPUaA 0z
Junowy ayj uey)

uopduasag SS9 S| anjeA e

"0 'PUBIYHON £89 PUB DANE 40} S80IIBS Bulinsuod xe) pue pny jusWaINd0ld 1je4 ayp Aym uejdx3
Jea) [easiq

S9)EIS pejun Anunoyp 0£'€92°c8% 104 papuadxg junowy
uojBey/eoulrolg 0c'egz'e8s junoluy

¥ snid Sn{ep 1Me Jjed

292yl 8poJ jeysod 020c/ieie djeq pu3

AN ojers LV02/1E/0} 8jeq piemy

Qv4ddng A1 pig sapadwod - yoenue Auoyiny $56204d piemy

¥p9 1daq Zoul ssaJppy S821ABG [eIDUEBLLY jusWesnaoad jo adA ]

0008 X084 "'O'd lau)}) ssalppy "O'd 'svd doixe peeid awiey Jopuap ‘61

IS —

V/N : 81eQ payiuad
a3aL1INansNn snes
0202/60/£0 ‘|jeq uny

6102/1€/21 :Buipu3 Jea\ jeasld

uopeiodio)) awdojarag uegln ojeyng Jo) Hoday WwsLainoold

R G IR ke 3 i RS L L A R e

78



6¢ 10 Z) abed

junowy ay) uey

uopdposaqg s§a7 s) anjeA JIep

"19)uan) Bujuies) S2I0IOAN PUBJYUON U} JO) Sunjiung jueweIndold Jjed ey Aym ugejdxz
1ea) [eosid

ssleIs paiun Anunog oF’L68'62% o4 pepusdx3 junowy
uojfiay/eoujrold ob' L68'62$ junowy

¥ shid anjeA jojiep Je4

£8080 9poy ejsod 6LOZ/LEZL ajeqg pu3

N ajels 810Z/EC/Y ajeg plemy

NOLTIVIN 19 pig eaiedwo) - oejguog Auoyiny S5920.d piemy
Zou| ssauppy sal|ddng/SallpOWILLIOD JUBWIAIND0I JO adA |

046 X089 ‘O'd joult ssalppy "ou) ‘salisnpuy [eqois) SWeN Jopusp ‘ze
junowly ay) uey)

uopdusseg $597 S} NfEA JONIEl

"PUB|YLION £89 40} || PUE | SOSBY4 JO} S821ABS awabeuew ucRInN)suos juawiaInoold 424 i) Aym ujejdxz
1ea) [edsid

S9JelS papun Anunog §9'261'08F'EES Jog papuadx3 junowy
uo|5a3/a0UIN0Id 9°8L1'0,7'G8$ junowy

¥ snid anfeA e Jied

A4 3poy [e}sod 0Z0Z/LE/E ajeq pu3

AN 8jelg LLOZ/EL/L ajeq piemy

0v4dng 10 pig aAppedwog - Joeiuo) Ajuoyiny $§900.d piemy
Zouf ssasppy saueuajulep/LOnONISUY) pue ubisaq jusuIeINg0.d jo adA L

oeus Auad 62 Jaul] ssaJppy Auedwon Buip|ing aueq)is) SWEN JOPUSA Wz

VIN
a3LLINGNSNN
020z/60/€0

: 9)eq paien
snje)g
:ejeq uny

[ T Rl R R A

610z/1e/Z1 :Buipuz JeaA (eosty

uoneiodion JuswdoeAs UeqIN oleyng 10 Hoday JUSWIaINS0I]

79



6¢ 0 ¢ obed

junowy ay) ueyy

uopdpasaq $607 S| onjeA 1a)Jep

‘Juswdinbs Buiures) 1sjuss Buiutel) S2I0PHOA PUBIUHON JUDBWAIND0SY 4.4 2y} Aym uejdxy
Jea) [easid

Auno) 0r'p0Z'v2s 404 popuadx3 junowy

uoiBay/esuiroig Or'v0Z'v2$ junowy

¥ snid enjeA jolegy Jeq

3poY |eisod 6102Z/0E/6 oyeq puz

ejels 6102/1/2 8]jeQg plemy

Ao pig sannedwiog - Joenuo fuoyiny $89304d piemy

Zaul ssesppy sayddng/sanpouod) juswienaoild jo adA}

peoy sulllemod 0291 Louf ssaIppy 777 seibojouyss} uosybnH Ang SWIEN JOPUdA ‘ve
junowy ay) ueyy

uopdoseq $S87 S| anjeA JojJep

“Juawdinbs Bujues} Jeluas) Bululel] S0IOPUOAN PUBILHON JusWaIN%0sd Jjeg oy Aym ujejdx g
: 1ea), [B9Sl

Anunogy ¥9'406'51$ Jo4 papusdx3 juncwy

uoifayjasujacid ¥9v06'G1$ junowy

¥ snid SNjeA Jaylel Jjed

8po) [ejsod 0202/LE/E ajeq pu3

.S 6102/1/8 ajeqg plemy

L) pig eannaduiog) - Joeljuog Apoyiny $S820id plemMy

ZoUT sSaIppyY seljddng/selpowwo) JusWaINd0ad Jo edh )

965122288 Weg Louj] ssaippy 1ebuiein BWEN J0pusp €2

VIN
QaLLINGNSNN
0202/60/€0

: el payen
smes
ajeq uny

6102/1€/2) :Buipuz Jea, jeosid _
uoneiodion juswdofeas( ueqln ofeung Joj Hoday Jusluainooid

afhd ] Labllgaih

80



6¢ jo p) obed

junowy ayj uey}
uopdposeq 587 S| anjeA J19xen

Wswdinbs Bulules Jsuen Bulules| 22I0PUOA PUBIYLON juswaINg0Lg Jre4 ayj Aym ugejdxg
1B, [e9S{d

S9JEIS payun Anunog §z'ze8'LLS 104 pepuadxy junowy

uoifay/asujrold gZ'eae8'LLe junowy

¥ shid A4 L BN{eA jexey Jiey

0SprL 9po [e)sod 610Z/0E/6 ojeq pug

AN ajels 6102/1/9 ejeq piemy

L¥Od¥Ivd Ao pig eannedwion-ua - jaequon Auoyiny S58901d piemy

Zau|" ssalppy se)ddngy/saiipowiwo?) JUBWaINI0ld Jo 8dA)

peoy pieq 0592 |auj7 ssaippy "dioD) 1001 SUIYOBIN LVINAN JO UOISIIg ‘I8N0 Alojoed seeH SN Jopusp 92

unowy a3 ueyy

uopdiiaseq SS9 S| 8n|eA 19BN

‘sndwed aulieq PUBYLON BUj JO} |EACLIBS MOUS juswianodolg ajed oy Aym urejdxg
NG

sejels pepun Anunoy 29'998'68% Jog pspuadx3 junowy

uojBoy/eouIno.d 00°000'5ZL$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA 19vJep Jed

vievl 8poJ jeIsod 0z0z/oe/y ajeq pu3

AN ajels 610Z/0£/01) ajeq plemy

Ov-4ng Ao pig eAggadwog - 1enuod Awoyiny §S8%0.d psremy

Zou[T ssalppy aoueUS)UIBp/UORONISUOY pue ubiseq juswaInaoid jo adA|

18918 AUOYSOYS 62 Jeuj ssaippy |eaowey moug g Buideaspue] WTH awepN JOpudp -7

/N : 818 peyinen
a3LLINGNSNN snjels
0202/60/€0  :3)eq uny

6102/16/Z) ‘Buipuz 183, (89Sl |

uopelodion jusiidojeaaq ueduf) ofelng Joj Lodey Juswaindold |

81



6€ Jo G| abed

junowy ay} uey
uopduoseqg $S9"] S| NjeA JoNIRY

D71 ‘PUBYHON €89 pPue DN 10} seomss |ebe juswainldolg Jied oy Aym ugejdxy
183 [eds|d

Sejels pajun Anunog 85'959'6¥ZS$ Jog papuadx3 junowy

uojbayaoujrold 8G'9G9'61ZS Junowyy

¥ shid anjeA jeydep Jie4

20kl 8poY |eysod ajeq pu3

AN aes S002/e/L ajeq piemy

o1vddng Ao pig aAnRadwIon-Uop - Joiucsy Auoyiny $S3901d plemy

Zouln ssaippy saoinag [ebe juawainnoid jo adAl

Buiping Aueqri 0ogL Leu|T ssaippy "0'd ‘euld @ ZJwuny Swiep Jopuap ‘82

Junowy ay) ueyy

uopduasaq S8a S} On|ep Jeyen

“Jusiudinba Buuie) Jopue?) Buules} S0I0pHOAL PUBIUYLON juawainoolg Jled ey} Aym ujejdx3
Jea ) [eas|4

SeJeIS pajun Aijuno) 00°065'82$ 104 papuadx3 junowy

uojbayeoujroig 00°065'82$ unowy

¥ snid anjea Jaxylep Jiey

SOEPL 9po) |eisod 6102/0£/6 ajeq pu3

AN .S 6102/1/2 2jeQ plemy

STIVd VHVOVIN [3The] pig eanadwo?) - Joenuos Auoyiny $58901g plemy

Z3u|] SSalppy sayddngyssipowwon JuBWeIN204d jo adAy

peoy podyo0 0259 L8ui] ssaIppy *u| ‘sjonpoid Buussuibu] j[awaH SWEeN JoOpUsp ra

V/N : 8leq payen

82

:Buipuz Jea [eoasid |
QI LLINGNSNN snjels 6102/1e/2) |

0202/60/€0 -ajeq uny uojjelodion) Juswidojeaaq ueqir) ojeyng 104 Jodsy jusiainsoid




6¢ 10 9| abed

junowy ay} uey}
uopduosaq $597 S| enjeA Joxiep

‘puejyHoN £89 ie Juswdinbs jo 6uibbe) pue Aiojusau| JuBWBINA0LY Jjed ayy Aym ujejdxg
Jeay [easid

sejelg pajun Anuno 00°056'01$ 104 pepuadxg junowy

uoifey/eouirosd 00°0S6°0L$ junowy

v shid anjeA jaxyjep Jed

2225l 8poy |ejsod 6102/0£/9 sjeq pu3

vd ajels 6L02/L/4 ajeqg piemy

HOYNGS.L1lid A1 pIg aaedwog - joeguog Auoyiny §S820.1d piemy

00G1 sung Zouy ssalppy SADIAISG {BUOISSBJ0Id JaYID jusiuaindoid jo adA |

J981S XIMUB)S £09 ‘I8jUsn) BJEL) OM] Lauj sseuppy Auedwog jestesddy |eusnpuj aweN JOpUsA 0¢
junowy ayj ueyy

uopduasag §887 S| aN[eA JeNIe

*Aoljod eoueansuy Apsdoud |} |8gIoN juswaunaold afed ayy Aym urejdxg
1ea ) [eDS]4

Sajelg papun Anuno) 9.'8¥9'61% 1o papuadx3 junowy

uoifiay/asuinold 9.°8v9'61L$ junoly

¥ shid anjep 19yep Jieq

19909 8po) |e)sod 020Z/9/v ejeq pu3g

il ajels 6102/9/y sjeq plemy

QOVOIHD 19 pPig eapnedwo) - oenuod Aluoyiny $5800.d plemy

00F 84N Zeul ssalppy S80IAIBG [BLOISSE§O0ld JOYID JUaWaIN20id Jo adA}

}oans S0IUOW "M §ZG Jeuy ssalppy 00 @2UBINSU| UoJUN Sloul]f auwiep Jopusp 62

83

VIN : ejeq petied
QaLLINGNSNN snieyg
020z/60/20 ojeg uny

610Z/1€/Z) Bulpuz Jes ) jeasly

uojjesodion) JuswdojeAsq Ueg. ojeyng 10j Loday jusiuainooid




6¢ 30 /| sbed

junouwy ayj ueyy

uopduasag 5807 Sl anjeA e

‘Juswidinba Buures) ssjus) Buiulel) 92I0PHOAA PUBIULON JuBWIBINI0IY Jje4 ayy Aym ugejdxg
1e9 A [eds]4

S9)EIS paluN Anunog A dA L R4 LA 104 papuadx3 Junowy
uoiBiayesujrold [ARA R 44 junowy

¥ snid anjeA jaxley ey

veorl 8poY [ejsod B6L0Z/LEE) 9jeq pu3

AN ejels 6L0Z/LiC ajeq plemy

H31S3IHI0N A0 pig aARpedwon - yoenuon Aluoyiny SS320.d pJemy

Zour ssalppy sayddng/ssiipowwos juswaINaolg jo adA}

Aemvpied |ewysnpu Aepid ¥ jeul] ssalippy ‘ouj 09 A ddng Buipjaps uosoer SWEN JOPUIA s>
junowy ay3 ueyy

uopdusseq S507 S| anjeA 18N4el

"S80IAI9S Buijespew pupj-u ul Bupnsas UOKNQUILIOD jenuuy juswainsold 4124 8y Aym.ugejdxg
1o, [easly

SajelS palun Ayunop 00'000°02$ o4 papuadxg junowy
uo|Bay/eouinoig unowy

v snid anjeA j1eqJe Jjed

20erl 9poY |e1sod 8jeq pu3

AN ajelg ajeq piemy

O1v4dng Ao 18P0 BSEYIINGAUSWSINDI0IH 19BAUOD LON $S3901d piemy

009 aung Zsuln ssaippy SBDIAIDG [BUOISSB)0Id JBHIQ juswainooid jo adA)

23S8UaL) 1SOM LSZ JauyT ssaippy elebeiN ojeyng Jseau| SWEeN JOpUap "Le

V/N : 81eQ payen
Q3L LINENSNN snieg
0Z0Z/60/0  :oleq uny

6L0Z/1€/2). :Buipuz Jeaj |easly
uogelodion) juswudojaaa(] uegi) ojeung 10} Hoday JUSWBINI0IH

84



6¢ 0 g abed

junowy eyj ueyy

uondoasag §5a1 S| ANJEA e

‘|| 1I9Q4ON 404 saoljod sourINsU Bljaiquin pue Ajjiqel [eleuas) JBWAINS0LH Jied sy} Aym ugejdx3
Jea) [easiy

seje|g pajun Anuno €521 L'028 404 papuedi3 junowy
uolfayfesurold £5°Z11°0Z$ junowy

P shid anjeA 19)Jep Jeq

0EZeT 9poY [e1s0d 020Z/L/L ajeq pu3g

VA ajels 6L02/1/1 2jeq piemy

AONOWHOIY A9 pig eAgadwio] - joequo) Aoyiny $sad0.d piemy

009 aung Zouj ssasppy S80IAJSS |BUDISSaj0ld JOUIO juswaIngold jo edAy

aAu( pue|joH piemp3 LZZg Leuj ssaippy Auedwog) asueINSU| Sjesuy awep JOpUsA e
junowry ay) uey)

uopdioseq $597 S} anjeA joxep

"PUBJYLION Z 1.0 J0} S801AI9s uBisap pue juswabeuew 1aloid JUBWAIND0IY ey ayy Aym ujejdxg
1ea ) [edsld

sajels pajun Aunod 65'SOV'EYS 104 papuadx3 junowy
uojfiayy/eoujrold 65°GOV'EVS Junowy

¥ shid 65°GoP'ErS anjeA jaytep Jied

ZZepl 9poY |esod 020Z/LE/E ajeq pul

AN sjels 2102/1E/S ajeq piemy

0v44ng Ao pig 3AMSAWOD-UON - 1oeNuoD AjuoLiny $S890Jd PIEMY

ZouyT ssaippy aouBUSUlB/UORONISUOY) pue ubised juswaingoid jo adA}

anuaAy uo)buxe 682 L9U|7 sseIppy J08)YolYy ‘ueupy ‘W UsIYleM BlWEN JOPUIA ‘€

V/N - ®1eQ psijiHed
Q3LL1INGNSNN snjeig
0202/60/€0 ‘ejeq uny

PSS LA LS pad ] LR ATCE S 85 O

6L02/1€/2). (Bulpuz JesA jeosty |

uoneiodion) uswdojaaaq ueq.n ojeyng Joy Hodey Juswainoold |

85



6¢€ 10 61 abed

junowy ay3 ueyy

uopduoseq SS97 S| anjeA Jaiep

"PUBIUHON £89 J0} SjoILeA aduBuUSjUIe juawainsold Jed ayy Aym ujejdxg
Jea) [easig

SSJElS pajun Aiunog £2'SPLOLS Jo papuadx3 Junowy
uojBay/eouoid EZ'SPL'9L$ junoluy

¥ snid anfeA jaxyie Jje4

Wrivl 8poY [ejsod 8102/1£/8 8jeq pu3g

AN ajels 6102/92/L ajeg piemy

ITUASNINLS A0 pig aagpadwon - oenuon) Auoyiny S$S3201d plemy

goul ssaippy so|ddng/saipowwos juswaINo0id Jo adA|

934G Uiy 1S9M 109 L8ul ssaippy 191SqaM B quuen SLEN JOpUaA ‘9¢
junowy 8y} uey)

uopdposeg §S3 S1 aN[eA 19el

“Jejuad Buiuiel] 9210PHOAA PUBIUHON BU) 10§ INjUINY 8010 JUBLIBIND0IH dieg ey Aym ugejdx3
183, [eds|d

Sejels pejun Aiunon 00'LOL'ELS Jog papuadx3z junowy
uo|Bay/eouroid 00°102'€1L$ junowy

¥ snid Sn[eA JONE J1ed

02es. 8po) jejsod 6L0z/Le/2) ajeq pug

Xl aers 810z/eeiy ajeqg plemy

SYT1iva LM h) pig eAnadwoy) - Joeijuc ALoyiny $58901d plemy

ZoufT ssalppy sayddng/sanipowiion) juswainsoly jo adAj

0018925702 08 "'0'd 18Uy ssaippy “ouy ‘feuojeussiu| Jebaruy SWIEN JOPUBA "GE

V/N : 8jeq paijiyeQ
daLunansnNn ‘snjels
0202/60/€0 ‘ejeq uny

6102/Le/Z) :6ulpu3 Jee (eosly

uojelodion weludojeas uegln ojeyng Joj poday UBWaINO0Id

Ra A LA e fhed | R BT O et S SR L

86



6€ 10 0Z bed

junowy sy} uey)

-seakojdwa HAng o} uonduaseq $597 S| aN|eA Joyien
saa1j0d souesnsul Alpgesip wis-buol pue ‘ayy wisy dnosb ‘Qeay ‘|lBlueg JUBWBINI0Id dteg ey Aym urejdxy
lesa) |eos)d

S3jels pajun Aunod GE'268'8$ o4 papuadx3 junowy
uo|Bay/eoulroid GE'268'8% junowy

¥ snid anjep jaxyJep ne4q

04161 3poj [eysod 0z02/i/1 ajeq puz

vd aqeg 6102/L/2 ajeq piemy

VIHJ13AV1IHd A9 pig aapedwog - joenuc) Aloyiny $53004d piemy
Zour ssaippy BYI0 juswainsold jo adA

2¥E0-2¥2. %09 "O'd JauyT ssasppy AN j0 Auedwod Ainuuy R &4 ujodury owleN Jopuap ‘8¢
junoty ay) uey

uopdposag $867 8] anjeA J9Jepn

‘Buideospuej sndwed pue|yyoN juaWaINoold Jjedq eyy Aym urejdxg
189, [eosiq

S3jE)g pelun Anunoy 052z2'6% 104 papuadx3 junowy
uojbey/eaulroid 00522'8% junowy

v Snid anjeA 1ax3ie Jed

[445 4" 8poJ [ejsod 6102/0€/1 L 8jeq pugj

AN ajes 610C/0El sjeq plemy

NYOGNVS A0 pig sagedwo) - yoejuo) Aloyiny $808001q plemy

Zoul ssalppy aJuBUBlUIRIN/UORONIISUCY pue ubisag JUBWBINJ0Id J0 adA )

gzo xog ‘O'd Lau| ssaippy “ou| ‘ANM Jo ajejpossy adeospue awieN JOPUSA *I¢

VIN * 8jeq peyiued
GaLLINENSNN ‘snjejg
020¢/60/€0 ‘ojeQg uny

610z/1€/z) ‘Bupug ses | BOSIY |

uopesodiony juswdojsasq ueqn ojeyng Joj Wodey Juawainaoid

ORIy S

87



6¢ jo LZ abed

junowy ayj ueyy

uopdpuasaqg $587 S| an|eA jaydep

‘uoRljowap 3)aJouod Asuabiawse puejyuoN ZLg JUBWIBINDIO0LY Jjed ayl Aym ujejdxy

1e3 ) [eosiy

S9JE)S payun Aiunod 00'059'9% Jo4 popuadx3 junowy

uolBay/aouold 00'059'9$ junouwy

v snid 00'059'9$ anjeA Joyuep Jied

geerl apoy |ejsod 6102/€/L ejed pu3j

AN ajels 6102/LiL sjeg plemy

YOVMO.IMITHO Ao pig aaedwon-Uop - oeiuon Auoyiny §S3001¢d plemy

Z8urT ssalppy SouBUBUIB)/UCHONIISUOY) pue ubisaq jueLsinaold jo adA)

peoy ebnAen 0gs Leul ssasppy *0u| ‘SUCS @ eould [2Q SINOT SWeN Jopuap ‘of

"0G1°L$ JuaWSSasSE SIS {RJUSLILIOIIAUS | 8seyd puejyHoN L2 (€) ‘002'1$ junolly sy} ueyy
JUSLISSBSSE 8)IS [EJUBLLILOIAUS | aseyd Asmol)) 8o¢ (Z) 'sz2°22.° 1868 uopdposag §897 §) an(eA Jaxse
Bunsuco [pluswuoinus | aseyd puejyuoN £89 (1) :of sjoenuod jusuwizinsoid Jfeq a3y} Aym ujejdxg
1ed A [eosld

s9jelg pejuf) Anunop V6'ELL'GELS Jog papuadx3 yunouly

uojfiayeaulnoig v6'ELL'6ELS junowy

v snid anjep jaydep Jjed

6027 | 8poQ [ejsod 9jeq pug

AN sjelg LL0Z/LL/9 ajeq piemy

0O1v44nd Ao plg aAnediuog - joeU0D Auoyiny S5300id plemy

Zouy ssaippy saoinag Bunnsuon jusuIBINg0id Jo adA}

BnuaAy alemelad 069 Laul ssaippy -ou| ‘sissuibug ou aweN JopuoA ‘6

V/N : 8leq payiued
Q3LLINGNSNN smels
0202/60/€0 ‘8leq uny

6102/1€/21 ‘Buipu3 Jea |eosid

uonesodion juswdojaaag] Ueqin ojeyng 104 Hodey JusLiaindosd

Lials g Ay



6¢€ 10 2z afed

junowly oy} uey
uopduossaq 891 ] anjeA 19iepn

*Jejua)) Bulules| S2I0PUOA PUBIUMON BUj} 40} Juawidinbs qeT JUSWAIND0Ld Jred ayy Aym ujerdxy
ICON LR

S8jejg pajun Aunog 11'825'0Z4$ o4 papuedxgy junowy

uojbayaouroid 89'G£0'802$ unowy

¥ snjd an(ep JoxJep ned

GELEY 8poJ [e1sod 0202/\E/E ajeq pu3l

OW aelg 8102/116 ajeq plemy

SINO1 LNIVS Ain Pig eAiadwiog - yenuog Auoyiny §5900.d plemy

Zauj SsaJppy sa|jddng/sanipoluwo) juawaInaold jo adk)

§£9€56 xod 'O'd L8ul] ssaippy Auedwog Addng |ewisnpu) S SwrepN JOpusp R44

junowy ay) uewy

uopduasag §597 S) anjeA joepy

“Juawdinbs Buiues Jsjuss Bujuies | S0I0PUOAN PUBIYLON jusWeInsoiy J1eg ayy Aym ujejdx3
1ea) [easid

Saje)g pauun Anuno) 00086'7L$ 104 papuadx3 junowy

uojBayeoujaoid 00°086'71% junowy

P sn|d an(eA jaxep Jjed

0rL20 8po) |ejsod 6L02/1E/L sjeq pu3

N syels 6102/L/9 ayeq piemy

HONVHE ONO1 1] pig saedwo) - Jpenuo) Ajoyiny §58001d pJemy

€68 xog 'O'd Zeuy ssalppy sa|iddngysapouwuo) jusaINoold jo adk)

BNUBAY SWIOW G6Z Louj ssaippy "oy ‘feuonewssiul VxIN Swiep JOpUaA ‘W

V/N - 8jeq peyjipad
Q3aLLINGNSNN ‘snielg
020c/60/€0 ejeq uny

6102/1€/Z :Bulpul Jeaj |easiy

uoneiodion) Juswdojaae(] UeqIn ofeyng Jof Jodey Jusendold |

89



6¢ 10 £ obeyq

junowy syj uetp

uopduosaq $507 S1 anjeA JeIep

‘| |]o@ON Joj Aonjod saueansul AYjiqe)) [eseuacn) JUBWBLINI0IH Jled ayy Aym ujejdxs
Jea A [essl]

Sajels pajun Anunog 9L '£EC'8L$ Jo4 papuadx3 junowy

uoiBay/eouirold 91'E€2'8L$ junowy

v shid 8njeA jaxuely Jied

090€2 apoQ jejsod 120e/LIL 8jeq pug

YA ajeg 6102/1/1L 8jeq piemy

NITIV NIT1O Ao pig anedwioy - oeuos) Auoyiny §83904d piemy

Zeu|} Ssaippy SBDIAIBG [BLOISSBJ0Id JBLYIO JUBWBIND0Id Jo adA}

Remsiie spoomybiH LZSy Lau| ssaippy ‘00 9duBINSU| {Bx4en SUWEN JOpUBA ‘b

junouly ayj} uey)

‘Auadoud puejypoN Upm pajeisosse Sjsod uopdpoasaq sS87 S} anep Jayiep
J0841p JO Juewasinquial snid saoilas Juswabeuew Aadold |enioenuon JUSWBINI0LG Jjed ayy Aym ugejdxgy
Jea, |eosiy

Sejels panun Aguno) 9Z'9£L'79$ Jo pepuadx3 junowy

uo(bey/esulrold 0000+'60L$ unowy

¥ snid anfep 1aepy Jed

0c0v| 3apay |eysod 0202/1£/2 ajeq pu3z

AN ajels G102/1/8 ajeq pJemy

VIAVLivE Ao pig aApiedwo) - 19eiuoD Ajuoyiny $58901d piemy

Zou| ssaippy S3IIAJBG [BLIOISSSJ0.d JOUIQ juswaIndoid jo adA L

BNUBAY JB)SeAleH 9G J8uj ssaippy *ou) Juewabeueyy osnouepy SwieN JOpusA > 2

V/N : 81eq payiued
Q3LLINGNSNN snjelg
0202/60/€0 aeg uny

6102/1€/Z\ :buipug Jes) eosid

uopeiodio?) juswudojaaa(] Ueqdf) ojeyng Joj Hoday JuaLaINaoId

[T R ST WP RS N S U O B 250 B 3 N 0 R a

920



6¢ JO Py abed

junoly ayj ueyy
uopduoseq $597 S| aNjeA Jely

‘uBisap snewsyos Jyed [eluuajuad JUBLAINDO0L] Jied ay) Aym ujejdxy
Jea ) [e9sld

sejelg payun Ayuno) 11'195'068% o4 papuadx3 junowy

uoifiayjesujnoid 00°000°064°1$ junowy

¥ shid 00°000°082°L$ anjeA e Jied

8€120 apo) jeisod 6L0z/1E/2) 8jeq pug

YIN ayels 6102/8Z/S ajeQ piemy

J9AIIGNYD 819 pig aaedwon-uoN - joesjuo) Auoyiny $58001d piemy

Zoul ssalppy @suBUSjUIBI/LONONISUOY pue ubisag JusWaInNn0l4 Jo adA)

SNUBAY PIOSUOYD LEZ au17 ssalppy ‘o] ‘sejeloossy ybinquesiea uea [seyoIn SWeN JOPUdIA ‘o

junouwly au uey)

uopduiaseq S§S87'S| aNjRA IIEN

Auewdinba Buiuiel} Jejuan) Bujulel | S2IOPUOAA PUBIUHCN JUBWBINIOId Jjeg ayy Aym ugejdxy
"~ Jea, [easid

sajels pajiun Aunog 8L¥8L' LS Jog pepuedx3 junowy

uojBayj/esujrosg 81'v8.L'2% junowy

¥ snid anjeA JoyJep Jied

8v.€1 8po |ejsod LZ0Z/LEC) ajed pul

AN ajels 6102/1/9 oeq piemy

NITYNOD Ao pig eAnpedwog - poeauo Aloyiny sse201d piemy

Z6u( ssaIppy sayddng/sanipouo)d juswiaInNooid Jo adAy

Aemjied ojeiodion awoolg 622 LoulT sselppy -ou| “op Alddng Jos awepN lopuep S5p

21

V/N : 81eQ peuiuad
Q3LLINGNSNN sniels
020Z/60/€0 ‘8leg uny

6102/1€/2) ‘Buipug Jes |eosiy |

uonelodion juswdojsas Ueqin ojeyng 10} Hodey JusWaIN0Id

Il beTajus) A




6¢€ JO 62 abed

junowy ayj uey}
uopyduosagy $S37 8] enjeA Joyel

‘seiuedoid pue|yHoN £89 Jof 921nes seb [einjeN . JuowWeINd0id Jieg oty Aym upejdx3
Jea ) [e2sid

$9jels papun Anuno) 91'90€'0e$ 404 papuedx] junowy
uo|Bayesuirory junowy

¥ shild anjeA 19Jep ey

082S apoy jeysod ajeq pug

vd ajels sjed plemy

HOYNEGSLLid A 13pIQ 9SBLIN4AUSWSINI0.d JOBIUDD UON $S8201d plemy

Zoul ssaippy BYID jusawainsoid jo adAy

geglLie xod 'O'd L2uj ssalppy |an jeuoleN awieN JOpusp 12

junouy ay) ueyy

uopduaseq s537 S| anjeA JojJep

“Aoljod aoueinsu; A)|iqel) SS99Xs | [9QION juswieINd0ig 14 ay3 Aym ujejdx3
Jeaj jeosly

s91e18 pajun Anunoy 0£°6££'6% Jo4 papuadxg yunowy
uojbayesulnoid 0£'6€€'6% junowy

v snid anjeA 9jJep Jied

S1919 epo) jejsod 6102/02/6 sjeq pug

l aels 6102/0Z/€ ajeqg plemy

VI¥MO3d L Th) pig eapnadwoy - Joesjuos) Auoyiny $88201d plemy

Zour] ssaippy S90IAISG JEUOISSDJ0Id 18I0 JuBWaINd0ad jJo odA L

aauQ ybasgpui ‘N 6206 jeur ssaippy Ajepedg 1Y A “0J sourinsu) AopmeH JN SwieN J0puap P14

92

VIN : 8leq payipad
a3LLINGNSNN SMES
0202/60/€0 sleg uny

6102/1€/Z) :Buipuz Jea (eosiy

uojjesodion jusiudojeaaq uequ(] ojeyng 10} poday JUSWAINO0I]

¢
i
I
|




6€ 10 9z abed

junowy ay) ueyy
“Hed enawwo) uopduaseq S5@7 S| anjeA 19el

apisayeT ojeyng pue JOPLIOY PUB|LYLON Jo} 821AIas Ajjin [eouos|g judswainosold 4ed 8y} Aym weydxg
1ea), |easi]

sejelg pajun Ayuno £1°900'88% 104 papuedx3 junowy

uojBayesulnoid unowy

¥ shid anjeA joxiel Jied

10120 9poY [e}sod sjeq pu3g

'N aeig ajeq piemy

MHYMIN Ao 18pI(O 9SeYdINGAUBLIBINI0I] 10BJUOY UON $5990.d plemy

Zau| ssaippy 1BYI0 juswainNa0.d jo adA}

Ziill X089 Od | 9U|T $S3IPPY pHS) jBUOREN SWEN JOPUSA *0g

junotLuy ay) uey

uopdussag §59 8] ONjeA 19NJep

‘UORONUISUOD Bulnp s3s00 desajoym seb puejyUoN £89 FUCTITETLEL YN pe4 ayy Aym ujejdx3
189, |e9s]y

sejelg pejun Ayuno9 ¥ ¥5s'ors o3 pepuadx3 junowy

uojbay/aouinold junowy

¥ snid anjeA ey Jjed

0ges1 9poJ |ejsod ajeq pu3l

vd Sjels ajeq piemy

HOYNSSL1Id Ao 19pIQ) 3SBYOINGAUBWIBIND0I JOBJUOD UON $88904d plemy

Zou| ssalppy BYy0 juswainoo.d jo adA |

0L8L.€ Xog 'O'd Laul ssaippy *OU| ‘$S80IN0SSY [eNnd [BUOKEN BlWEN JOPUBA ‘6F

V/N : 818Q payie
Q3LLINENSNN snjelg
0202/60/20  oleq uny

6102/1€/2) :Bulpuz Jes\ [easld

uonelodion juswdoieasg ueqin ojeyng Joj Hoday JuswaIndold |

SO T i N [RER I SR O s S e

93



6€ jo Lg abed

junowly ay; ueyy
uopdussag $S0"1 §) anjeA e

‘PUBIYLION Z19 1B 3JOM UOIONASUOD |BISUSL) juawendoagd e ey} Aym ugerdx3y
Jea) {easld

SSjelS Psivn Anunog 0c'6.2'8ELS 104 papuadx3 juncwy
uojbay/eouiroig 00'v56'692$ junowy

¥ snid onjeA jaxiel Jied

0Givi 9poY [ersod 0coe/ el sjeqg pu3

AN a(eys 8102/9212 ajeQ piemy

VANVMYNOL A0 pig aagadwon - jJoenuon Auoyiny $5000.d pIemy

Zour ssaippy SoUBUBJUIEYUORINASUCY pue ubiseq JUSWBIND0. Jo adA )

100115 eJebeiy 1se3 9z1 LUl SSaIppyY *ou] "0 uononusuo)) eiebeln JWeN Jopuap 25
Junowy ay3 ueyy

‘| |2qQdop Joy Aoljod asueinsul uopdposeq S837-5| anjeA e
Bj|aIqLun [2I2JaWWod pue 577 moag Buy Joy Aoljod esueinsul ejj@iquin juswaInNgold Jeg sy Aym ujejdx3
Jea ) [eas|d

S2)BlS pajun Anunon £2'926°L% 104 papuadx3 Junowy
uolfoy/asujnoid £1°926'2% junowy

¥ snid anjep 19yJepy Jed

22est 9poY [eysod 0202/82/L ) ayeg pug

vd ajelg 6102/02/9 ajeq pemy

HOHNESL lid A0 pig eagedwo) - 1oe4uo Allioyiny §88304d piemy

Zau|n ssalppy SBIINISG |BUOISSIY0Id JOYIO jusWaINDOoid Jo adA )

anuaay APsqi] 629 Lau ssauppy Ayeioadg | BIA “00) a5UBINSUY] 8l UoUN) [euoneN JwenN JOpuUap LS

VIN : 8leq payieg
aaLLnansNn snjeyg
0Z202/60/€0 ‘@jeqg uny

610zZ/1€/2) Buipuz Jea) [eosid

uofelodio) Juswdoleasq ueq.n ojeyng 10} Joday WBWSIN30IY

L1Coi J AT LA $uB g | A3 L LL A<ty o

94



6€ 10 8Z abed

junowy ayj ueyl
uopduasag $567] §) anjeA Jel

'SJ831Jj0 PUE SIo}P8lIp DANG 4o} Aoljod asueInsy| JUBWBIN00Id Iy ayj} Aym uje|dxgz
Jea) [easid

SelEls Peiun Ayunod 00'128°12% lo4 papusdxgy junowy
uojBeyyasujroid 00'128°'12$ junowy

¥ shid anjeA jaxe Jled4

9/161 apo) |ejsod 6102/LE/C) oyeq pug

vd ajeis 8102/LELL aje( plemy

YIHd13AVlIHd Lin pig eaedwon) - joenuoD AUoyiny $S99014 plemy

Zou|" ssaippy S80IMBG [euolSSajold Jaul) JUBWISIND0I Jo adA}

1S20.Z Xog Od Lauj ssaIppy Auedwon souesnsu) elydispenyd StUeN JOPUSA b6

junowy sy} uey

uopduosaq $5@7 S| aNJEA NI

‘pug|yHonN Z 19 Joj saojnas uonongsuod pue sedas Auosep juswiaunaold Jied e Aym ujejdxs
lea,) |eosid

Sajels pauuf Anunog 60°1ES' LS Jo4 pepuadx3 junowy
uojBayesujroid P£'025'96% unowy

¥ siid anjeA jexylen Jieq

vZevl 9poQ |eysod 610¢2/LE/2L sjeq pu3

AN 8je1s 8L0c/61/2 oje( plemy

O1v3dnd A9 pig sanpadwiog - Joeuo) Auoyiny §5920.1d pJemy

| 8)ng Zouy ssaippy @oUBURJUIBIN/UOONIISUDD pue ubisag JusWIBIND0Id J0 adAL

19301 BO3USG GR0Y LouI") sseJppy 071 ‘sediag uononisuog) adod aUIBN JOpUIA ‘¢S

95

V/N : 918Q Paus)
a3LLINaNSNN snjelg
0Z0Z/60/E0  ‘@leq uny

6102/1€/2) :Bulpu3 Jea) jeasly

uonesodios) juawwdojpAs( Ueqin ojeyng 1oj LModey JUSWAINd0Id

[RAISRL TR BTN GO YRR Lt P N e Ve




6¢€ 10 62 abed

junowy sy uey;

uopduosaq §597 §] anjeA JOUEN

*SJOOIYO pue SI0)0a.Ip Jo) Adljod aoueinsu; Ajjigel} SS8axg JUBLLAINAOIY Jfe4 ey} Aym ujejdxg
1ea), [easid

$3jelg pajun Anunoy 00'6£6°€L$ o4 pepuadx3 junowy
uoiBayjeduinoig 00'6E6°EL$ junowy -

¥ Shid aN[eA jaxepy el

92€0¢€ 3poY jeisod 0Z0Z/LE/C) ajeqg pu3

vo ayelg 6L0Z/LE/C) 8jeg plemy

VANVILY o pig aApiadwo) - 1oenuo) Auoyiny S$S8001d plremy

0081 suUng Zou| ssaippy S80S (BUOISSBJ0Id JaLjO juswiaindold jo adAj

3N peoy Aus4 seded '3 Gv6 Lsur ssesppy "0 Auwapup INSY SWeN JOPUBA ‘9
junowsy ay) ueyp

uopduaseq $597 S| aneA Javepy

‘8injjuiny 8010 ssjua) Bujules] adIOBIOA PUBUHON JudWIND0IY Jjed oy Aym upejdx3
Jes ) |ess|d

S8jels pajiun Anunogy 26'796'LE$ Jog pepuedx3 junowy
uojbay/eourcid 26'796'LES junowy

¥ shid anjeA jexJe| Jjed

[4r443 3poJ [e1sod 6102/0£/6 8jeq pug

AN ejels 6LOZ/V/L 8)eq piemy

0vd4dng A pIg eayyedwoy) - joenuod Auoyiny $8800ud piemy

ZoupT ssaippy se|ddngy/senipowwod) JuUBLWBING04 Jo adA)

Joadig ulpjuesd gLy Leul ssaJippy SJUSLUUOJIAUT 8311 So1uald QWEN JOPUIA ‘GG

V/N : 8leq pajjied

A3ILLINGNSNN SNEIS

0202¢/60/€0 eJeQ uny

610Z/1£/2) Buipul Jea, [ess)y

uofesodion) jusudojans(] ueqdn oleyng Joj Hoday wawsInaold

|

96



6¢ 10 0¢ 9bed

junowy sy} uey;
uopduoseq sseT S| anjeA 19NIey

uswdmnba Jajuas) Bujuiel) SOI0BUOAN PUBILULON JuUaLIeINO0Id e ayy Aym uiejdxgy
1eaj) [eds|d

SSjelS psuun Auno) 29'S6LvES 404 pepuadx3 junowy

uoiBay/eauirold 29°'G61'rES junowy

¥ shid anjep JayJep ned

azZevl 8po) [eisod 020Z/LE/E 8jeq pug

AN S8 6102/L/10) ajeq piemy

VOVMOLIMIIHD f1H pig eApedwion) - joenuo) Auoyiny £5090.d piemy

00v eung Zauj ssaippy sa||ddngy/sanpowo) JuawRINd0Id Jo adAL

peoy ajnqg 08 Loul ssaippy "ouj 'vSN 19x3Y OWeN JOpU3A ‘8¢

unowy ay) uey)

uopduasaq $S87 S} anjeA 19Iel

‘uswidinba Ay Jejuan Bujuies) 8210PHOA PUBIULON JUBWAIN0Lg ile4 ayy Aym ujejdxgy
leaj |eosiy

sejels peuun Auno) 00'982°LES Jo4 papuadxg junowy

uoifiayjeoujrold 00'982°'LES junowy

v shid Bn[eA Jaxep Jjed

SELLL 8po) [ejsod 6L02/1E/2) ojeqg pug

AN 9es 6102/L/6 9jeQq piemy

ATVAONINE VS A1 pig aAnnadwo) - Joequo) AuoLpny S§5890.14 piEMY

Zouj ssaJppy salddng/saipowiio) juswainooid jo adAy

pieAsinog WYIG 58 Leul7 ssalppy "ou| ‘zuopniog S1Y uieN Jopusp ‘28

V/N : ©18q peyien

C3LLINGNSNN snielg
0202/60/€0 9jeq uny

6102/1E/2) -Butpu3 Jea) 1eosly

uonesodio) JuswdoEAaag ueqin ojeyng 1o} Jodey Justuaindld

CEUL T LU STt | @) Jus CRide ey AT

97



6¢ 40 L¢ abed

junowy ayy) ueyl

uopdussag $597 S) anjeA J9yel

‘Jusawdinbs Bulures; Jejuan) Buiules] S2I0PHOA PUBIYLON juaLaINd0Ig are4 oyl Aym uejdxy
1ea) [easiq

S8lelS pajlun Anuno)p 8.°298'8L% 404 papuadx3 unowy
uoiiayjesuinolg 8.'298'8L$ junowy

¥ Shid onjeA jaxep Jed

EL9pL apo) |ejsod 6L0Z/LE/2) jeq puz

AN ojels 6102/Li12 ejeg plemy

H3LSIHOOH L 1) pig aannadwios - 9eNUsD Auoyiny S58301d piemy

Zauf] ssalppy soyddng/senipowwo) JUAWAINT0A JO 8dA}

enuany sbueine gel Leul ssaippy so|fojouyoa | |9ssa0y SwieN JOpusp ‘09
junowyy sy} uewy)

uopdussaq SS9 S| aNjeA JorIel

"Sjuswancidul Joualxa puejyMoN Z19 JUsWAIND0Lg 1ed ayj Aym urejdxy
Jee, [BoS|q

SalElg paun Anunog 05'671'0LES 104 papuadxg junowy
uoibeyesuirolg 00'202'g0e$ junowy

¥ 8hid eNjeA el Jjed

oleyl apa) jejsod 020Z/1E/) ajeq pu3

AN aels 6102/Ee/L ojeQ plemy

Qvddng 1% pig eAnpedwor) - yoesuon) Aoyiny S532014 plemy

0G| eNng Zou) ssalppy ouBUBJUIBIN/UOIIONISUOY pue ubiseg JusaWaINJ0Id Jo adA]

joalg 2oaUag 002 Lauy] ssaippy *ou| ‘dnolg) uoyodnsuc) zenblupoy SwIeN J0pUdA ‘6S

98

V/N : 81eQ paiiuad
a3LLNGNSNN snigjg
0202/60/£0 :ajeq uny

6102/1€/2L :Buipu3 JesA |essiy |

uopjeiodion) jualudojaneq ueqin ojeyng Jo} Hoday Juawaindoid

IR SR T IR S N A S O 0 Tl B f ST [




6¢€ 40 Zg abed

: junowy ey} uey)
uopduosag §597 S| OnjeA 1N

*190f04d JOpLIOT) pUeYLION 10} Sao1AIBs Bunasep jusIeNsold Jed oy Aym ujejdxy
1ea) jedsid

Selels peyun Anuno) 00°GEL'6LS Jo pspuadxy junowy

uo|Bay/esuiroid 00°000'¥2$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA 1eyJep Jes

8021 8pa) |e1sod 8jeq pug

AN AEIs S10g/L/E ajeQ piemy

Ov44dnd A0 pIg eApsedwo) - pesuog Auoyiny $$820.d piemy

Zou| ssaippy saonueg Bunsuon jusLIaINo0l Jo adh)

J9a4g eonn ise3 ¥eg |8ul7 ssalppy dnoug Buynsuog PHOM Paag pIelSniy/CIYM eipues SleN JOpuaA 29

junowy sy uey)

uopduoseq s887 SI anjep Jaue|

‘PUBIYLON £89 Je || 9SBYd pue | aseld Joy Bunss) uogonisuod) JUSWAINI0IY Jreg oy Aym ujejdx3
1ea) [eos]4

Sajels pajun Anunog G IE0'LPS Jo4 papuadx3 Junowy

uoifiay/aourold G180 LY$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA joydep Jjeq

Si0vL apo) |eysod 0202/1/€ ajeq pul

AN g 2102/82/6 ejeq piemy

SHNanvH A9 pig aaadwio) - eiuo) Auoyiny $89204d piemy

Zou|] ssaJppy @ouBUSUIE/UORONNSUDY) pue ubiseq JUBWDIN004 JO adA)

SNUBAY Jed Uinog 2915 | euj7] ssalppy "Ou| ‘sednes ars QWEN JOPUBA ‘L9

V/N : 8leq paiued
aQ3aLLINGNSNN ‘snjelg
0202/60/€0 ‘eleg uny

6102/1€/2) :Buipuz Jea, (eosi4

uoneiodion yusLudojaaa(] uequn ojeyng 1o} Hodey JusLainNoid

c 30 I DRGNS O I e O e

29



6¢ 40 £¢ abed

junouty sy ueys

“ed uopduosaq s887 S| anjeA J9RN

a0IawwoY apisaye ojeyng Je sadiuas Buwmojdmous pue Buidesspue] jusWwiAINS0Ld Jje4 ayy Aym ujejdx3
129, [eosid

sejels pajun Aunogy 16 1%9'0v$ 104 papuadx3 junoty
uoBeyeauiroid 00'€Z6'0v% junowy

¥ siid aneA jaxsel Jied

22l¥1 apoY jeysod 0202/1E/01 ojeg pug

AN ajejs 21022/ ajeq piemy

MHHvd QHYHIHO Ao pig sApedwo? - 19U Aluouiny §S2890.1d plemy
ZouyT ssaIppy aouBUsUlEp/UORONASUOY pue ubiseqg juswainsold jo adAy

peoy JSXenY "M ELF9 LBu|"} SSAIppY *0u| 'S80IABG [eUOSEaS YL SWEN JOPUSA »9
junoluy ay) ueyy

uopdusseqg $507 S| ONJeA 1334EN

‘uonejeIsul Juswdinbs puejyUON £§9 WBWAIN0. Jjed o Aym ufejdx3
1Ba) [easid

Sajels papun Anunop 0g°28v'8$ Jog pepuadx3 junowy
uolbay/aoumold 09°28v'8$ junowry

¥ snid anjep 19yep Jied

yr454" 9po |ejsod 6102/02/9 ajeqg pu3

AN NALIS 610Z/62/1 ajeq piemy

Huvd HvHOHO A pig aAygadwon - Joenuod Ajuoyiny $59904d pJemy
Zouj ssalppy 8oUBUBIUIE/UONINJSLIOY) pue ubisag juawainsold jo adA L

peoy ElwolED OF.LE Louy] ssalppy JUJ08| JljeoUoWIS SweN JOPUIA "9

VIN : 81eq payiiad
Q3 LLINGNSNN :SNielg
0202/60/€0 :aleq uny

610z/1€/z} :Bulpu3 Jea, (edsid

uonelodion welidojaaa(] Ueqif) ofelng 1o} Hoday JusWaindoid

CECE P ET LR FEFT D gl

|
|
|

100



6¢ J0 pg abed

Junowy ayj uey
uopdpasag SS07 S| enjeA Ja)Ien

‘qeyail JOOoj) PUBIYLON 219 juswaINo0ad J1e4 ay) Aym ugejdxzy

1ea) [eos|d

sajelg pajun Aunoy 00°002°69% 104 papuadxg Junowy

uoyfieyyjeauirold 00'002'G9$ junowy

¥ shid 00'000°04$ SnjeA jaxiel Jed

Leerl 9pay [ejsod 6L0Z/LE/2H ejeqd pug

AN ejelg 6102/S2/9 8jeq piemy

ITHASAVITIM Ao pig eAedwog-uoN - oenuo) Awoyny $S330.4d plemy

Zoau|] ssaJppy QoUBUSIUIEN/UORONNSUOY pue ublsaq JuUBWaIN204d Jo adk |

L0G xogd 'O'd youln ssalppy Auedwo) VPN YL SLWEN JOPUSA ‘99

junowy ay) uey

*oueInsuy uojesuadwon SISHIONN pue uonduonsag SS07 S| anjeA jexiely
‘(Anige) ‘one ‘Auedoud) sbexoed |elolewicd ‘@auBINSY; gjjJqwin 5anNg juawainosold djeg ayy Aym ujejdxy
1ea) jess|d

Sejelg panun Asunog 95'2/8'8LS o4 pepuedx3 junowy

uojbey/adulrcid 95°2/88L$ junowy

¥ snid anjeA joyJep Jed

99¢25. 28poy jejsod 6L02/LE/2) sjeq pu3

X1 ajels BLOZ/LENC) ajeq piemy

sv1va L b) pig sApyadwog - jenuod Auoyny $S3201d pilemy

Zoul ssalppy SO2IAISS |BUDISSS)0Id JBYI0 juswWwaINo0.d jo adAL

916099 Xog8 "O'd L8ul ssalppy @0UBINSU} pIOjURH Sy L BWeN JOPUBA '59

V/N : 818Q payiues
Qa1 LINGNSNN snjeis
020Z/60/20  :ejequny

610Z/1€/21 Buipul Jeax [edsid |

uopelodio?) sLudojaasg UG ojeyng Joj Joday Jusiueinaold

Ld S R R Ca P g ) B L) L0 G g 5

101



6¢ Jo ¢ abeyd

junowy ey} ueyy
uopduassaq $598 S) anjeA 19)ey

'SOUBLIS)UIBLU JOOJ PUB|UUON Z19 uBWAIN30Id Jjed ay) Aym ugejdxg
ICCINCELE

sejelg pajun Anunop 00'022'2$ Jo4 papuadxy junowy

uojBayeouiroly 00°022°2$ junowy

¥ snid 00'0ZZ'2$ anjep jeylen Je4

£l 8poQ |e)sod 6102/0€/L) 8jeq pu3y

AN - 8jelg 6L0Z/5LIE ajeq piemy.

YANYMVYNOL g pig eAgnedioy-uoN - joenuo) Auoyiny §5820id pJemy

Zoau| ssaippy 8ouBUBJUIBpN/UCHONIISUCD) pue ubisag juswaindoid jo adK}

BALQ POOMYHON Ot |8ur] SsaIppy Buyooy oo A1y SWeN J0puUdp ‘89

junowy oy} uey)

uopduosag §597 S} ANJEA JONIep

Juaidinba Buiulel) Jejus) Buluies | 310PUIOAN PUBYHON judwaindold drey ayy Aym ugejdx3
iea [essid

sejels pshun Anunog LE'EV6'GZS o4 papuadx3 junowy

uoiBay/eouiroly - LE'EVE'GZS junowy

¥ shid SNjeA Jaxlel Jjed

€087 1 apo) (eisod 610Z/1E/2) 8jeQ pug

AN ajels 6102/11L 8jeq piemy

NOILVLS d3x41v Ao pig eaadwoy) - joeauo) ALoyiny S$53901d plemy

Zau)] ssaippy sayddng/sanipowiuo)) juswiaiNaoid jo adA |

¥ eInoy ££8 Leuy ssalppy "ou| ‘umouasuLL owieN JOPUBA "19

V/N : 8)eQ psuia)

a3LLINENSNN
0202/60/€0

snjeys
:8jeq uny

610Z/1L€/Z) :Buipu3 tes ) jeasiy |

uonelodio?) Juswdojaasg ueqn ojeyng J1oj Hoday Juswiaindoid A
ki

L

PRl B B WO I (L U o TP O e A S

102



6¢ J0 9¢ abed

Junowy ey} ueyj
uonduasaq €897 S| aN|eA e

"PUBYHON Z 1.9 e walsAs sepuuds JBWBINT0IY e ayy Aym urejdxgy
Jea ) jessid

SOJEIS pajun Aunog 00'0L1'25$ 104 pspuedx3 junowy

uojBay/eaujrold 00°Z8€'¥9$ junowy

¥ shid INjeA I9dJel Jled

pA%4 43 3poY [e3sod 0z20z/1e/e ajeq pu3

AN osjelg 6102/12/8 ajeq plemy

O1v4d4nd L Th) pig eApadwog - joesuo) Awoyny $$630.1d plemy

Zau| ssaippy souBUBUIBI/UOIONISUOY pue ubisaq JUBWIAIN00I jo adA}

peoy slemeidoq £9€ Laul" ssaippy ‘0Uj 9IRS Japjulds 1BoA SWIepN J0pusp 0L

junowy sy uet

uopduasag §597 S| SNEA JoxJely

Juswdinbe Buuie. Jejuen) Buluiel] S0JOPHOA PUBYUON JUBLWBINI0IY Jre4 auyy Aym ujegdxg
Jee A |easid

sajelg psuun Anunop 2188828 log papuedx3 junowy

uojbay/eaujrold ZL8e8'LS junowy

¥ snid an|eA JoyJep Jed

08909 apo) |e)sod 6102/LE/C) 8jeq pu3a

] ajels 6102/1/9 ajeq piemy

09VIIHD Ao pig saiedwo) - enue) Auoyiny SS800.4 plemy

Zoaul] ssaippy sayddng/sapipowiwod JUBWIAIND0L JO adA ]

L1288 X0d ‘O'd Jeuj ssaippy auln awieN Jopudp '69

V/N : ejeq payliely
aalLHnNgnsNn
0202/60/€0

sneg
:81eQ UNY

6L0zZ/1€/zZ) :Bulpug es ) (eosly

i
uonesodion) Juewdoleaaq UeqIN oleyng 10} Loday Juawensold |

103



6¢ Jo L¢ abed

104

junoiy ayj uey)
uopdussag S897 §] aN[eA Josely

‘sjoelold JopiuoD pUBHON SNONEA 10§ SadiAlas Buussulbua pue ubiseq JuaWaIN30.d Jjey ay) Aym ujeidxy
Jea ) [eosig

sajelg pajun Anuno) L1°226'20'L$ o4 papuadx3 junowy

uoiBay/eouinold 00'ZFE'790'C$ junowy

¥ shid an|eA Janiep Jied

€0zl 8po |ejsod ojeq pu3l

AN qels 9L0Z/6L1r ajeq piemy

Ovddng Ao pig sApedwo) - jJoBAU0D Aluoyiny $59201d piemy

00¢€ 8ing 28Ul SsaIppy @ouBUdULRI/UORONIISUDD pue ubisag juswesnsoid jo adA

Jeang Ausd G |8u|q ssalppy Buusauibuz @ anoa)IYaly SHEM SWeN JOpuap 'zl

junowy ayj ueu

uogdpasag $567 S1 onfeA JoIe

“}IOM AIUOSEW PUB MOPUIM PUBJULION Z19 jusWIAIND0.Y 1je4 ayy Aym ujejdx3
Jea) [edsiy

S8Jels pepun Anunog 59'980'¥82$ 404 papuadxg junowy

uojBeyjesuinoid 68'8EE6LSS junowy

¥ shid anjeA JosJep Jjes

9levri apo) jeysod 0202/LE/C eyeq pu3j

AN ajers 810¢/1/8 ajeq piemy

Olvddng Ao pig aAnedwa) - Joeauo Ajoyiny $S3001d plemy

Zoul ssalppy SoUBUBJUIBIN/UOIONISUCD pue ubiseg jusWaINd0sd jo adAy

18IS E|98H 61 leuy ssaippy sse|9 @ Wied MM BWeN JOpusp ‘1L

; . . -

VIN : 81eq payue)
a3 LLINGNSNN snjeg
020Z/60/£0  @veq uny

610Z/16/Z | :Buipug Jeaj |eosly

uopeiodion EwEno_?mn_ ueqin ojeyng Jo} Loday Juewsindold

LLAD 360 el LICas |15 L e jnd | EALainaanohe




6¢ 10 g¢ abed

junowy sy} ueyy
uopdussag $597 S| ONJEA JONIe

"PUBIUHON Z 1.9 104 siom Buiquinid BwaINsold Jje4 ayy Aym ujejdxsg
Jea ) 1eosid

sajelg pajun Anunop 00°992401$ Jo4 papuadx3 Junowy
uo|BeY/@3UIACId 00°008'GELS junowy

¥ shid anjeA e Jied

ocerl 8po) [e}sod 0202/1E/1 ajeq puz

AN ajers 810¢2/1/L ajeq piemy

0vddng 31h) pig eApnadwog - joenuo) Awoyiny $59201d pJemy

Zou|T ssauppy SouBUSUIBK/UORONIISUOY pue ubisaqg jusWIaIND0I JO adA}

SNUBAY led YInog GLL| | 8u[" ssalppy 07171 Buiquunid yoduiz BUIBN JOpUsp R/
junoury ay} ueyy

uonduosaq SS9 S| ON|BA J9MJel

-aoueblip enp joafoid yed [eluusiuan JUBWBIN30Ld J1e4 ey Ay ujejdxy
1e3), [eds|d

SOJEIS pajun Anunog 22 180'9.$ 10 pepusdx3 junowy
uojbayjesuinoid 00°000°6¥2$ junowy

¥ shid 00°000°6¥2$ anjeA el Jed

[F44 45 9poy |eysod 0Z0Z/1E/2) ajed pug

AN a}es 6102/82/S ojeg piemy

Ovadng Ao pig aaedwon-uoN - Joeiuod ALouyny $808901d piemy

00z sung Zou| sselppy @ouBUsjuIBj/UOlONIISUOY) pue ubisaq jusWaINa0id jo adA}

peoy Aefss3 gz¢ paul ssalppy |opuep awieN Jopusp KA

VIN : @1eq payiue)

daLLnNansNn

snjelg

105

! 0Z0Z/60/S0  :aleq uny

LU AT LIS fAd ) R LT R D e




6€ 0 6¢ obed

STISWIWGY [EUSHPPY
junowy oy} uey}
uopduosag §597 S} onjeA Joxyen
“8ouRINSU| AJljiqel| Jueus) Jo1Sew pue|ypoN £89 JudWIN01d Jieg ayy Aym ugejdx3
1B3) [e9s)y
S8jels pajun Aaunop 00'862'L1$ Jog papuadx3 unowy
uoiBayyeoulnoid 00'86Z'LL$ junowy
¥ shid anjep JoRsey e
96109 spoy |ejsod 6102/01/6 ejeq pug
il ajels 8102/0L/6 9jeq piemy
OYNINNYHIS Ao pig aaadwog - yoesuog Auoyiny $58301d piemy
Zouy ssaIppy PBYI0 JuBWBINI0I Jo adA ]
ABp YounZ 66Z1L L8u| ssaippy uoiesodio]) uedusWwY Yyounz auIeN J0pusp 6l

V/N : 8eq payiied
a3aLiINansNN smeg
020c/e0/c0 |leg uny

6L0Z/LE/ZL :Buipul Jee) |eosly

uopelodioy juswdojereq ueqi) ojeyng Joj Hoday JUSLWAINd0

106



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone:  716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: huffalourbandevelopment.com

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Item 3.2

MEMORANDUM

TO: Buffalo Urban Development Corporation Board of Directors
FROM: Dennis Penman, Audit & Finance Chair & Mollie Profic, Treasurer
SUBJECT: Audit & Finance Committee Report

DATE: March 31, 2020

At the Audit & Finance Committce Mecting on March 19, 2020 the Committee reviewed the
following items for Board consideration or action.

Item 3.2.1 is the 2019 Audited Financial Statements for 683 Northland Master Ténant, LLC.
Freed Maxick representatives and Mollie Profic gave a detailed presentation of the Statements to the
Committee. This document is presented to the Board for your information only.

Item 3.2.2 is the 2019 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for BUDC. Freed Maxick
representatives and Mollie Profic gave a detailed presentation of the Statements to the Committee. The
Committee recommends that the Board approve the 2019 Audited Financial Statements.

Item 3.2.3 is the 2019 Audited Financial Statements for the Buffalo Brownficlds Redevelopment
Fund (BBRF) and is provided for your information only.

Item 3.2.4 is the 2019 Investment Report, which provides a summary of BUDC’s investment
activity in 2019. The Committec recommends that the Board approve the 2019 Investment Report.

Item 3.2.5 is the Investment and Deposit Policy. The Committee recommends the re-adoption of
this document.

Item 3.2.6 is the memorandum requesting reimbursement of brownfield expenses for 2019. The
Committee recommends that the Board approve the reimbursement of brownfield expenses related to
Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park, Riverbend, Northland, and 308 Crowley Strect from the Buffalo
Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (BBRF) in the amount of $ 450,078.

In addition, the Audit & Finance Committee has reviewed the following items that do not require
Board action:

Audit & Finance Committee Self-Evaluation

Audit & Finance Committee Charter Review

Audit & Finance Committee Training Document

2019 Property Report

Review of the Regionally Significant Project Fund Recap
Review of Project Funding Sources

Review of the BBRP/BUDC Loan Program Recap
Management’s Assessment of Internal Controls

Hon. Byton W. Brown, Board Chair » Dennis Penman, Vice Chair « Peter M. Cammarata, President « David A. Stebbins, Exceutive Vice President » Brandye Merriweather, Vice President
Mollie Profic, Treasurer » Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer « Kevin J, Zanner, Secretary iiem

107



ITEM 3.2.1

REPORT TO THE MANAGING MEMBER

683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

DECEMBER 31, 2019

108



Trust earned.

= FreedMaxick®

March 18, 2020

To the Managing Member of

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
(A Limited Liability Company)

95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

Dear Managing Member:

We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
{the Company) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019. This report summarizes certain matters required by
professional standards to be communicated to you in your oversight responsibifity for 683 Northfand Master Tenant, LLC's
financial reporting process.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Managing Member and management and is not intended to
be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions
you have about this report. We appreciate the opportunity to continue to be of service to 683 Northiand Master Tenant, LLC.

Flad Mapwr CHs, /C.

109



Contents

Required COMMUNICALIONS ....oveevucereerinsrecseni e ecss st sttt bbb s b s bbb s 3-5
Summary of Recorded Audit AQJUSIMENTS.......ccciieercerc s 6
Exhibit A - Letter Communicating Control Deficiencies in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting ............c.oc...... 7-8
Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management and Our FifM......oininocmonn, 9

Engagement Letter

Representation Letter

(& FreedMaxickees .

110



Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With Governance)
require the auditor fo promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance.
Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit as
well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee the financial
reporting process.

Area_ Comments

Our Responsibilities With Regard  Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United

to the Financial Statement Audit  States of America have been described to you in our arrangement letter dated
February 6, 2020. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve
management or those charged with governance of their responsibilities, which are
also described in that letter,

Overview of the Planned Scope We have issued a separate communication dated February 6, 2020 regarding the

and Timing of the Financial planned scope and timing of our audit and identified significant risks.

Statement Audit

Accounting Policies and Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices

Practices Under generally accepted accounting principles, in certain circumstances,

management may select among alternative accounting practices. In our view, in
such circumstances, management has selected the preferable accounting practice.

Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies

Management has the ultimate responsibility for the appropriateness of the
accounting policies used by the Company. Following is a description of significant
accounting policies or their application that were either initially selected or changed
during the year:

e In 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606). The new revenue recognition standard outlines a
comprehensive model for companies to use in accounting for revenue
arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current
revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The
standard must be applied retrospectively to each period presented oras a
cumulative-effect adjusiment as of the date of adoption. The Company
adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2019
Management evaluated the impact of this ASU and determined that there
was not a significant impact on the financial statements.

e In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash
Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash. The new restricted cash standard
requires that amounts genetally described as restricted cash and resfricted
cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown
on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented. The Company has implemented
the standard for the year ended December 31, 2019,

& FreedMaxickeess e

111



Area

Comments

Accounting Policies and
Practices (Continued)

Basis of Accounting

Audit Adjustments

Uncorrected Misstatements

Disagreements With Management

Consultations With Other
Accountants

Significant issues Discussed
With Management

Significant Difficulties
Encountered in Performing the
Audit

Letter Communicating Control
Deficiencies in Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

» In 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU
supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required fo recognize lease assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12
months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expenses recognition in the income
statements. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2020.

Significant or Unusual Transactions

We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions or significant accounting
policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus.

Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements
and are based upon management's current judgement. The process used by
management encompasses their knowledge and experience about past and current
events and certain assumptions about future events. There were no material
estimates included in the financial statements.

The financial statements were prepared on the assumption that the Company will
continue as a going concem.

Audit adjustments, other than those that are clearly trivial, proposed by us and
recorded by 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC are shown in the attached
“Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments.”

We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other than misstatements that
are clearly trivial.

We encountered no disagreements with management over the application of
significant accounting principles, the basis for management's judgments on any
significant matters, the scope of the audit, or significant disclosures to be included
in the financial statements.

We are not aware of any consultations management had with other accountants
about accounting or auditing matters.

No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed or the subject of
correspondence with management.

We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management during
the audit.

We have separately communicated the control deficiencies in internal control over
financial reporting identified during our audit of the financial statements, and this
communication is attached as Exhibit A.

e FfeedMaXiCkEPAs,P.c.

112



Area Comments

Significant Written Copies of significant written communications between our firm and the management
Communications Befween of the Company, including the representation letter to be provided fo us by
Management and Our Firm management, are attached as Exhibit B.

(@ FreedMVlaxickemere

113



683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
Year End: December 31, 2019
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments

Number Date Name Account No Debit Credit
1 12/31/2019  Accounts Receivable 1200.000 45,995
1 12/31/2019 Rent Revenue - BMW 5003.000 45,995

To properly record the straight line of rental revenue related
to Buffalo Manufacturing Works sublease.

2 12/31/2019  Distributions 3000.000 105,026
2 12/31/2019  Accrued Priority Return 2011.000 105,026

To accrue for the priority return payable for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

3 12/31/201¢  Legal Expense 6100.000 20,845

3 12/31/2019 Insurance Expense 6120.000 33,000

3 12/31/2019  Building Maintenance Expense 6200.000 4,148

3 12/31/2019  Utilities Expense . 6210.000 24,434

3 12/31/2019  Due to 683 Northland, LLC 2009.000 82,427
To properly record operational expenses that were incorrectly
captured on the Landlord entity.

4 12/31/2019  Accounts Receivable 1200.000 288,000

4 12/31/2018  Deferred Rent Liability - NWTC 2601.000 288,000

To accrue for the priority return payable for the year
ended December 31, 2019.

£ FreedMaxicKzeas ec.

114



Trust earned.

& FreedMaxick’

Exhibit A - Letter Communicating Control Deficiencies in Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting

To Managing Member and Management
683 Northiand Master Tenant, LLC
Buffalo, NY

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (the Company) as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, we considered the Company's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed
to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Therefore, material weaknesses may exist
that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider
to be material weaknesses.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely
basis. A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control necessary fo meet the control objective is missing, or (b) an existing
control is not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A
deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does not operate as designed or when the person performing
the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control effectively.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected,
on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiency in the Company’s internal control to be a material weakness:

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Following are descriptions of other identified deficiencies in internal control that we determined did not constitute significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses:

Landlord and Master Tenant Transactions

Throughout our audit, we noted several transactions that were not recorded on the proper entity. The master lease
agreement (MLA) governs the Landlord and Master Tenant structure and specifies what entity records certain transactions.
Under the MLA, all operating expenses including insurance, legal, repairs and maintenance and utilities are to be recorded
on the Master Tenant entity. Management should implement a process o assess the MLA and ensure activity is reflected
on the books and records of the proper entity.

115



Management Response:

Management has implemented policies and procedures to review and analyze the Master Lease Agreement to ensure
transactions are recorded on the proper entity moving forward.

Recording Rental Revenue in Accordance with U.S. GAAP

During testing of revenues, we noted rental revenue was not being recognized properly on a straight-line basis over the life
of the lease for Buffalo Manufacturing Works. In order to be in compliance with U.S. GAAP, rental agreements with escalating
rent should recognize revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease agreement. Management implement a
process to assess all agreements entered into and ensure transactions are being recorded in compliance with U.S. GAAP.

Management Response:

Management has implemented procedures surroundings any new sublease agreements to determine the proper recording
of rental revenue under U.S. GAAP. Further, management will recognize revenue on a straight-line basis for all subleases
currently in effect.

Accrued Priority Return

During our review of the Company's restated and amended operating agreement, we noted the priority retum related to the
investor member should be accrued for on an annual basis. No such accrual was made. Management should evaluate and
record the priority return payable as defined by the restated and amended operating agreement on a yearly basis.

Management Response:

Management has implemented procedures to ensure the recordihg of the accrued priority return as defined by the restated
and amended operating agreement.

This communication is intended solely for the information and use of management, the managing member and is not
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Flad Mapok %, /C.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020

(& FreedMaxickeeas.ec.

116



Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management
and Our Firm

Engagement Letter — previously furnished
Representation Letter — see attached

(D FreedMlaxickemsrc

117



683 Northland Master Tenant, LI.C

March 13, 2020

Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C.
900 Liberty Building

424 Main Street

Buffalo, NY 14202

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audits of the financial statements of 683 Northland
Master Tenant, LLC (the Company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
related statements of operations and changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and
the related notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the financial
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

We confirm, to the best of our knowiedge and belief, that as of the date of the auditor’s report:
Financlal Statements

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit arrangement letter dated February 6,
2020, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements referred to above in accordance
with U.S. GAAP.

2. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to
prevent and detect fraud.

4. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value,
are reasonable and reflect our judgment based on our knowledge and experience about past and current
events, and our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we expect to take.

5. Related-party transactions, including those with other organizations for which the nature and significance of
their relationship with the company are such that exclusion would cause the reporting of the company’s financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete, including accounts receivable and payable, sale and purchase
transactions, leasing and shared-service arrangements, have been recorded in accordance with the economic
substance of the transaction and appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the
requirements of the U.S. GAAP.

6. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements, and for which U.S. GAAP requires adjustment
or disclosure, have been adjusted or disclosed.

7. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.

8. The following specific representation has been drafted for when accounting services (such as maintaining
depreciation schedules, computing the provision for income taxes, drafting the financial statements,
assessing the impact of new accounting standards) have been performed as part of the audit:

With respect to services performed in the course of the audit:

118



a. \We have made all management decisions and performed all management functions;
b. We assigned an appropriate individual to oversee the services;

c. We evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed, and made an informed judgment
on the resulis of the services performed;

d. We have accepted responsibility for the results of the services; and
e. We have accepted responsibility for all significant judgments and decisions that were made.

9. We have no direct or indirect, legal or moral obligation for any debt of any organization, public or private that
is not disclosed in the financial statement.

10. We have no knowledge of any uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements.
Information Provided
11. We have provided you with:

a. Access fo all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit;

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the Company from whom you determined it necessary to obtain
audit evidence; and

d. Minutes of the meetings of stockholders, directors and committees of directors, or summaries of actions
of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

12. All fransactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements.

13. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of risk that the financial statements may be materially
misstated as a result of fraud.

14. We have no knowledge of allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting 683 Northland Master Tenant,
LLC's financial statements involving:

a. Management.
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control.
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

15. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company’s financial
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short
sellers or others.

16. We have no knowledge of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations.

17. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be considered
when preparing the financial statements.

119



18.

19.

20.

21.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Company's related parties and all the related-party relationships
and fransactions of which we are aware.

We are aware of no significant deficiencies, including material weaknesses, in the design or operation of
internal controls that could adversely affect 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data.

There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

During the course of your audit, you may have accumuiated records containing data that should be reflected
in our books and records. All such data have been so reflected. Accordingly, copies of such records in your
possession are no fonger needed by us.

. As of December 31, 2019 $114,444 are due to 683 Northland, LLC, $254,935 are due to Buffalo Urban

Development Corporation, and $36,953 is due from 683 WTC, LLC.

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC

%Wﬂmx

Mollie Profic, Treasurer
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, as Agent

120



AUDITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

DECEMBER 31, 2019

121



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

CONTENTS

Independent AUAIEOr'S REPOTL........c.cc.cii it s e s sa s s b s e et obesasantebsnarate

Financial Statements:
Balanee SREEIS ..o e e e ene e e ene e e
Statements of OPEIatioNS ..........cccceiiririneer e e s e e b e rer bbb sraea e e
Statements of Changes in Members' EQUILY ...

StatemMEnts OF CASH FIOWS..........oeieiieeceeeeeeeeceereetesesstesreseseeseeeeee s m eeeeesnstessssanesssns sareeensessssnssnsasarassnsasenersses

NOteS £0 FINANCIAl SEAtOIMEIES ... ..ovovii ittt e eeesee it essessresressastesssssnsesan sensrsanseressasesssantessrssnsranas

122



Trust earned.
= FreedMaxick’

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of
683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC
(A Limited Liability Company)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (A Limited
Liability Company) which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the related
statements of operations and members’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to

the financial statements.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020

123



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash - operating
Tenant receivables
Prepaid insurance
Total current assets

Reserves:
Operating reserve
Asset management fee reserve
Total reserves

Accrued rental income

Tenant security deposits

Equipment, net

Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Deferred rent liability - sublessee
Due to related parties
Total current liabilities

Tenant security deposits

Deferred rent liability - Master Lease Agreement

Deferred rent liability - sublessee
Distribution payable - priority return

Total liabilities

Members' equity

Total liabilities and members’ equity

See accompanying notes.

2019 2018
$ 16,394 § 2,832
361,614 11,500
18,501 57,277
396,509 71,609
335,383 -
50,057 -
385,440 -
45,995 -
39,450 5,000
7,481 -
16,924,540 12,803,365
$ 17,799,415 § 12,879,974
$ 32428 $ 14,803
288,000 -
372,362 167,471
692,790 182,274
39,450 5,000
2,471,223 626,481
6,996,396 7,508,327
105,026 24,630
10,304,885 8,346,712
7,494,530 4,533,262
$ 17,799,415 $ 12,879,974

124



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31,

2019 2018
Revenues:
Rental revenue $ 754,631 $ -
Additional rental revenue 167,996 216,644
Other income 4,565 9
Total revenues 927,192 216,653
Expenses:
Rent expense 1,879,742 626,581
Payroll 129,470 25,350
Insurance expense 120,670 31,555
Utilities expense 111,798 73,771
Property management fee 41,493 10,800
Professional fees 46,936 2,825
Real estate taxes 22,473 -
Repairs and maintenance 18,400 1,992
Asset management fee 10,000 10,000
Misceilaneous expense 8,851 281
Total expenses 2,389,833 783,155
Loss from operations (1,462,641) (566,502)
Other expenses:
Depreciation expense (1,870) -
Net loss $ (1,464,511) $ (566,502)

See accompanying notes.

125



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31,

INVESTOR MANAGING

MEMBER MEMBER TOTAL
Members' equity - January 1, 2018 $ 1,642 $ 198,360 $ 200,002
Members' capital contributions 4,924,392 - 4,924,392
Distributions (24,630) - (24,630)
Net loss (560,837) (5,665) (566,502)
Members' equity - December 31, 2018 $ 4,340,567 $ 192,695 $ 4,533,262
Members' capital contributions 4,536,758 - 4,536,758
Distributions (110,979) - (110,979)
Net loss (1,368,271) (13,821) (1,464,511)
Members' equity - December 31, 2019 $ 7,398,075 $ 178,874 $ 7,494,530
Percentage interest 99.00% 1.00% 100%

See accompanying notes.

126



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Tenant receivables
Prepaid insurance
Accrued rental income
Prepaid rent - Master Lease Agreement
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Security deposit liability
Accounts payable
Due to related parties
Deferred rent liability - sublessee
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Equipment purchases
Net cash used by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Members' contributions
Distributions

Payments of prepaid rent under the Master Lease Agreement
Proceeds from prepaid rent under sublease agreement

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase in cash

Cash and restricted cash - beginning of year

Cash and restricted cash - end of year

Non-cash financing transactions:

Non-cash distribution recorded as distribution payable

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and restricted cash to the amounts

reported within the balance sheets:

Cash - operating

Tenant security deposits
Operating reserve

Asset management fee reserve

See accompanying notes.

2019 2018
(1,464,511) § (566,502)
1,870 -
(350,114) (11,500)

38,776 (57,277)
(45,995) -
1,844,742 626,481
34,450 5,000
17,625 14,803
204,891 167,471
(223,931) (170,644)
57,803 7,832
(9,351) -
(9,351) -
4,536,758 4,924,392
(30,583) -
(4,121,175) (12,603,363)
- 7,678,971
385,000 -
433,452 7,832
7,832 § -
441,284 $ 7.832
105,026 $ 24,630
2019 2018
16,394 2,832
39,450 5,000
335,383 -
50,057 -
441,284 7,832




683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION

683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (the Company) is a limited liability company formed pursuant to the laws of
the State of New York on September 7, 2017. 683 Northland LLC, a related entity, was formed to facilitate the
ownership, rehabilitation and operation of a commercial and industrial facility located at 683 Northland Avenue,
City of Buffalo, known as the Niagara Machine & Tool Works Factory (the Property). 683 Northland LLC
serves as lessor to the Company. The relationship between lessor and lessee is governed by a Master Lease
Agreement dated December 28, 2017. The major activities of the Company are governed by the Master
Tenant Amended and Restated Operating Agreement.

The Property is located in a historic district on the National Register of Historic Places and will receive an
allocation of federal and state historic rehabilitation tax credits under Section 47 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, and New York credit for Rehabilitation of Historic Properties under Section 606(00) of New
York State tax law. The Property is being developed in two phases; Phase 1 received an allocation of rehabilitation
tax credits during the year ended December 31, 2018; Phase 2 received allocations for the year ending December
31, 2019 and expects final completion of the building and receipt of tax credits during the year ending December
31, 2020.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Cash: The statement of cash flows considers amounts available for current operations to be cash and
includes amounts restricted for repayment of tenant security deposits and reserves.

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times,
may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The
Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, two tenants represented 100% of rental revenue and accounts
receivable (2018 — one tenant).

Tenant Receivables: Tenant receivables consists of receivables from tenants for rent and other charges, if
applicable, recorded according to the terms of their sublease agreements. Tenant receivables do not bear interest.
The Company holds tenant security deposits as collateral for tenant receivables. On a periodic basis, the
Company evaluates its tenant receivables and establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts. There was no
allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Revenue Income: The Company recognizes revenue on the date rent becomes due in accordance with the
leases. Rental payments received in advance are deferred until earned. All leases between parties are operating
leases.

Income Taxes: No provision or benefit has been made for income taxes in the accompanying financial
statements since taxable income or loss of the Company is passed through to the respective members for
reporting passes through to, and is reportable by, the members individually.

Operating Lease: The Company is obligated under a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) (Note 6),
with a related entity, through 2037. Minimum rent is recognized over the term of the lease using the straight-
line method. In addition to minimum rents, the lease requires payments for utilities, insurance, maintenance
costs, real estate taxes, and all other operating expenses. Minimum rent due under the Agreement consists of
base rent and prepaid rent. As of December 31, 2019, the Company paid $16,924,540 in prepaid rent
($12,803,365 — 2018).

128



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Use of Estimates: In preparing financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, management makes
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Recently Adopted Accounting Principles: In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. The new revenue recognition standard outlines a comprehensive model for
companies to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most
current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The
Company adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management evaluated the impact of
this ASU and determined that there was not a significant impact on the financial statements.

in November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash.
The new restricted cash standard requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and
end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied retrospectively to each period
presented. The Company has implemented the standard for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 820). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all
leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, A modified retrospective transition approach is
required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance with have on the financial
statements.

Reclassification: Certain 2018 amounts have been reclassified to conform to 2019 presentation.

Subsequent Events: These financial statements have not been updated for subsequent events occurring
after March 13, 2020, which is the date these financial statements were available to be issued.

NOTE 3. TENANT SECURITY DEPOSITS

Tenant security deposits are maintained separate bank account from operating funds. They are tracked by
name of the tenant internally by the Company and are segregated on the related balance sheets.

NOTE 4. RESERVES

Asset Management Fee Reserve: The Company was required to establish a reserve to fund the payment of
asset management fees in the amount of $60,000 upon receipt of the third capital contribution from the

investor member. As of December 31, 2019, the reserve amounted to $50,057 ($0 — 2018). The remaining
required funding of the asset management fee reserve has been reduced by the investor member.

129



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Operating Reserve: The Company was required to establish an operating reserve to fund any operating
deficits as approved by the investor member. An initial contribution of $335,000 was to be deposited into the
operating reserve upon receipt of the third capital contribution from the investor member which occurred during
the year ended December 31, 2019. Funds are required to be held in a segregated, interest bearing account
with a federally insured financial institution. As of December 31, 2019, the reserve amounted to $335,383.

Replacement Reserve: The Company is required to establish a replacement reserve to fund any replacement
costs as approved by the investor member. The reserve is to be funded annually in the amount of $48,000
(subject to a 3% increase per year) from net cash flow in accordance with the allocation of profits and losses
(Note 8). Funds are required to be held in a segregated, interest bearing account with a federally insured
financial institution. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, there was no net cash flow available to fund the
replacement reserve.

NOTE 5. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Company consists of two members; 683 WTC, LLC and NTCIC HTC Community Fund I, LLC (NTCIC). 683
WTC, LLC is the managing member and a 1% owner. NTCIC is the investor member and has a 99% membership
interest.

The managing member is required to contribute capital of $198,360 according to the terms of the amended and
restated operating agreement. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the managing member has made all required
contributions.

The investor member is required to contribute capital of $19,905,141 based upon the completion of requirements
by the Company as defined in the amended and restated operating agreement. As of December 31, 2019, the
investor member made required contributions in the amount of $9,462,792 ($4,926,034 — 2018). Total remaining
required capital contributions amounted to $10,442,349 as of December 31, 2019 ($14,979,107 - 2018).

NOTE 6. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES

The Company has a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) with the lessor, a related entity, to pay rental
expense commencing on August 26, 2018, the day prior to the first date on which Phase | of the building was
placed in service for purposes of the historical tax credits through 2037. For the year ended December 31, 2019,
the Company recognized $1,879,742 in rental expense ($626,581 — 2018). The lease agreement includes
scheduled rent increases over the term of the lease, which in accordance with U.S. GAAP will be recognized on a
straight-line bases over the term of the lease.

Future minimum rental payments to be paid under the Master Lease Agreement are contractually due as
follows:

2020 $ 2,076,624
2021 486,684
2022 484,486
2023 492,423
2024 528,046
Thereafter 8.014.088
$_12,082,351

130



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES (CONTINUED)

Due to Related Parties: The Company owes certain operating expenses paid by related parties directly to a third
party on behalf of the Company. These amounts are recorded as due to related parties on the accompanying
balance sheets.

NOTE 7. COMMERCIAL RENTAL REVENUE

Northland Workforce Training Center: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with the Economic
Development Group, Inc. d.b.a. Northland Workforce Training Center, (NWTC), commencing on September 1,
2018, and extending through August 31, 2033. The agreement calls for payment of prepaid rent and additional
rent. Rental income from the sublease agreement is being recognized on a straight-line basis, in accordance
with U.S. GAAP, over the term of the lease. Prepaid rent in the amount of $7,678,971 was due and paid during
the year ended December 31, 2018; $511,931 of rental income related to the prepaid rent was recognized
during the year ended December 31, 2019 ($170,653 ~ 2018). Starting in 2019, the Company is required to
estimate additional rental income on a monthly basis and provide NWTC with a statement of actual additional
rent incurred within 90 days of year end. Additional rental income under the sublease amounted to $11,500
per month during the year ended December 31, 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2019, $123,179 in
additional rental income was recognized ($46,000 — 2018).

Additionally, the Company entered into a second sublease agreement during 2019 for an additional space
related to the Northland Workforce Training Center commencing October 1, 2019 and extending through July
31, 2026. The agreement calls for payment of prepaid rent in the amount of $288,000. As of December 31,
2019, the prepaid rent had not yet been received and the entire amount of rent recognized is captured in
tenants receivable. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $10,258 in rental
income based on the second sublease agreement.

Buffalo Manufacturing Works: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Edison Welding
Institute Inc. d/b/a Buffale Manufacturing Works, commencing on July 1, 2019, and extending through June 30,
2034. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $237,700 in rental income based on
this agreement. There was no rental income for this sublease agreement for the year ending December 31,
2018.

Manna Culinary Group: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Manna Culinary Group, inc.
commencing on September 30, 2019, and extending through October 31, 2024. Under the sublease
agreement, base rent payments begin March 1, 2020. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
there was no rental income recognized for this sublease agreement.

Sparkcharge: The Company entered into a sublease agreement with Sparkcharge, Inc. commencing on
March 1, 2020, and extending through February 28, 2023. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
there was no rental income recognized for this sublease agreement.

The following is a schedule of minimum future rental revenue on noncancelable leases with an initial term
greater than one year:

2020 $ 433,797
2021 462,386
2022 480,255
2023 460,666
2024 438,004
Thereafter 4,873,190
Total $__7.148,207

131



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES

In accordance with the amended and restated operating agreement, operating profits and losses and credits, other
than those arising from a capital transaction, will be allocated in the ratio 1% to the managing member and 99% to
the investor member. Profits and losses arising from a capital transaction will be allocated to the members in

various amounts as described in the amended and restated operating agreement depending on if the amounts are
profits or losses and if the members' capital account balances are negative or positive.

All net cash flow available for distribution shall be paid annually as follows:
() To the investor member in the amount of any unpaid adjusters;
(i) To the investor member in the amount of any outstanding special tax distribution;

(i) The investor member in the amount of any outstanding priority return for the fiscal year plus any
outstanding priority return for any prior fiscal year;

(iv) To fund the replacement reserve;

(v) To the repayment of any subordinated loans (and accrued interest thereon) and any operating deficient
loans; and

(vi) The balance to the members in accordance with their percentage interests.
Profits arising from a capital transaction will be distributed in the following order: first to each member, an amount
equal to their negative capital account basis based on their proportionate share of the anticipated distribution;
second, any remaining profits are distributed in accordance with the members’ capital accounts.
Losses arising from a capital transaction will be allocated in the following order: first to each member, an amount
equal to their positive capital account basis based on their proportionate share of the anticipated distribution;
second, any remaining losses are distributed in accordance with the members’ capital accounts.

For distributions other than cash flow and distributions prior to dissolution or termination of the Company, assets
and proceeds will be distributed in the following order:

(i) To the payment of all matured debts and liabilities of the Company and all expenses of the Company
incident to any Capital Transaction), excluding (i) debts and liabilities of the Company to members or
any affiliates, and (i) all unpaid fees owing to any developer entity;

(i) To the setting up of any reserves which the liquidator (or the managing member if the distribution is not
pursuant to the liquidation of the Company) deems reasonably necessary for contingent, unmatured
or unforeseen liabilities or obligations of the Company;

(iii) To the payment to the investor member of any unpaid credit recovery loans and interest thereon;

(iv) To the investor member in the amount of any outstanding priority return;

(v) To the payment of any unpaid special tax distribution plus an amount equal, on an after-tax basis, to the
local, state and federal taxes projected (at the applicable tax rate) to be imposed on the members of
the investor member as a result of the capital transaction;

(vi) To the repayment of any unpaid debts and liabilities (including unpaid fees) owed to the members or any
affiliates by the Company for Company obligations; and

(vii) The balance to the members in accordance with their percentage interests.

132



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8. ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES (CONTINUED)

The amended and restated operating agreement requires the distribution of cash based upon the net cash
flow calculation. Distributable cash flow is calculated annually as defined by the amended and restated
operating agreement. Based upon the calculation, there is no net cash flow available to be distributed for the
year ending December 31, 2019 and 2018. However, according to the amended and restated operating
agreement, any priority return not distributed shall accrue and remain payable until net cash flow becomes
available. Under the amended and restated operating agreement, the priority return is based upon 1.5% of the
portion of capital contributions aftributable to federal historic tax credits and is pro-rated for any periods less
than a full year. As of December 31, 2019, $105,026 was accrued as payable to the investor member for the
priority return ($24,630 — 2018). During the year ended December 31, 2019, the investor member was paid
$30,583 for the 2018 accrued priority return.

NOTE 9. OPERATING DEFICIT GUARANTY

In accordance with the amended and restated operating agreement, the managing member will provide funds
to the Company so as to allow them to cover accrued accounts payable on a 60-day current basis. Any funds
advanced shall be provided in the form of an operating deficit loan. An operating deficit loan shall be treated
as a subordinated loan and shall bear no interest. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, no funds were loaned
to the Company from the managing member.

NOTE 10. PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

The Company entered into a property management agreement with Mancuso Management Inc. (Mancuso) in
December 2017. Under the agreement, Mancuso is to provide leasing and property management services.
Under the agreement, the monthly management fee is calculated at 5% of rents billed or $2,700, whichever is
higher. The original agreement extended through August 2018 and can be extended for up to two additional
one-year terms. The current extension ends August 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2019, $41,493 of
property management fees were incurred and paid ($10,800 — 2018).

NOTE 11. RECONCILIATION OF TAXABLE LOSS

The reconciliation of financial statement net loss to the taxable loss of the Company for the year ended December
31, is as foliows:

2019 2018
Financial statement net loss $ (1,464,511) $ (566,502)
Add (subtract) nondeductible items per tax return:
Book to Tax depreciation (7,481) -
Section 467 income 413,479 469,258
Section 467 expense 91,157 (333,420)
Asset management feefguaranteed payments 10,000 10,000
Taxable loss $____(957,356) $___(420664)

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction and New York State.

133



683 NORTHLAND MASTER TENANT, LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 12. PAYMENT IN LIEU OF TAXES (PILOT)

The Company entered into a 7 year agreement (the Agreement), through December 31, 2026, with the Erie
County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), on behalf of the City of Buffalo (the City), the City of Buffalo
School District (the School District), and County of Erie (the County), whereby the Company pays an annual
PILOT payment to the City, the County and the School District. The Company is exempt from taxes untit the tax
fiscal year beginning in 2019. Beginning in 2019, the Company shall pay a payment in lieu of taxes composed of a
land component, an existing improvements component, and a variable component. The variable component will
be impacted by application of an annual payment factor. The payment factor will be 10% for the first two years of
the Agreement, 20% for the next two years of the Agreement, and 30% for the final three years of the Agreement.
The Company paid taxes amounting to $20,643 for the year ended December 31, 2019. There were no payments
made for the year ended December 31, 2018.

134



ITEM 3.2.2

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATIO/N:‘:

REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS «4 N

DECEMBER 31, 2019

135



XXXXXX, 2020

To the Members of the Board of Directors
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street, Suite 403

Buffalo, New York 14203

Members of the Board:

g financial statements of Buffalo Urban Development
31, 2019.  This report summarizes certain matters
/our oversight responsibility for BUDC's financial

iy

We are pleased to present this report related to our audits of 1
Corporation (BUDC), as of and for the year endedebe
required by professional standards to be communic
reporting process. .

f BUDC and management and is not intended to be and
¢ parties. It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions
ity Yo be of service to BUDC.

This report is intended solely for the infopf}
should not be used by anyone other thaf
you have about this report. We appre

Very truly yours,

Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C.

136



CONTENTS

Required Communications
Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates
Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Management Letter

Exhibit A — Significant Written Communication Between Management and our Firm

Representation Letter

137



Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditors Communications with Those Charge with
Governance) require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged
with governance. Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the
financial statement audit as well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your
responsibility fo oversee the financial reporting process.

Area Comments
Our Responsibilities with Regard to the Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally
Financial Statement Audit accepted in the United States of America and Government

Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of
the United States, have been described to you in our
arrangement letter dated January 6, 2020. Our audit of the
financial statements does not relieve management or those
charged with governance of their responsibilities which are
also described in that letter.

Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of We have |ssue|ida separate communication regarding the

the Financial Statement Audit planned scop-a_,d tlmlng of our audit and have discussed

Accounting Policies and Practices ftihg Policies and Practices

LN g@erally accepted principles, in certain
gifinces, management may select among alternative
L ..,,accountl' grpractices. In our view, in such circumstances,
)
N me@: has selected the preferable accounting

= “*BUDC did not adopt any significant new accounting policies
nor have there been any changes in existing significant
accounting policies during the current year.

Significant or Unusual Transactions

We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions
or significant accounting policies in controversial or
emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus.

Management's Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Summary information about the process used by
management in formulating particularly sensitive accounting
estimates and about our conclusions regarding the
reasonableness of those estimates is in the attached
“Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates.”

Basis of Accounting The financial statements were prepared on assumption
that the entity will continue as a going concern.

138



Required Communications (Continued)

Audit Adjustments
Uncorrected Misstatement

Disagreements with Management

Consultations with Other Accountants

Significant Issues Discussed with
Management

Significant Difficulties Encountered in
Performing the Audit

Significant Written Communication Between
Management and Our Firm

We are not aware of nor have we proposed any audit
adjustments as a result of our audit.

We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other
than misstatements that are clearly trivial.

We encountered no disagreements with management over
the application of significant accounting principles, the
basis for management's judgments on any significant
matters, the scope of the audit, or significant disclosures to
be included in the financial statements.

We are not aware of any consultations management had
with other accountants about accounting or auditing
matters.

No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed
with or were the subject of correspondence with
management.

We did not enghtinter any significant difficulties in dealing
with manag/gman!;—_during the audit.
&5 N,

'___Agentation letter provided to us by
e _;-._gs Exhibit A.

139



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Summary of Significant Accounting Estimates
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements and are based upon
management’s current judgment. The process used by management encompasses their knowledge and experience
about past and current events and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish to monitor throughout the
year the process used to determine and record these accounting estimates. The following describes the significant
accounting estimates reflected in BUDC's December 31, 2019 financial statements:

Management'’s Basis of our conclusions on
Estimate Accounting Policy Estimation Process Reasonableness of Estimate
geprematlgln otf& Management depreciates Useful lives were assigned The methods and lives used to
rogerty, an property, plant and equipment based on BUDC'’s useful estimate depreciation expense
Equipment over the estimated lives of the life policy. Management appears reasonable.
assets. was consistent in

calculating depreciation
based on the useful lives
assigned to eacl‘:{ agset.

140



Recently Issued Accounting Standards

The GASB has issued several statements not yet implemented by BUDC. BUDC's management has not yet
determined the effect these Statements will have on BUDC's financial statements. However, BUDC plans to
implement all standards by the required dates. The Statements which might impact BUDC are as follows:

Summary of GASB Statement No. 87, Leases

This Statement issued in June 2017 will be effective for BUDC with its fiscal year ending December 31, 2020. This
Statement better meets the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial
reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by
requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases
and recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provision of the contract. It
establishes a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the
right to use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an
intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of
resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing activities.

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. Earlier
application is encouraged.

Summary of GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest cc
Incurred Before the End of a Construction Period A& ¢ \A
This Statement issued in June 2018 will be effective for BU beglnnlng with' ﬁs fiscal year ending December 31,
2020. The primary objectives of this Statement are (1) tof hanc he relevance and comparability of information
about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a report ; -- and (2) to simplify accounting for interest cost
incurred before the end of a construction period.

£ B

This Statement establishes accounting rvaquirementsv\%ﬁg ntefest. o‘s\f@curred before the end of a constructlon period.
Such interest cost includes all interest that previousi ]
paragraphs 5-22 of Statement No. 62, Codjfica ntlng and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-
November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA ' 3 whlch are superseded by this Statement. This Statement
requires that interest cost incurred befi Wd'of a Structlon period be recogmzed as an expense in the period

fa cons ctlon period will not be included in the historical cost of a
y or enterprise fund.

The requirements of GASB Statemenit No. 89 are effective for financial periods beginning after December 15, 2019.

Earlier application is encouraged.
Summary of GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations

This Statement issued in May 2019 will be effective for BUDC beginning with its fiscal year ending December 31,
2021. The primary objectives of this Statement are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by
issuers and eliminate diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers, (2) arrangements
associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. This Statement achieves those objectives by
clarifying the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing standards for accounting and financial
reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated
with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures.

The requirements of GASB Statement No. 91 are effective for financial periods beginning after December 15, 2020.
Earlier application is encouraged.

141



EXHIBIT A — SIGNIFICANT WRITTEN COMMUNICATION
BETWEEN MANAGEMENT AND-GUR FIRM

142



AUDITED
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (f

/‘e«‘

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMEN\TT*;
CORPORATION

DECEMBER 31, 2019

143



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

CONTENTS
Page
FINANCIAL SECTION
Independent Auditor's Report 1-2
Management's Discussion and Analysis 3-8
Basic Financial Statements:
Consolidated Statements of Net Position 9
Consolidated Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 10
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 11
Notes to Financial Statements - 12-20
Supplementary Information:
Consolidating Statement of Net Position 21
22
Financial Statements Performedii
23-24

Government Auditing Standgfgs
e

144



145



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

December 31, 2019
(UNAUDITED)

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) is a not-for-profit corporation whose mission is to support
the urban economic development efforts of the region through acquisition, remediation and management of
distressed properties, and to engage in related real estate development activities for the purpose of
attracting and/or retaining new and existing businesses to the City of Buffalo, New York (the City) as part
of the region. The mission of BUDC also includes supporting the revitalization of the City by serving as the
lead management entity for Buffalo Building Reuse Project (BBRP) initiatives, working in collaboration with
the Mayor’s Office of Strategic Planning, including the coordination of financial assistance for downtown
adaptive re-use projects and public right-of-way improvements.

For financial reporting purposes, BUDC is classified as a governmentaf entity that is required to comply
with accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accounting andards Board (GASB) because a
majority of its governing body are officials of local governm appointed by officials of local
governments. Under GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Sta‘;‘emeh

and Management’s Discussion
and Analysis - for State and Local Governments, BUDC is g guired to pr ent management’s discussion
and analysis (MD&A) to assist readers in understanding Bl C's flnanmal pev(ﬁgrmance

in compliance with GASB Statement No. 34, we presentﬁh% hi ed overview and analysis of the financial
activities of BUDC for the years ended December 31, 20 2’018 and 2017. We encourage readers to
consider the information presented here in conjunctaan with B 51‘3 s audited financial statements.

s
‘.‘_b.&

In 2017, BUDC’s financial reporting entity expand&d as,;«:eﬁ%ﬂ%ef a tax credit transaction to bring historic
tax credits (HTC) and new markets tax cneﬁtt gNM ﬁfndmg to the development project at 683 Northland
Avenue (the Project), the location of th alz sikforce Training Center (Workforce Training Center).
The financial reporting entity consists of (a) BUDC (thegprimary entity), (b) 683 WTC, LLC (WTC), of which
BUDC is the sole member, and (c{i 3 Nor Iand’ﬂ% 1683 Northland), of which WTC holds a 95% equity
interest. All significant mtercompan ifces and transactions between the three entities are eliminated

in the consolidated fmangal été;gmen' 5. WTC is also the managing member of 683 Northland Master
%. equity interest.

Tenant, LLC (Master Te;gah‘i) and hcﬁa

inancial Statements

R

Basic Overview of the E

Included in this Annual Repo Q{eﬁe following financial statements:

1) Statements of Net Position — This statement shows the reader what BUDC owns (assets and
deferred outflows) and what BUDC owes (liabilities and deferred inflows). The difference between
BUDC's assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred inflows (net position) can be one way to
measure BUDC's financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in BUDC's net position is
one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating.

2) Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position — This statement reports BUDC'’s
operating and nonoperating revenues by major source along with operating expenses. The
difference between total revenues and expenses can be one way to measure BUDC's operating
results for the year.

3) Statements of Cash Flows — This statement reports BUDC's cash flows from operating, noncapitai
financing, capital and related financing, and investing activities.

146



Financial Highlights

BUDC's net position increased by 47% from $53,357,000 in 2018 to $78,604,000 in 2019 primarily
due to grant revenue recognized for capital outlays related to Phase Il of the Project at 683
Northland Avenue.

BUDC experienced an increase in net position of $24,746,000 in 2019 compared to an increase of
$18,595,000 in 2018 due mainly to Developer Fees of $11,887,000 recognized by BUDC for the
completion of Phases | and Il of the Project at 683 Northland Avenue. In addition, 683 Northland
recognized $2,873,000 of rental income and tenant reimbursement income.

BUDC's total assets increased by $11,874,000 primarily due to $31,151,000 of capital asset
additions, the majority of which related to the Project at 683 Northland Avenue. The increase in
capital assets was coupled with decreases in cash ($4,065,000) and restricted cash ($16,645,000).
BUDC’s total liabilities decreased $13,373,000 as a result of a $9,582,000 decrease in unearned
grant revenue, a $6,208,000 decrease in accounts payable, a $4,924,000 decrease in deferred
developer fees, and a $5,066,000 increase in loans payable.

147



Condensed Comparative Financial Statements:
1. Statements of Net Position:

The following table (Table 1) presents condensed comparative financial information and was derived from
the audited consolidated statements of net position of BUDC.

Table 1
Consolidated Statements of Net Position at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

2019 2018 $ Change % Change 2017
Assets:
Cash $ 247 $ 4,312 $§ (4,085) 94% $ 11,094
Receivables 10,781 9,563 1,218 13% 14,262
Restricted cash 5,235 " -76% 3,411
Other current assets 8,135 2% 473
Loans receivable 10,791 4% 10,416
Equity investment 198 0% 198
Capital assets, net 110,458 63% 6,594
Construction in process 2,697 81% 15,334
Land and improvements held for sale 0% 3,997

Total assets 8% $ 65779

Liabilities: ‘o
Current liabilities f-;':>$ 31,124 $ (15,791) 51% $ 19,147
Long-tem liabilities 56,274 2,418 4% 13,919
Total liabilities 87,398 (13,373) -15% 33,066
Net position: &
Net investment in capital ;‘éﬁ‘%t 47,176 26,085 55% 8,198
Restricted 4,934 4,989 (55) -1% 5,254
Unrestricted 409 1,192 (783) -66% 19,261
Total net position $ 78604 § 53,357 $ 25247 47% $ 32,713
Total liabilities and net position $ 152,629 $ 140,755 $ 11,874 8% $ 65779

148



Cash — Cash decreased $4,065,000 due primarily to capital outlays related to the Workforce Training
Center and other development in the Northland Corridor.

Receivables — Receivables include grant and other receivables owed as a result of BUDC's development
projects. The $1,2118,000 increase is primarily due to $11,200,000 of grants awarded to BUDC during 2019,
compared to $10,000,000 of grant receipts during the year.

Restricted cash ~ Restricted cash includes amounts held by the Erie County Industrial Development
Agency (ECIDA) on behalf of BUDC related to the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund and the
Regionally Significant Project Fund. Also included in restricted cash are amounts received from ESD held
in segregated imprest accounts, which may be drawn down upon approval from ESD. The decrease of
$16,645,000 is mainly due to amounts released from these imprest accounts during the year.

Other current assets — Other current assets include prepaid expenses, developer fees receivable (BUDC)
and interest receivable.

Loans receivable — Loans receivable increased $375,000 in 2019, as ghe loan was funded as part of the
Buffalo Building Reuse Project loan program.

Capital assets, net — Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation incrgased $42,814,000 primarily due
to the capitalization of portions of Phase II of the Project at Gﬁé?Northlan

Long-term liabilities — éﬂg-tema liab I@es increased $2,418,000 due to increases in loans payable of
$5,066,000 and the def { d rent ffzib:hty of>$2 276,000, along with a decrease in deferred developer fees

($4,924,000).

149



2. Change in Net Position:

The following table (Table 2) presents condensed comparative financial information and was derived from
BUDC's audited statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.

Table 2

Change in Net Position for the Years ended December 31, 3029, 2018 and 2017
(Amounts in thousands)

201 2018 $ Change % Change 017
Rewenue:
Grants $ 20800 $ 26,253 $ (5453) 21% $ 16,896
PILOT agreements 299 447 (148) -33% 501
Loan interest and commitment fees 150 138 12 9% 126
Rental and other revenue 14,842 2201% 75
Total revenue 36,091 85% 17,598
Expenses:
Dewelopment costs 334% $ 558
Adjustment to net realizable value (2,151) -79% 1,013
Salaries and benefits 72 16% 444
General and administrative (456) -13% 193
Management fee 19 17% 53
Depreciation _ 2,180 209% 5
'\’
Total expenses . 1,650 19% 2,266
Operating income (loss) /éw”{“ ' 2 19,016 6,858 37% 15,332
Interest income 19 13 6 46% 14
Interest expense (1,172) (359) (813) 226% -
Amortization expense (75) (75) - 0% -
In-kind revenue - - - 0% 730
Change in net position $ 24746 $ 18595 § 6,151 33% $ 16,076

150



3. Revenue and Expense Analysis:

Grants — Grant income includes income from ESD, NYPA and National Grid for projects along the
Northland Corridor, from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation for work related to Ralph C. Wilson, Jr.
Centennial Park, as well as from ECIDA for the BBRP. Grant income is recognized as the related grant
expenses are incurred. In 2019, $18,792,000 of grant revenue was recognized for Northland Corridor
projects, $1,900,000 for Centennial Park and $100,000 for BBRP. The decrease of $5,453,000 from 2018
reflects the usage of larger grants related to 683 Northland Avenue.

Rental and other revenue - Other revenue includes developer fees, rental income and other income. The
increase of $14,197,000 from 2018 was due to $11,900,000 of developer fee revenue recognized by BUDC
in 2019 related to Phases | and Ii of the Project at 683 Northland Avenue, along with $2,946,000 of rental
income.

Development costs — Development costs include those costs related to various BUDC projects but
excludes certain BLCP and Northland development costs that are reflectéd in “adjustment to net realizable
value” as discussed below. The increase of $1,986,000 is the result offtirther development on the Northland
properties.

Adjustment to net realizable value — The adjustment to net: eallzable Vi ‘_ represents certain Northland
and BLCP capitalized development costs. These costs arg “Added to the bookﬁalue of capital assets and
land and |mprovements held for sale however an offsettgg adjustﬁ?ent is recorded to reduce the net book

General and administrative — Genera ﬁng,admmi’ tlve costs decreased $456,000 from $3,550,000 in
2018 to $3,094,000 in 2019. The méain regson fo ’};hls decrease was a grant from BUDC to Buffalo

Brownfield Restoration Corporati v;?(BBR(});:éf aroukd. $2,000,000 in 2018. In addition, 683 Northland

recognized general and administra /e expens’és of,$§>,468 000.
Management fee — The maﬁag ent‘Teg represents costs charged for certain ECIDA staff that spend a
portion of their time perfpﬁmng finahgial, cor{lpllance administrative and property management services on

i ces agreement along with asset management fees charged to 683

Depreciation — Depreciation €xpénse increased $2,180,000 from $1,044,000 in 2018 to $3,224,000 in
2019, The majority of deprecnaﬂon expense ($3,209,000) was related to the building and improvements at
683 Northiand Avenue.

Interest expense — Interest expense relates mainly to loans payable by 683 Northland. The $813,000
increase in interest expense from 2018 to 2019 reflects full utilization of construction bridge financing.

In-kind revenue — BUDC recognized $730,000 of in-kind revenue in 2017 related to the cost of demolition

at 537 East Delevan Avenue, that was funded by the City. No in-kind revenue was recognized in 2018 or
2019.

151



4. Budget Analysis:

Each year, BUDC prepares an operating budget and three-year forecast. BUDC's 2019 budget was
presented and approved by the Board of Directors on October 30, 2018. The following table (Table 3)
presents an analysis of BUDC’s performance compared to the approved 2019 budget.

Table 3
Budget to Actual Analysis for the year ended December 31, 2019
(Amounts in thousands)

Original Actual to Budget
Actual Budget $ Change %Change

Rewenue:
Grants $ 20,800 $ 28,573 $ (7,773) 27%
PILOT agreements 299 (120) 29%
Loan interest and commitment fees 101 206%

Other 167%
Total revenue 67%
Expenses:
Dewelopment costs 448%
Adjustment to net realizable value 100%
Salaries and benefits (32) 6%
General and administrative /“i{"?) 500 2,594 519%
Management fee 1 60 74 123%
Depreciation 4,931 (1,707) -35%
L : “:- o
Total expenses 4:\ ; \ %% 10,117 6,503 3,614 56%
S o
Operating income {loss) \\\ /éf;s 25,974 28,097 (2,123) -8%
&
Interest income 19 5 14 280%
Interest expense (1,172) (365) (807) 221%
Amortization expense (75) - (75) 100%
Change in net position $ 24746 $ 27,737 $ (2,991) -11%

Note: The original 2019 budget was not amended; therefore, only one budget column is presented.

Budget to Actual Analysis:

Overall, BUDC's change in net position trailed the budget by $2,123,000. Grant revenue was $7,773,000
below budget due to lower than anticipated recognition of ESD and NYPA grant revenue related to the
Project at 683 Northiand Avenue. Other revenue exceeded budget by $9,283,000 due to recognition of
developer fees for Phases | and H of the Project at 683 Northiand Avenue. Development costs of $2,580,000
were over budget by $2,109,000. $31,146,000 of costs incurred for Phase Il of the Project were capitalized
during 2019. General and administrative expenses of $3,094,000 exceeded budget by $2,594,000. 683

152



Northland recognized $1,468,000 of non-capitalized costs related to work on the Project, and BUDC saw
an increase due to the amortization of prepaid rent for the Workforce Training Center operator at 683

Northiand Avenue.
5. Economic Factors Impacting BUDC:

BUDC has limited sources of operating funds that can support its ongoing operating costs. As a result,
BUDC is reliant upon future land sales occurring at its BLCP business park and future revenues at the

Northland Corridor redevelopment site to support operations.

6. Requests for Information:

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of BUDC’s finances. Questions concerning
any of the financial information provided in this report should be addressed to the Treasurer of BUDC at
(716) B856-6525. General information relating to BUDC can be found at its website
www.buffalourbandevelopment.com. 4.

153



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31,
ASSETS 2019 2018
Current assets:
Cash $ 246,940 3 4,312,129
Grants receivable 10,780,646 9,562,865
Restricted cash 5,234,585 21,880,344
Other current assets 8,135,225 8,293,692
Total current assets 24,397,396 44 048,930
Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable, net 10,791,400 10,416,400
Equity investment 198,360 198,360
Capital assets, net 110,457,922 67,644,301
Construction in process 2,697,320 14,365,384
Land and improvements held for sale, net 4,086,967 4,081,967
Total noncurrent assets 128,231,969 96,706,412
Total assets 152,629,365 $ 140,755,342
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities: A
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4,589,840 $ 10,798,000
Unearned revenue 10,743,729 20,325,583
Total current liabilities 15,333,569 31,123,683
Noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred rent liability 14,453,317 12,176,884
Deferred developer fees - 4,924,392
Loans payable 43,981,202 38,915,462
Note payable 257,381 257,381
Total noncurrent liabilities 58,691,900 56,274,119
NET POSITION -4 : K i,
Net investment in capltai”’ ssets (ne wahdeb‘t; 73,261,007 47,176,190
Restricted ‘u% )«:%4 - 4,933,990 4,989,392
Unrestricted 408,899 1,192,058
Total net position \ h?j' 78,603,896 53,357,640
N
Total liabilities and net position $ 152,629,365 $ 140,755,342

See accompanying notes.

154




BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2019 2018
Operating revenues:
Grant revenue $ 20,799,635 §$ 26,252,678
Brownfield funds 298,920 446,764
Loan interest and commitment fees 149,707 137,914
Rental and other revenue 14,842,621 645,238
Total operating revenues 36,090,883 27,482,594
Operating expenses:
Development costs 2,579,959 593,863
Adjustment to net realizable value 575,816 2,726,938
Salaries and benefits 509,655 437,323
General and administrative 3,093,725 3,550,172
Management fee “. 133,855 114,722
Depreciation y; 3,224,019 1,043,861
Total operating expenses - 10,117,029 8,466,879
A‘;
Operating income ,854 19,015,715
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income 19,278 12,733
Amortization expense (74,872) (74,872)
Interest expense (1,172,004) (358,923)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (1,227,598) (421,062)
Change in net position 24,746,256 18,594,653
Net position - beginning of year 53,357,640 32,713,692
Add: capital contributions  _=mm, . 500,000 2,049,295
Net position - end of yeargg\?' $ 78,603.896 % 53,357,640

See accompanving notes.

155



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
Amounts received from Brownfields funds $ 301,726 $ 550,686
Grants received 9,998,000 35,942,268
Receipts from loans and commitment fees 149,707 137,914
Disbursements of loans (375,000) -
Rental and other revenue 16,734,453 4,890,245
Payments to employees, suppliers, and other (6,020,050) (6,674,368)
Net cash provided by operating activities 20,788,835 34,846,745
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (45,915,225) (50,232,126)
Proceeds from loans 5,065,740 25,453,754
Capital contributions i 500,000 2,049,294
Net cash used by capital and related financing activities (40,349,485) (22,729,078)
Cash flows from investing activities: 3
Change in restricted cash ’ . 16,645,759 (18,469,513)
Interest earned 19,278 12,733
Interest paid 4 (1,169,576) (443,073)
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 15,495,461 (18,899,853)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ‘\é‘} (4,065,189) (6,782,186)
Cash and cash equivalents - begmmng of year % 4312129 11,084,315
Cash and cash equivalents - end otgy,ear $ 246,940 $ 4312129
Reconciliation of income from opehtlgris‘;io Watcash
provided by operating act itie
Income from operations ¢ < $ 25,973,854 § 19,015,715
Adjustment to reconcile |@ﬁme from operatlcms to
net cash provided by opeca‘ung actlvm 25!
Depreciation expense < ' 3,224,019 1,043,861
Decrease (increase) in gran recewable (1,217,781) 4,698,939
Decrease (increase) in other clifrent assets 85,869 (45,130)
Increase in loans receivable (375,000) -
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 403,295 844,798
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue (9,581,854) 4,990,651
Increase in deferred rent liability 2,276,433 4,297,911
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 20,788835 % 34,846,745
Non-cash transactions:
Capital asset purchases not yet disbursed $ 2,882,573 $ 7,681,476
Grants received but not yet earned 10,743,729 20,325,583

See accomp_apying notes.

156



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) have been prepared in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government units.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting body for establishing
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the BUDC's accounting policies
are described below.

A.

REPORTING ENTITY

The Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) was incorporated to facilitate partnership with the private
sector in the development of the City of Buffalo (the City). Funding was initially received from the City, however
the City has not allocated direct funding to BUDC for several years and future allocations are not expected.
Funding is received primarily from land sales, grant funding, and loan repayments. In 2005, an agreement
between BUDC, Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), the City, and Erie County (the County)
established the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (the Fund) The Fund dedicates certain payments
received in lieu of real estate taxes (PILOT) for future eligible prolectﬂ,gosts The fund is administered by ECIDA
and reimburses BUDC for eligible project costs incurred. The actlvit' / of the Fund is included in these financial
statements. .

The financial reporting entity consists of (a) the primary enti
BUDC is the sole member, and (c) 683 Northland LLC, (4
interest.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

"’-ﬂ i
Revenues from grants, Brownfields fupmiz:: gental a’y‘ments and interest on loans are reported as operating
revenues. All expenses related t ,mpé‘%aﬁhg B .C are reported as operatlng expenses. Certain other
transactions are reported as nonop_‘_ ati tles in Iudlng BUDC's interest income from deposits.

When both restricted and unrestnct%l resources are available for use, it is BUDC'’s policy to use restricted
resources first, then unrestricte {esouroﬁas they are needed.

CONSOLIDATED FiN CIAL STATE ENT PRESENTATION

The consolidated flnanm‘a‘l‘rstatem/en‘ts include the accounts of BUDC, WTC, and Northiand. All significant
intercompany balances and\ttanéacnons have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. These consolidated$ihancial statements have been prepared in conformity with GAAP.

MEASUREMENT FOCUS AND BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

BUDC is considered a special-purpose government engaged in business-type activities. Business-type activities
are those that are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or services. The
financial statements of BUDC are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual
basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when eamed and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are
incurred; regardless of when the cash transaction takes place.

Nonexchange transactions, in which BUDC gives or receives value without directly receiving or giving equal value
in exchange, include grants. Revenue from grants is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements
have been satisfied.

CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH

BUDC's cash consists of cash on hand and demand deposits. Certain assets are classified on the balance sheet
as restricted because their use is limited.

157



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F.

LOANS RECEIVABLE

Loans receivable are presented net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. BUDC maintains an allowance for
estimated uncollectible accounts which is based on an analysis of the loan portfolio and reflects an amount that, in
management’s judgment, is adequate to provide for potential loan losses. Loans are written off when, in

management’s judgment, no legal recourse is available to collect the amount owed.

Interest on loans receivable is accrued as required by the terms of the agreement; management considers that
collection is probable based on the current economic condition of the borrower. Accrual of interest ceases when
management adjusts a loan reserve to 50% or more of the loan’s outstanding balance.

PREPAID EXPENSES

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid
expenses. These amounts are included in other current assets and amounted to $7,280,781 and $7,920,241 for
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital assets are recorded at acquisition cost and depremated oV
assets using the straight-line method The cost of repairs,

stimated useful lives of the respective
nd minor replacements are expensed
) capltallzed When depreciable

property is retlred or otherwise dlsposed of, the cost and4¢
accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in income. Ck
date received.

Capitalization thresholds (the dollar value ab
accounts), depreciation methods, and estimated
follows:

*Capmahzatlon\ 1 Depreciation Estimated
/# Threshold ;! _ Method Useful Life
Furniture and equipment "“\‘._ - T 000%% Straight-line 3-10 years
Buildings and improvements = ._‘-'/ $1, ooo%g’ Straight-line 5-40 years

/ E=s \\

INSURANCE g N \.

N

BUDC is exposed to v\hxs risks ofl gs related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets, personal
injury liability, and natura 1saste;s$" These risks are covered by commercial insurance purchased from
independent third partles n'{ents and claims are recorded when it is probable that an asset has been
impaired or a liability has been ncurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Settled claims
from these risks has not yet exceeded commercial insurance coverage for the past three years.

NET POSITION
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:

a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation and related debt.

b. Restricted - Consists of net positions with constraints on the use either by (1) external groups such as
creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legisiation. Included in this classification are the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment
Fund and a loan fund.

c. Unrestricted - The net amount of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of

resources that are not included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted
component of net position and therefore are available for general use by BUDC.

158



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

K. INCOME TAXES

BUDC is exempt from federal income tax under Internal Revenue Code Section 501(c)(3) and the income realized
will not be subject to New York State corporate franchise tax.

L. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, BUDC considers all cash, other than restricted cash, which
includes cash and demand accounts.

M. USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses/expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could’drffer from those estimates.

N. ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, BUDC h
Certain Asset Retirement Obligations, Statement No
Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowin
Equity Interests-an Amendment of GASB Statements NO;
ended December 31, 2019, and determined that }gey have

61 which became effective for the fi scal year
nificant impact on BUDC's financial statements.

The following are GASB Statements that have b N
for their potential impact in future years N

= Y
o Statement No. 87, Leases, whérw?ﬂ be“pffectlve for the year ending December 31, 2020.
o+ Statement No. 89, Accountingd Interest" ost In v";y d before the End of a Construction Period, which will be
effective for the year ending Decemb ¢ 31 2020;
Statement No. 91, C‘f’;’ﬂ%‘f&lﬂ"f O@'ggatlons which will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2021.
Statement No. 92, O *SQZ‘Q ».(?h:ch will be effective for the year ending December 31, 2021.

0. RECLASSIFICATIONS s

&
Certain prior year amounts ha\\{f bee;jf*reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

N

+

NOTE 2. CASH AND INVESTMENTS

BUDC's investment policies are governed by State statutes. In addition, the BUDC has its own written investment
policy. BUDC monies must be deposited in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC)-insured commercial banks
or trust companies located within the State. BUDC is authorized to use interest bearing demand accounts and
certificates of deposit. Permissible investments include obligations of the United States Treasury and its agencies,
repurchase agreements and obligations of the State and its localities.

Collateral is required for demand deposits and certificates of deposits not covered by federal deposit insurance.
Obligations that may be pledged as collateral are obligations of the United States and its agencies, obligations of the
State and its municipalities and school districts and obligations issued by other than New York State rated in one of the
three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, BUDC'’s aggregate bank deposits were considered fully collateralized.

159



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investment and Deposit Policy
BUDC follows an investment and deposit policy, the overall objective of which is to adequately safeguard the principal

amount of funds invested or deposited; conformance with federal, state and other legal requirements; and provide
sufficient liquidity of invested funds in order to meet obligations as they become due. Oversight of investment activity is
the responsibility of BUDC’s Treasurer.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of investments will be affected by changing interest rates. BUDC’s

investment policy does not limit investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising
from increasing interest rates.

Credit Risk

BUDC’s policy is to minimize the risk of loss due to failure of an issuer or other counterparty to an investment to fulfill
its obligations. BUDC's investment and deposit policy authorizes the reporting entity to purchase the following types of
investments:

» Interest bearing demand accounts.
e Certificates of deposit.

+ Obligations of the United States Treasury and United States ag
¢ Obligations of New York State and its localities. :

Custodial Credit Risk :
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a failure of '@ deposifery financial institution, the reporting entity may
not recover its deposits. In accordance with BUDC's |nves d deposit policy, all deposits of BUDC including
interest bearing demand accounts and certlﬁcates of deposnt i ss of the amount insured under the provisions of
oy a pledge of securities with an aggregate value

Treasury and Unlted States agen :

» Obligations issued or fully insure g guar ,—* he

» Obligations issued by other tha New Ygrk:S! State,raied in one of the three highest rating categones by at least
one nationally recognized statlstlcai;\rgtiﬁg orga‘"Tz'atlons

i o
e

NOTE 3. LOANS RECEIVAS _i;E

BUDC has an agreement gew Yo rk Business Development Corporation to provide loans to facilitate the
development and adaptlve reuseg ,,va/paﬁi or underutilized buildings in certain designated areas. The loan agreement
provides for $9,000,000 in total fundmg from five participating lending banks, with interest rates determined by the
banks. The balance of the loans outstanding were $1,125,000 and $750,000 at December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Interest payments are due monthly and principal is due at maturity.

In 2017, BUDC made a loan in the amount of $9,666,400 to Northland NMTC Invesiment Fund, LLC (NMTC). Interest
accrues at the rate of one percent per annum (1%) and is due quarterly. Interest only payments from the date of first
advance, which was December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and interest
shall be paid commencing December 31, 2024 through December 31, 2042. NMTC pledges its entire interest in
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-Northland, LLC. The following is a summary of the loans receivable.
BUDC's policy is to present loans receivable net of an allowance for uncollectible loans. Management has determined
that no allowance for these loans was necessary in 2019 and 2018.

2019 2018
Total loans receivable $ 10,791,400 $ 10,416,400

160



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the BUDC for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:

Balance Balance
01/01/19 Increases Decreases 12/31/19
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land $ 815,503 $ 29,439 $ - $ 844,942
Construction work in progress 14,365,384 33,981,754 45,649,818 2,697,320
Idle buildings and improvements 3,135,116 2,375,650 - 5,510,766
Total non-depreciable capital assets 18,316,003 36,386,843 45 649,818 9,053,028
Depreciable capital assets:
Buildings and improvements 59,177,505 41,540,801 - 100,718,306
Furniture and equipment 5,578,724 2,091,750 4,042 7,666,432
Less: accumulated depreciation 1,062,547 3,224:019 4,042 4,282 524
Total depreciable assets, net 63,693 682 8 - 104,102,214
Total capital assets, net $ 8 45649818 $  113,155.242

Balance
Decreases 12/31/18
Non-depreciable capital assets
Land : 299,880 $ - $ 815,503
Construction work in progress 14,365,384 15,334,049 14,365,384
Idle buildings and improvements 857,176 3,795,987 3,135,116
Total non-depreciable capital assets 15,5622 440 19,130,036 18,316,003
Depreciable capital assets: P
Buildings and improvements //&é?“{t A % - 59,177,505 - 59,177,505
Furniture and equipment = & \ s, 23,569 5,655,155 - 5,578,724
Less: accumulated deprech: % 18,688 1,043,859 - 1,062,547
Total depreciable assets, net, : 4 881 63,688,801 - 63,693,682
Total capital assets, net \i@i\ /g;;‘ $ 21,928480 $ 79211241 $ 19,130,036 $ 82,009,685
S

Land, buildings, and improvements related to the Northiand Corridor amounted to $9,053,028 and $18,316,003 at
December 31, 2019 and 2018. BUDC intends fo return these properties to productive use, assist with revitalizing the
surrounding neighborhood, and provide employment opportunities for nearby residents by creating a new
manufacturing hub on the City's east side. Once completed, BUDC expects to lease the property to local businesses,
government agencies, and nonprofit organizations.

Due to the extensive amount of revitalization, pollution remediation (Note 14), and other related activities, the
anticipated costs of certain Northland properties exceed the expected fair value of the properties based on current
estimates. Adjustments to net realizable value total $575,816 and $2,699,549 for the years ended December 31, 2019

and 2018, respectively.

161



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5. LAND HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT AND SALE

In 2002, on behalf of the City, BUDC agreed to undertake a multi-phase Brownfield reclamation and redevelopment
project at the former Hanna Furnace site and land surrounding the Union Ship Canal, now known as Buffalo Lakeside
Commerce Park (BLCP). BUDC accepted 104 acres of tax foreclosed property from the City, demolished derelict
structures, and constructed approximately 5,000 linear feet of roads and infrastructure. Funding for this work was
provided by the State, the City, and the County. With additional funding from the State, BUDC purchased 130 acres of
land to add to the BLCP and constructed additional roads and infrastructure. Between 2004 and 2008 there were
multiple BLCP parcels sold to local businesses.

In 2018, BUDC purchased approximately 7 acres of property at 308 Crowley Street in the City of Buffalo for the
purpose of remediation and redevelopment. The property includes a derelict building which will undergo select
demolition.

Land and improvements held for sale are recorded at net realizable value based on assessment of the fair value of
each project as follows:

201
BLCP $ 9,085,843
308 Crowley 85,299
Less adjustment to net realizable value (BLCP) 5,089,175
Total land held for development and sale $ 4,081,967

Redevelopment Project (Project). \ 4

In 2016, BUDC was awarded a $1£ «goo 00 __Lfgrant from ESD for the demolition, remediation, renovation, construction,
and sﬂe/street lmprovements AOUS ,,,land properties and Western New York Workforce Tramlng Center

improvements. In 2019, B4 EC was awal :‘;ed $4,167,781 in grants from various sources for further construction and
site improvements. e

in 2017, BUDC was awarded a $3xgﬂ6f1)00 grant from the City's Community Development Block Grant funds for the
Project and Training Center. In addition BUDC was awarded a $1,912,028 grant from ESD for the Pro;ect In 2018,
BUDC also was awarded grants in the amount of $550,000 from National Grid for the Project in the prior year.

in 2019, BUDC was awarded two grants from the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation totaling $6,700,000 for project
coordination and advancing the transformation of Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park into a world-class park and
recreational amenity for the City and the Western New York Region.

The following is a summary of grants receivable and unearned grant revenue:

2019 2018
Grants receivable:

ESD $ 6,212,914 $ 8,964,365
National Grid 500,000 550,000
Ralph C Wilson Jr. Foundation 3,850,000 -
National Fuel 48,500 48,500
NYSERDA 119,232 -
Other 50,000 -

$ 10,780,646 3 9,562,865

162



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Unearned revenue:

ESD 4,359,368 17,166,064
National Grid 250,000 550,000
Ralph C Wilson Jr. Foundation 4,792,800 -
NYPA 1,200,236 2,511,019
National Fuel - 98,500
NYSERDA 119,232 -
Other 22,093 -

$ 10,743,729 $ 20,325,583

NOTE 7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

The following is a summary of accounts payable and accrued expenses:

2019
Accounts payable $ 4,425,757
Accrued payroll 57,368
Accrued interest 93,715

Accrued developer fee
Other accrued expenses

NOTE 8. DEFERRED RENT LIABILITY

"ﬁhe first dalwékon which Phase | of the Building was placed in service for
ar endg _’f_j December 31, 2037. Northland recogmzed $1, 879 742 and

commencing August 26, 2018, the day prigrA
purposes of the historical tax credits, th T the
$626,581 in rental revenue related to the+/
lease agreement includes scheduled renti

recognized on a straight-line basis over the 1en ’Tof the Iease Northland will reduce the deferred rent Ilablluty by $1, 879 742
over each of the next 5 years a d 1 gh’ﬁhe smginder of the life of the lease agreement.

Future minimum rental rec
of December 31, 2019:

2020 e $ 2,076,624
2021 " 486,684
2022 484,486
2023 492,423
2024 528,046
Thereafter 8,014,088
$ 12,082,351

NOTE 9. NOTE PAYABLE

In connection with the purchase of property related to BLCP, BUDC issued a non-interest bearing note payable in an
amount equal to the greater of $525,000 ($13,125 per acre) or a percentage of the resale price of the developed
property. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the note payable amounted to $257,381, which represents the remaining
19.61 acres of land at $13,125 per acre. No payments are required until any portion of the property is sold.

163



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 10. LOANS AND NOTE PAYABLE

Mortgage Payable
During 2017, Northland borrowed amounts totaling $13,730,000 related to the Northiand Corridor project from BACDE

NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC. BUDC is a guarantor on the loan agreement. Interest accrues at
the rate of 1.33776% and is due quarterly. The loans are collaterized by the building. Interest only payments from the
date of agreement, December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and interest are
due quarterly, commencing December 31, 2024, until the maturity date of December 28, 2052. Under the mortgage
agreements, Northiand shall pay BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC an annual asset management fee of $45,000 through
2025 and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC an annual asset management fee of $10,000 through 2026. There was no
amount outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Bridoe Loan
Northland entered into two bridge loan agreements with KeyBank on December 28, 2017, in the amounts of $20,000,000

(Loan A) and $10,000,000 (Loan B). BUDC, WTC and BBRC Land Company |, LLC are guarantors on the loan
agreement. The loan is collaterized by security interest in all assets of WTC, BBRC Land Company I, LLC and Northland,
assignment of rents by Northland, and assignment of construction contracts_/ and architect's agreements. These bridge
loan agreements mature on June 30, 2021. The balance outstanding totale $30,000,000 and $25,378,882 at December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Interest on Loan A is calculated at Ih‘ e rate (as established by KeyBank), and
interest on Loan B is calculated at the prime rate (as established by KeyBan us .25% per annum (3.31% and 4.31%,
respectively, at December 31, 2019). Accrued interest amounteg“fe $93,715 .$88,913 at December 31, 2019 and

2018, respectively.

Tem Note S, LY
BUDC entered lnto a term note agreement with M&T Bank on Fe ry 28, 2019 totaling $369,750 for the purchase of
nly until maturity in March 2024.

2018
KeyBank $ _£30/000,000 $ 25,378,882
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC <% 8,730,000 8,730,000
NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC Y B %s, 5,000,000 5,000,000
M&T Bank - & 2y 360,750 ;
& T% 44,099,750 39,108,882
Less: debt issuance costs .z 3 118,548 193,420
X fs—'m 981,2 $ 38015462

Current maturities of long term debt é‘re as follows for the years ended December 31:

Deferred
Gross Financing Net

2020 $ - $ 74,872 $ (74,872)
2021 30,000,000 43,676 29,956,324
2022 - - -
2023 - - -
2024 469,938 - 469,938
Thereafter 13,629,812 - 13,629,812

$ 44 099,750 3 118,548 $ 43,951.202

Interest expense for the vear ending December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $1,172,004 and $358,923, respectively.
Capitalized interest amounted to $419,079 and $399,628 for the year ending December 31, 2019 and 2018,

respectively and is properly included in the building.

164



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 11. EQUITY INVESTMENT

Equity investment represents WTC's 1% investment in 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC (Master Tenant). WTC
utilizes the historical cost method of accounting for its investment in the Master Tenant which results in the equity
investment balance being comprised of WTC's original capital contribution in the Master Tenant.

NOTE 12. RESTRICTED NET POSITION
BUDC's restricted net position consists of amounts related to the Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund in the

amount of $1,689,662 and $1,798,106 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively and a loan fund in the amount of
$3,244,328 and $3,191,286 at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 13. NOTES RECEIVABLE WTC

BUDC and WTC have note agreements in the amount of $25,045,279 and'$23,750,000 whereby BUDC will advance
proceeds to WTC as requested. The notes carry an interest rate of on rcent (1%), compounded annually and the
note is for a period of thirty years. The balance of the notes plus wed interest is due upon maturity date at
December 28, 2047. The total outstanding balance on these note (‘was $ 38,272 and $20,446,535 at December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Accrued interest on the loan fmounted to $§l 09 and $136,521 at December 31,

2019 and 2018, respectively.

NOTE 14. POLLUTION REMEDIATION

d during development. Based on preliminary
es Blean-up activates will amount to $4,575,000. The
current estimate includes 87% of the total ,;; ,Mge acquired and the remaining sections are expected to be
demolished or consist of parking lots thél*will réguire lifited clean-up. Management expects the entire cost of the
remediation to be reimbursed by Staté drants; dere f pollution remediation liability has been accrued in these

financial statements.

NOTE 15. SUBSEQUENT EﬁE

These financial statements h *} _not bee ﬁpdated for subsequent events occurring after XXXX XX, 2020 which is the
date these financial statements Q\f@ ays lable to be issued.

\-.

165



166



BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants receivable
Restricted cash
Other current asseis
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Loans receivable
Equity investment
Capital assets, net
Construction in process
Land and improvements held for sale, net
Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Unearned grant revenue
Total liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Deferred rent liability
Loans payable
Note payable

Total noncurrent liabilities

NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted (deficit)
Total net position (deficit)

Total liabilities and net position

$

§

$

$

Buffalo Urban

Development 683 WTC 683 Northland
Corporation LLC LLC Eliminations Total
147,459 $ - $ 99,481 $ - $ 246,940
10,780,646 - - - 10,780,646
4,351,257 883,328 - 5,234,585
12,630,089 489644 (1) (4,986,008) 8,135,225
27 909 451 1,472,453 {4,986,008) 24 397,396
56,329,672 - (W) (45,538,272) 10,791,400
- - 1 (45,333,912) 198,360
6,493,875 103,964,047 - 110,457,922
- 2,897,320 - 2,697,320
4,086,967 - - 4,086,967
66,910,514 106,661,367 (90,872,184) 128,231,969
94,819,965 % —0f133.520,  F__(95888107) 162620365
L
1.42‘25,93 e V481,009 § 7,849,805 (1) $ (4,986,009) % 4,589,840
> i - - - 10,743,729
481,009 7.849.905 (4,986,009) 15,333,569
- 14,453,317 (1} - 14,453,317
45,538,272 43,611,452 (1) (45,538,272) 43,981,202
- - - 257,381
45,538,272 58,064,769 (45,538,272) 58,691,900
10,211,002 - 63,049,915 - 73,261,007
4,933,990 - - - 4,933,990
67,059,088 (485,509) (20.830,769) (1) (45,333,911} 408,899
82,204,170 (485,509) 42,219,146 (45,333,911) 78,603,896
04,819,965 $ 45533772 $ 108,133,820 $ (95,858,192) $ 152,629,365

(1) This represents activifies between the entities to be eliminated for the consolidated financial statements.

167




BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Buffalo Urban

Development 683 WTC 683 Northland
Corporation LLC LLC Eliminations Total
Operating revenues:
Grant revenue $ 20,799,635 $ - $ - 20,799,635
Brownfield funds 298,920 - - 298,920
Loan interest and commitment fees 494,195 - (1) (344,488) 149,707
Rental and other revenue 11,969,451 2873170 - 14,842,621
Total operating revenue 33,562 201 (344.488) 36,090,883
Operating expenses:
Development costs 2,212,848 - 2,579,959
Adjustment to net realizable value 576,816 - 675,816
Salaries and benefits 509,655 - 509,655
General and administrative 1,622,766 1,467,959 - 3,093,725
Management fee 78,855 55,000 - 133,855
Depreciation 15,526 3,208,493 - 3,224,019
Total operating expenses 5015466 5,098,563 - 10,117,029
Operating income (loss) (2,225,393) (1) (344,488) 25,973,854
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest income 2,783 - 19,278
Amortization expense P - (74,872) - (74,872)
Interest expense (344, 488) (1,166.505) (1) 344,488 (1,172,004)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) (344 488) (1,228,594) 344,458 {1,227,598)
Change in net position (347,488) (3,453,987) - 24,746,256
Net position - beginning of year (138,021) 20,085,898 (1) (20,246,676) 53,357,639
Add: capital contributions 2 25,587,235 (1) (25,087,235) 500,000
Net position - end of year $ 82,204170 $ (485,509) $ 42,219,146 $ (45,333,911) 78,603,896

(1) This represents activities between the entities to be eliminated for the consolidated financial statements.

168




REPORT TO THE MANAGING MEMBER

683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

DECEMBER 31, 2019

169



Q F reedMaXiCk?spAs, PC.

March 18, 2020

To the Managing Member of
683 Northland LLC

(A Limited Liability Company)
85 Perry Street, Suite 404
Buffalo, New York 14203

Dear Managing Member:

We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland LLC (the Company)
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019. This report summarizes certain matters required by professional standards
to be communicated to you in your oversight responsibility for 683 Northland LLC's financial reporting process.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Managing Member and management and is not intended fo
be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions
you have about this report. We appreciate the opportunity to continue to be of service to 683 Northland LLC.

Fad Mapet s, /C.

170



Contents

Required COMMUNICAHONS .......coveererrreeeieesrerse s ieersecsress i ar st s s bbb b bbb et 3-5
Summary of Recorded Audit AGJUSIMENTS..........oiiscn i b 6
Exhibit A - Letter Communicating Material Weaknesses and Other Control Deficiencies
in Internal Control Over Financial REPOMING ........cvevrieeerirernnirircnnis et st essissiersssesreese e sassrsernssnssresssnsans 7-8
Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management and Our FiM.........cucmcnmmienenn 9
Engagement Letter

Representation Letter

= FreedMaxickess.ac

171



Required Communications

Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditor's Communication With Those Charged With Governance)
require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication between the auditor and those charged with governance.
Consistent with this requirement, the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit as
well as observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee the financial

reporting process.

Area

Comments

Our Responsibilities With
Regard to the Financial
Statement Audit

Overview of the Planned Scope
and Timing of the Financial
Statement Audit

Accounting Policies and
Practices

Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America have been described to you in our arrangement letter dated February 6,
2020, Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those
charged with governance of their responsibilities, which are also described in that
efter.

We have issued a separate communication dated February 6, 2020 regarding the
planned scope and timing of our audit and identified significant risks.

Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices

Under generally accepted accounting principles, in certain circumstances,
management may select among alternative accounting practices. In our view, in such
circumstances, management has selected the preferable accounting practice.

Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies

Management has the uifimate responsibility for the appropriateness of the accounting
policies used by the Company. Following is a description of significant accounting
policies or their application that were either initially selected or changed during the
year:

e In 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (Topic 606). The new revenue recognition standard outlines a
comprehensive model for companies to use in accounting for revenue arising
from confracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard
must be applied retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-
effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The Company adopted this
standard for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management evaluated
the impact of this ASU and determined that there was not a significant impact
on the financial statements.

e In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Statement of Cash
Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash. The new restricted cash standard
requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted
cash eguivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when
reconciling the beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown
on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented. The Company has implemented
the standard for the year ended December 31, 2019.

= FreedMaxickeeasc

172



Area

Comments

Accounting Policies and
Practices (Continued)

Basis of Accounting

Audit Adjustments

Uncorrected Misstatements

Disagreements With
Management

Consultations With Other
Accountants

Significant Issues Discussed
With Management

e In 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU
supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities
on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases
will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting
the pattern of expenses recognition in the income statements. The new
standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020.

Significant or Unusual Transactions

We did not identify any significant or unusual transactions or significant accounting
policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative
guidance or consensus.

Management's Judgments and Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements
and are based upon management's current judgement. The process used by
management encompasses their knowledge and experience about past and current
events and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish to monitor
throughout the year the process used to compute and record these accounting
estimates. The following describes the accounting estimates reflected in the
Company's December 31, 2019 financial statements:

o Estimated useful life of property in service
o  Recoverability of long-lived assets

Above estimates made by management are deemed reasonabie for the year ending
December 31, 2019.

The financial statements were prepared on the assumption that the Company will
continue as a going concem.

Audit adjustments, other than those that are clearly trivial, proposed by us and
recorded by 683 Northland LLC are shown in the attached “Summary of Recorded
Audit Adjustments.”

We are not aware of any uncorrected misstatements other than misstatements that
are clearly trivial.

We encountered no disagreements with management over the application of
significant accounting principles, the basis for management's judgments on any
significant matters, the scope of the audit, or significant disclosures to be included in
the financial statements.

We are not aware of any consultations management had with other accountants about
accounting or auditing matters,

No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed or the subject of
correspondence with management.

& FreedMaxickems.ec.

173



Area

Comments

Significant Difficulties
Encountered in Performing the
Audit

Letter Communicating Material
Weaknesses and Other Control
Deficiencies in Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting

Significant Written
Communications Between
Management and Our Firm

We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management during
the audit.

We have separately communicated the material weaknesses and other control
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting identified during our audit of the
financial statements, and this communication is attached as Exhibit A.

Copies of significant written communications between our firm and the management
of the Company, including the representation letter to be provided fo us by
management, are attached as Exhibit B.

& FreedMaxickeens.ec.

174



683 Northland, LLC
Year End: December 31, 2019
Summary of Recorded Audit Adjustments

Number Date Name Account No Dehit Credit
1 12/31/2019 Due from Master Tenant 1200.000 24,993
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Furniture (Ineligible} 1919.000 75,557
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Equipment (Ineligible} 1917.000 978,521
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Legal Services (Ineligible) 1921.000 20,845
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Management Fee (Ineligible) 1929.000 55,000
1 12/31/2019 QLICI Asset Mgmt Fee 9130.000 55,000
1 12/31/2019 CIP - General Development (Eligible) 1934.000 65,912
1 12/31/2019 Other Professional Expenses 6105.000 65,912
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Servicing Fee (Ineligible) 1939.000 20,609
1 12/31/2019 Loan Servicing Fee 6126.000 22,109
1 12/31/2019 Insurance Expense 6125.000 2,983
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Insurance (Ineligible) 1937.000 2,983
1 123112019 Interest Expense 6124.000 138,674
1 12/31/2019 ECIDA Fees 6123.000 72,290
1 12/31/12019 CIP - Finance Charges (Ineligible) 1941.000 212,464
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Miscellaneous (Ineligible) 1945.000 4,149
1 12/31/2019 Tax & Audit Expense - Ineligible 6113.000 51,550
1 12/31/2019 CIP - Tax & Audit Expense - Ineligible 1925.000 51,550
1 12/31/2019 Furnitures, Fixtures & Equipment 1911.000 1,004,079
1 12/31/2019 Building Improvements 1914.000 460,926
1 12/31/2019 CIP - General Development (Eligible) 1934.000 460,926
To properly adjust various expenses and Master
Tenant activity out of construction in progress.
2 12/31/2019 Depreciation 7000.000 718,205
2 12/31/2019 Accumulated Depreciation 1950.000 718,205
To properly adjust current year depreciation
expense to actual,
12/31/2019 CIP - Finance Charges (Eligible} 1940.000 93,715
12/31/2019 Accrued Interest 2501.000 93,715

To properly accrue for December interest included on construction

in progress schedule not recorded on the trial balance.

175



Q FreediVIaxickeras k.

Exhibit A - Letter Communicating Material Weaknesses and Other
Control Deficiencies in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

To Managing Member and Management
683 Northland LLC
Buffalo, NY

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of 683 Northland LLC (the Company) as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2019, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, we
considered the Company's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the preceding paragraph and was not designed
to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses. Therefore, material weaknesses may exist
that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider
to be material weaknesses.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not aliow management or employees,
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely
basis. A deficiency in design exists when (a) a control necessary to meet the control objective is missing, or (b) an existing
control is not properly designed so that, even if the control operates as designed, the control objective would not be met. A
deficiency in operation exists when a properly designed control does not operate as designed or when the person performing
the control does not possess the necessary authority or competence to perform the control effectively.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in intemal control, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected,
on a timely basis. We consider the following deficiency in the Company’s internal control to be a material weakness:

A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Certain deficiencies in intemnal conirol that have been previously communicated to you, in writing, by us or by others within
your organization are not repeated herein.

We consider the following deficiency in the Company'’s intemal control to be a material weakness:

Improper Recording of Fixed Assets

During our review of fixed assets, we noted several items incorrectly captured in construction in progress. Fixed assets
related to Phase | should be capitalized upon placement into service and begin depreciating. Further, there were several
expenses captured in construction in progress that should not have been capitalized. Management should implement a

process of reviewing the nature of the expense incurred prior to capitalizing into construction in progress in order to ensure
these items are properly recorded.

176



These practices can lead fo inaccurate account balances which impact the balance sheets and statements of operations.

Management Response:

Management has implemented a process io review expenditures for proprietary of capitalization or
expenditure under U.S. GAAP prior to the recording of the transaction.

Following are descriptions of other identified deficiencies in internal control that we determined did not constitute significant
deficiencies or material weaknesses:

Landlord and Master Tenant Transactions

Throughout our audit, we noted several fransactions that were not recorded on the proper entity. The master lease
agreement (MLA) governs the Landlord and Master Tenant structure and specifies what entity records certain fransactions.
Under the MLA, all operating expenses including insurance, legal, repairs and maintenance and utilities are to be recorded
on the Master Tenant entity. Management should implement a process to assess the MLA and ensure activity is reflected

on the books and records of the proper entity.
Management Response:

Management has implemented policies and procedures fo review and analyze the Master Lease Agreement fo
ensure transactions are recorded on the proper entity moving forward.

This communication is infended solely for the information and use of management, the managing member and is not
intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Flad Mapwt CH, fC.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020

& FreedMaxickees e

177



Exhibit B - Significant Written Communications Between Management
and Our Firm

Engagement Letter — previously furnished
Representation Letter — see aftached

(& FreedMaxickeeas ec

178



683 Northland LI.C

March 13, 2020

Freed Maxick CPAs, P.C.
424 Main Street, Suite 900
Buffalo, New York 14202

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of 683
Northland LLC (the Company), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,
the related statements of operations and changes in members’ equity, and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America {U.S. GAAP).

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, that as of the date of the auditor's report:

Financial Statements

1.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit arrangement letter dated
February 8, 2020, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements referred to above
in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control
to prevent and detect fraud.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair
value, are reasonable and reflect our judgment based on our knowledge and experience about past
and current events, and our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we
expect to take.

Related-party transactions, including those with other organizations for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the company are such that exclusion would cause the reporting of
the company’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete, including accounts receivable and
payable, sale and purchase transactions, leasing and shared-service arrangements, have been
recorded in accordance with the economic substance of the fransaction and appropriately accounted
for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. GAAP.

All events subsequent fo the date of the financial statements, and for which U.S. GAAP requires
adjustment or disclosure, have been adjusted or disclosed.

The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed
in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The following specific representation has been drafied for when accounting services (such as
miaintaining depreciation schedules, computing the provision for income taxes, drafting the financial
statements, assessing the impact of new accounting standards) have been performed as part of the
audit:

179



9.

10.

With respect to services performed in the course of the audit:
a. We have made all management decisions and performed all management functions;
b. We assigned an appropriate individual to oversee the services;

¢. We evaluated the adequacy and results of the services performed, and made an informed
judgment on the results of the services performed;

d. We have accepted responsibility for the results of the services; and

e. We have accepted responsibility for all significant judgments and decisions that were made.
We have no direct or indirect, legal or moral obligation for any debt of any organization, public or private
that is not disclosed in the financial statement,

We have no knowledge of any uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements.

Information Provided

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

186.

We have provided you with:

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

b. Additionat information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit;

¢. Unrestricted access to persons within the Company from whom you determined it necessary to
obtain audit evidence; and

d. Minutes of the meetings of stockholders, directors and committees of directors, or summaries of
actions of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial
statements.

We have disclosed fo you the resulis of our assessment of risk that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.

We have no knowledge of allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting [Client Name]’s financial
statements involving:

a. Management.

b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control.

c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Company’s financial
statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, regulators, short

sellers or others.

We have no knowledge of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations.

180



17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be
congidered when preparing the financial statements.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Company’s related parties and all the related-party
relationships and fransactions of which we are aware.

We have informed you of all significant deficiencies, including material weaknesses, in the design or
operation of internal controls that could adversely affect 683 Northland LLC's ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial data.

There have been no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance with, or
deficiencies in, financial reporting practices.

During the course of your audits, you may have accumulated records containing data that should be
reflected In our books and records. All such data have been so reflected. Accordingly, copies of such
records In your possession are no longer needed by us.

As of December 31, 2019, $114,444 in receivables are due from 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC.

683 Northland LLC

Dol N7 P

Moltie Profic, CFO v
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, as Agent

181



AUDITED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

DECEMBER 31, 2019

182



683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

CONTENTS

Independent AUdItOr's RePOTL...... ... et r e e et st s e s e e e s s s e e e

Financial Statements:

BalANCE SHEELS........oeiii et ieeseraterssessbetrasre st aneiossssreas s assssenstreresasaaereeessertrantas aestensrasassnnaransen
Statements of OPEratioNS. ... ..ot e e s e see e
Statements of Changes in Members' EQUItY........c.cooviiicccne
SHAtEMENES OF CASI FIOWS ..ottt e tsce st e s e teetr e s sabe e tas s srresstsatessasssnranaseasassteesesntnssssntsnans
Notes to FINancial StateMENts .........cccciiccrevir i ereecrerrsrris e serrerss st me e essseseesnsssrtereserssessnnssssrnsanansasanns

183



Trust earned.

FreedMaxick’

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of
683 Northland LLC
(A Limited Liability Company)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of 683 Northland LLC (A Limited Liability Company)
which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of operations
and members’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generaily accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of 683 Northland LLC as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash

flows for the years then ended in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Buffalo, New York
March 13, 2020

184



683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash $
Due from related party
Accounts receivable

Prepaid insurance
Total current assets

Restricted cash
Land, property and equipment, net
Total assets $
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $
Accrued interest
Developer fee payabie

Total current liabilities

Deferred rent liability - Master Lease Agreement
Long term debt, net

Total liabilities
Members' equity

Total liabilities and members' equity $

See accompanying notes.

185

2019 2018
99,481 736,137
114,444 112,971
317,229 -
57,971 154,546
589,125 1,003,654
883,328 2,233,187
106,661,367 78,352,653
108,133,820 81,589,494
3,251,190 8,504,983
93,715 88,913
4,505,000 1,817,354
7,849,905 10,411,250
14,453,317 12,176,884
43,611,452 38,915,462
65,914,674 61,503,596
42,219,146 20,085,898
108,133,820 81,589,494




683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended December 31,

Operating revenues:
Rental revenue
Tenant reimbursements
Other
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Moving equipment expense
Professional fees
Construction expense
Insurance
Asset management fees
Miscellaneous
Repairs and maintenance
Supplies

Total operating expenses

Operating gain (loss)

Other (expense) income:
Interest income
Depreciation
Interest expense
Total other expense

Net loss

2019 2018
$ 1,879,742 $ 626,581
961,723 -
31,705 -
2,873,170 626,581
682,564 -
552,880 946,833
367,111 -
204,332 69,740
55,000 55,000
27,596 32,451
587 49,078
. 215432
1,890,070 1,369,434
983,100 (742,853)
2,783 4,023
(3,208,493) (1,037,620)
(1,231,377) (433,795)
(4,437,087) (1,467,392)
$ (3,453,987) $ (2,210,245)

See accompanying notes.

186



683 NORTHLAND LLC
{A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBERS' EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31,

Members' equity - January 1, 2018
Members' capital contributions
Net income

Members' equity - December 31, 2018

Members' capital contributions

Net loss

Members' equity - December 31, 2019

Percentage interest

MANAGING
MEMBER MEMBER TOTAL

$ 9 $ 10,249,057 10,249,066
2,049,294 9,997,783 12,047,077
(110,512) (2,099,733) (2,210,245)
1,938,791 18,147,107 20,085,898
500,000 25,087,235 25,587,235
(172,699) (3,281,288) (3,453,987)
$ 2,266,091 $ 39,953,055 42,219,146
5.00% 95.00% 100%

See accompanying notes.

187



683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss $

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net
cash used by operating activities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Decrease (increase) in assets:
Prepaid insurance
Due from related party
Accounts receivable
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued interest
Deferred rent liability - Master Lease Agreement
Net cash used by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Net cash used by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments of prepaid rent under the Master Lease Agreement
Members' contributions
Repayment of developer fee
Proceeds from long term debt
Net cash provided by financing activities

Net decrease in cash and restricted cash
Cash and restricted cash - beginning of year
Cash and restricted cash - end of year $

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Noncash transactions:

Capital asset purchases in accounts payable $
Accrued interest in construction in progress $
Developer fee payable capitalized $
Members' capital contributions - capital assets $
Cash paid for interest $

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and restricted cash to the amounts reported within the

balance sheets:

Operating cash
Restricted cash

Total cash and restricted cash

See accompanying notes.

188

2019 2018
(3,453,987) $ (2,210,245)
3,208,493 1,037,620
74,872 74,872
96,575 8,581
(1,473) (112,971)
(317,229)
(8,395,018) (3,444,773)
4,802 -
(1,844,742) (626,481)
(10,627,707) (5,273,397)
(23,155,750) (48,826,542)
(23,155,750) (48,826,542)
4,121,175 12,603,363
25,512,003 11,016,352
(2,457,354) -
4,621,118 25,378,882
31,796,942 48,998,597
(1,986,515) (5,101,342)
2,969,324 8,070,666
982,809 $ 2,969,324

3,141,225

___ B503246

88,913

=L1:i=

1,226,575

2019

1,030,725

$

$ )
$ 1,817,354
$

$

2018

$ 99,481

883,328

$ 982,808

$

736,137

2233187

$

2,969,324




683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION

683 Northland LLC (the Company) is a limited liability company formed pursuant to the laws of the State of
New York on December 13, 2016. The Company was formed to facilitate the ownership, rehabilitation and
operation of a commercial and industrial facility located at 683 Northland Avenue, City of Buffalo, known as the
Niagara Machine & Tool Works Factory (the Building). The Company serves as lessor to 683 Northland
Master Tenant, LLC, a related entity. The relationship between lessor and lessee is governed by a Master
Lease Agreement dated December 28, 2017.

The Building is listed on the National Register of Historic Places and will receive an allocation of federal and state
historic rehabilitation tax credits under Section 47 of the Intemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and New
York credit for Rehabilitation of Historic Properties under Section 606(00) of New York State tax law. The Building
is being developed in two phases; Phase 1 received an allocation of rehabilitation tax credits in during the year
ended December 31, 2018; Phase 2 received allocations in the year ending December 31, 2019 and expects final
completion of the building and receipt of tax credits during the year ended December 31, 2020.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Accounting: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Cash: The statement of cash flows considers amounts available for current operations to be cash and
includes amounts for restricted reserves.

Concentration of Credit Risk: The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which, at times,
may exceed federally insured limits. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts. The
Company believes it is not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, one tenant represented 100% of rental revenue.

Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable are comprised of billed and uncollected amounts due for
reimbursements related to leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment. On a periodic basis, the
Company evaluates its accounts receivable and will establish an allowance for doubtful accounts if necessary.
There was no allowance for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Revenue Income: The Company recognizes revenue on the date rent becomes due in accordance with the
Master Lease Agreement. Rental payments received in advance are deferred until earned. The Master Lease
Agreement is an operating lease.

Capitalization Policy: During the construction phase of the Project, certain disbursements are capitalized rather
than charged to expense. These costs generally include architects and appraisal fees; legal and accounting fees;
and construction period insurance, interest, utilities, and taxes.

Land, Property and Equipment: Land, property and equipment are carried at cost which includes all direct costs
of acquisition and construction as well as indirect costs including interest incurred during the rehabilitation period.
Renewals and betterments that materially extend the life of the assets are capitalized. Expenditures for
maintenance and repairs are charged against operations. Depreciation is provided for using the straight-line
method based on the following useful lives:

Building 39 years
Land improvements 15 years
Leasehold improvements 15 years
Building improvements 10 years
Furniture, fixtures, and equipment 7 years
Equipment 5 years

189



683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Company reviews its land, property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carmying value of such property may not be recoverable. Recoverability is
measured by a comparison of the camrying amount of land, property and equipment to the future net undiscounted
cash flow expected to be generated by the land, property and equipment and any estimated proceeds from the
eventual disposition of the land, property and equipment. If the land, property and equipment is considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured at the amount by which the camying amount of the land,
property and equipment exceeds the fair value of such land, property and equipment. There were no impairment
losses recognized for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Debt Issuance Costs: Amortization of debt issuance costs for long term debt for the year ended December 31,
2019 and 2018 amounted to $74,872 and are inciuded in interest expense. Total unamortized debt issuance costs
as of December 31, 2019 amounted to $118,548 ($193,420 — 2018)

Income Taxes: No provision or benefit has been made for income taxes in the accompanying financial
statements sihce taxable income or loss of the Company passed through to the respective members for
reporting passes through to, and is reportable by, the members individually.

Use of Estimates: In preparing financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, management makes
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

Start-up Costs: As Phase 1 of the Project was placed into service during the year ended December 31, 2018,
there were a number of start-up costs incurred and expensed related to this phase. These expenses include
supplies expense and professional fees including organizational costs, legal and ECIDA fees. These expenses
are included in operating expenses on the accompanying statements of operations.

Recently Adopted Accounting Principles: In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. The new revenue recognition standard outlines a comprehensive model for
companies to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most
current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The standard must be applied
retrospectively to each period presented or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of adoption. The
Company adopted this standard for the year ended December 31, 2019. Management evaluated the impact of
this ASU and determined that there was not a significant impact on the financial statements.

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, Stafement of Cash Flows (Topic 230), Restricted Cash.
The new restricted cash standard requires that amounts generally described as restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the beginning-of-period and
end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The amendments are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2018. The standard must be applied retrospectively to each period
presented. The Company has implemented the standard for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncement: In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 820). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new
guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all
leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with
classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. The new standard is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. A modified retrospective transition approach is
required for lessees for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the
earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements, with certain practical expedients available.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this guidance with have on the financial
statements.

190



683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Reclassification: Certain 2018 amounts have been reclassified to conform to 2019 presentation.

Subsequent Event: These financial statements have not been updated for subsequent events occurring after
March 13, 2020, which is the date these financial statements were available to be issued.

NOTE 3. LAND, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Land, property and equipment consists of the following as of December 31:

2019 2018

Land $ 589,272 $ 589,272
Buildings and improvements 99,736,560 58,888,113
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 7,619,162 5,548,732

Leasehold improvements 265,166 -
Construction in process 2,697,320 14.364.156
110,907,480 79,390,273
Less: Accumulated depreciation ¢ (4,246,113) (1,037.620)
106,661,367 $__18.3562,653

Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 amounted to $3,208,493 ($1,037,620 — 2018).

NOTE 4. CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND ALLOCATION OF PROFITS AND LOSSES

The Company consists of two members; 683 WTC, LLC and BBRC Land Company |, LLC. 683 WTC, LLC is the
managing member and a 95% owner. BBRC Land Company I, LLC has a 5% membership interest.

The managing member was required to contribute capital of $95 according to the terms of the operating
agreement. The managing member contributed an additional $25,087,235 during the year ended December 31,
2019 ($9,997,783 — 2018). During the year ended December 31, 2019 there were $75,232 of capital assets
contributed to the Company ($1,030,725 — 2018).

The member interest is required to contribute capital of $5. The member interest contributed a total of $500,000
during the year ended December 31, 2019 ($2,049,294 — 2018)

The terms of the amended and restated operating agreement of the Company, effective as of December 28,
2017, provides for, among other things, that profits and losses be allocated to each member in accordance with
the ratio of the value of the respective capital account to the vaiue of all capital accounts in the aggregate.

NOTE 5. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES

The Company has a Master Lease Agreement (the Agreement) with the master tenant member to receive rental
income commencing August 26, 2018, the day prior to the first date on which Phase | of the Building was placed in
service for purposes of the historical tax credits, through the year ended December 31, 2037. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, the Company recognized $1,879,742 in rental revenue related to the Agreement ($626,581 -
2018). The lease agreement includes scheduled rent increases over the term of the lease, which in accordance with
U.S. GAAP, will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Company will reduce the
deferred rent liability by $1,879,742 aver each of the next 5 years and through the remainder of the life of the lease
agreement.

191



683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 5. TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES (CONTINUED)

Future minimum rental receipts to be received under the Master Lease Agreement are contractually due as
follows as of December 31, 2019:

2020 $ 2,076,624

2021 486,684
2022 484,486
2023 492 423
2024 528,046
Thereatfter 8,014,088
$_12.082,351

Developer's Fee - Related Party: The Company has an agreement with Buffalo Urban Development
Corporation (the “Developer”) regarding the developer fee amounting to $11,886,746. A portion of the
developer fee equal to $6,741,746 was earned upon construction completion of Phase | of the Project during
the year ended December 31, 2018. The balance of $5,145,000 was earned upon construction completion of
Phase |l of the Project during the year ended December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the developer
fee payable amounted to $4,505,000 ($1,817,354 — 2018). The Company expects to pay the remaining
balance due on the Phase !l developer fee during 2020 and therefore has classified as a current liability in the
accompanying balance sheets.

Due from Related Parties: The Company has paid certain operating expenses directly to third parties on
behalf of 683 Northland Master Tenant, LLC. The outstanding amount for the year ending December 31, 2019
is $114,444 ($112,971 - 2018).

NOTE 6. LONG TERM DEBT

Mortgage Payable: During 2017, the Company borrowed amounts totaling $13,730,000 related to the
Northiand Corridor project from BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC. Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation, a related party, is a guarantor on the loan agreement. Interest accrues at the rate of
1.33776% and is due quarterly. The loans are collaterized by the building. Interest only payments from the
date of the agreement, December 28, 2017 through December 31, 2024 are payable quarterly. Principal and
interest are due quarterly, commencing December 31, 2024, until the maturity date of December 28, 2052.
Under the loan agreements, the Company shall pay BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC an annual asset
management fee of $45,000 through 2025 and NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC an annual asset management fee
of $10,000 through 2026. Asset management fees amounted to $55,000 for year ending December 31, 2019
and 2018.

Bridge Loans: The Company entered into two bridge loan agreements with KeyBank on December 28, 2017, in
the amounts of $20,000,000 (Loan A) and $10,000,000 (Loan B). Buffalo Urban Development Corporation, 683
WTC, LLC, and BBRC Land Company |, LLC, related parties, are guarantors on these loan agreements. The
loans are collaterized by security interest in all assets of 683 WTC, LLC, BBRC Land Company |, LLC and 683
Northland LLC, assignment of rents by the Company, and assighment of construction contracts and architect's
agreements. These bridge loan agreements mature on June 30, 2021. The balance outstanding at December 31,
2019 totaled $30,000,000 ($25,378,882 - 2018). Interest on Loan A is calculated at the prime rate (as established
by KeyBank), and interest on Loan B is calculated at the prime rate (as established by KeyBank) plus .25% per
annum (3.31% and 4.31%, respectively, at December 31, 2019). Accrued interest amounted to $93,715 as
December 31, 2019 ($88,913 - 2018).

192



683 NORTHLAND LLC
(A LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6. LONG TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

The above long-term debt is summarized by funding source below as follows at December 31:

— 2019 2018
KeyBank $ 30,000,000 $ 25,378,882
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC 8,730,000 8,730,000
NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC 5,000,000 5.000.000
$ 43,730,000 $ 39,108,882
Less: debt issuance costs 118.548 193.420

—_———ee — .
$.43,611,452 $.38.915.462
Current maturities of long-term debt are as follows for the years ending December 31, 2019:

Debt Issuance

Gross Costs Net
2020 $ - $ 74,872 $ (74,872)
2021 30,000,000 43,676 29,956,324
2022 - - -
2023 - - -
2024 100,188 - 100,188
Thereafter 13,629,812 - 13,629,812

$_43.730,000 $_118.548  $_43.611.452

Interest expense for the year ending December 31, 2019 was $1,166,505 ($368,923 — 2018). Capitalized interest
related to Phase |l amounted to $419,079 for the year ending December 31, 2019 and is properly included in the
building ($399,628 — 2018).

NOTE 7. RESTRICTED CASH AND FUNDED RESERVES

The Company was required to establish interest reserve accounts for the KeyBank bridge loans and asset
management fees in connection with the loans due to BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC and NTCIC-NORTHLAND,
LLC. The interest and asset management fees incurred in connection to these loans are paid from these reserve
accounts. The balances in the reserve accounts were as follows as of December 31:

2019 2018
KeyBank interest reserve $ 361,690 $ 1,605,640
BACDE NMTC Fund 16, LLC reserve 351,638 417 547
NTCIC-NORTHLAND, LLC reserve 170,000 210,000
$__883,328 $._2233,187

193



ITEM 3.2.3

AUDITED

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION /;

BUFFALO BROWNFIELDS REDEVELOPMENT
FUND

DECEMBER 31, 2019

194



BUFFALO BROWNFIELDS REDEVELOPMENT FUND
CONTENTS

Independent Auditor’s Report

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net POsition ...

INOEES 10 the SCREUUIE. ... .. .oeeeeietitr it s e et reee s e e evs s s s e snmr e mnmsaresmmsrasasssassssnssnssssnsnnsssessnasssnss nnsnsnsnnsnmnnsns

195



& FreedMaxickees qc.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Directors

Erie County Industrial Development Agency
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
Buffalo, New York

Report on the Financial Statements

inges in net position of Buffalo Urban

We have audited the accompanying schedule of revenues, expens 's and‘
' %the year ended December 31, 2019

Development Corporation’s (BUDC), Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fun
and the related notes to the schedule.

Management’'s Responsibility for the Financial Statemen"“ :

& of this schedule in accordance with accounting
; Wais includes the design, implementation, and
"r presentation of the schedule that is free from

-'_- auditor’s judgment including the assessment of the risks of materlal
ief"due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the schedule in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the schedule.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

196



Opinion

In our opinion, the schedule of revenues, expenses and changes in net position referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the revenues and expenses of BUDC's Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund for the year
ended December 31, 2019, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America.
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, the

consolidated financial statements of BUDC as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and our report thereon,
dated XXXXXX, expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

Restriction on Use

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Di ;&c;tors and management of the Erie County
Industrial Development Agency, the Buffalo Urban Development Corp ra‘tlon the County of Erie, and the City of
Buffalo and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone otl a,g these specified parties.

/ 3 %

Buffalo, New York

(& FreedMaxickipss .

197



BUFFALO BROWNFIELDS REDEVELOPMENT FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

Operating revenue:
City of Buffalo PILOTs by end user:

Sonwil $ -

Certainteed 294,900

Cobey 135,654
Total City of Buffalo PILOTs 430,554

County of Erie PILOTs by end user:

Sonwil 60,258

Certainteed 73,307

Cobey ' 33,721
Total County of Erie PILOTs 167,286

Total operating revenues 597,840
Operating expenses:

City of Buffalo share of PILOTs 215,277

County of Erie share of PILOTs 83,643

Eligible project costs 419,785

Total operating expenses 718,705
Operating loss (120,865)
Nonoperating revenues:

Interest income 12,421
Change in net position (108,444)
Net position - beginning® 1,798,106
Net position - ending $ 1,689,662

See accompanying notes.

198



BUFFALO BROWNFIELDS REDEVELOPMENT FUND
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Entity: The Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (the Fund) was formed in July 2005 by
agreement between Erie County Industrial Development Agency (ECIDA), the City of Buffalo (the City), the County of
Erie (the County), and Buffalo Urban Development Corporation (BUDC) for the purpose of remediation and
redevelopment of Brownfields properties in the City. Under this agreement, ECIDA receives payments in lieu of taxes
(PILOTs) from property owners located within the Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park (BLCP). These PILOT payments
are the result of abated City and County property taxes, as authorized by ECIDA. A portion of these PILOT payments
is paid to the City and County, while the remainder is held in the Fund to assist in further development of BLCP. After
completion of BLCP, funds can be used in connection with similar projects located within the City that are undertaken

by BUDC.

Basis of Presentation: The schedule of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position (the schedule) presents the
activity of the Fund, which is accounted for and is part of BUDC's financial statements. The schedule has been
prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America as applied to governmental units and specifically Jtsmess-type activities. The Governmental
Accounting Standards Board is the accepted standard-setting body f éstablishing governmental accounting and

financial reporting principles.

199



ITEM 3.2.4

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Investment Report
For the year ended December 31, 2019

200



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
2019 Annual Investment Report

Purpose of Report:

Under Section 2925(6) of the Public Authorities Law, BUDC is required to annually
prepare and approve an Investment Report. The Investmeiit Report is to include: BUDC’s
Investment Guidelines (see below), the results of the ant ndependent audit (see below),

year ended December 31, 2019 and was approve 1
March 31, 2020 meeting. £

Investment Guidelines:

, BUDC is required to
hcy and instructions to staff

Vi _;by the BUDC Board of Directors at their
posted on the BUDC website at
The  Investment

BUDC’s auditors h ited the corporation’s compliance with the Investment
Guidelines for Public Authorities. In their report dated March __, 2020 Freed Maxick
CPAs have indicated that BUDC complied, in all material respects, w1th these Investment
Guidelines.

201



*ANG 40 Heysq uo YaID3 8 Aq plaY SI pue pund (dSH) sioalold JUeoUBIS AljeuciBsy su) Se UMOUY S1JUNDDOE SIY] .,
"0QNG 40 4eyaq uo ¥aID3 au) Aq play st pue (4:a8) PUn4 JualudojaAapay SPISYLMOIG OJEJNG 8Y) SE UMOU)| §) JUNOSOE S ,,
‘(Aue y1) sasy Jo uoyonpap ay) 0} Joud §1 PUB §10Z JaqUISda(] JO YIUOW auj} 10} SJBI PaZI|enuUE ay) Si ajey Jsaisiu) ay] .,

“Hwy Didd 8y} aroge seouejeq Joj Juabe sy Jo Aloyisodap sy} Aq palsod [eia)elj0o Aq painoas pue paajuelenb Djd ale SJunodde |1y

:sajoN
- $ o9c'ee S 8Ev'Zor'S § €98'902'92¢
- $ - $ B $ z $
unoooe Buyaayd DM £89 [eisusD - - - - yueghay  BuppayQ isessiy| L
-SjUNoJAY 971 'JLM £89
- $ €82 § 608'286 ¢ ¥2£'696'C $
Junoose Bupjpsy) aasesay 3QOVE M - - - 8€9°1G€E S'L\y NUBgRID Bupjoayd g4
Junoaoe Bupjosyd anesey DIDLN M - - - 000°041 ooo‘ole Hueqm) Bupjosud gi
Junoooe BupjoayDd PUEjUMON £89 [BISUSD) - - - - 184688 Jueqio Buppsyd i
{papunjaid) Juncooe salasay 1saseuj M - See'z %S20 069'19¢ 0v9'c09'} yueghey  Bupdsyd isassiy| g1
wnoooe Bupjasyg puelyHON £89 [esauag) - 2144 %S2'0 18'68 96e'0S1 yueghey]  Bupjosyy issssiy| Zi
-SUN03DY JT1 PUBIRION £89
- $ - $ v} $ 0 $
Junoosoe Bunoay?) Aueduwion pue Dxgg [eisusn - - - 100 L0'0 jueghay  Buppayd jsase| L)
= $ = 3 Z80'¢ $ LeevlL  § M
unoooe BuosyD Dxad |elsuag - - - 280'€ LBE'rL yueghey]  Bupjoayp iseseiul 0L ey
SN0y Qg8
N $ 69S'9z § 9LL'86¥'y § 6rl'Eceecs
Apadoud puejyloN ¢/ Joj Junoooy - or %S20 pES'LE - sueghay - Buposyd 1sassiy) 6
6690V/661Z Juelb 10} junoooe jsasdw M - 002 %S1°0 - 181'v20'e) sueghey  Bupiosyd jsassi g
92OV Weub 1oy Junodoe jsaidw) M - 9997 %510 S0z'602Z'L 00.'86"1 sueghay  Bunoayd issusi £
5109014 Juswdojsaaq Alunag eu3 8|qibys o) JuNoodE pajouisay M - 699 %890 LEG L1 096°204 sueghsy  Bupioayd Jsasiy) 9
wjusludojaaap slelsa jeas ojeyng Jo A Joj Juncode paoHISaY M - 12zl %S90  v.Z'6L6 09v'sy0'e queghey]  Buppayd 1sase) §
JUNOJJE 10pLIOY PUBIYLION M - - - 0002 100 queghey  Bupiosyo 1sal]
pun4 ueo umolmoq IS - - - 8zZe'6LL'T 982'Lib'e yueghay  Bupjosyd jsasep] €
S1Z weub 1oy unosoe jsaiduw| p - JA %610 Gee'y 048y sueghey  Bunjoayg jsasei| g
“Junodoe Bupoayd DANg |eseuss - sog'e %510 6st'obl 266'G.S'E yueghAsy  Buposyy isase] |
’Suno3dy Jana
6102 220 BLOZ/VERZL 8L02/LIY
asodind pajosay $994 awoouj <918y souejeg Yo adsuejeg /o uonnsu| adA] junosoay
JUBWISAAU] 1sauauy [CIRUITTE]
_ 6102 |

610Z ‘L€ Joqiasaq papue Jeak ay) 104
Hoday juatuysaau] fenuuy

(ougg) uonesodio) uoneiosay plagumolg ojeyng
sajeljiyy pue (Hang) uonelodio) Juswdojaaaq ueqin ojeyng



ITEM 3.2.5

BUFFALO URBAN DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

INVESTMENT AND DEPOSIT POLICY

ARTICLE 1
Scope

Section 2925 of the New York Public Authorities Law requires the Buffalo Urban
Development Corporation (the “Corporation”) to adopt by resolution comprehensive investment
guidelines which detail its operative policy and instructions to officers and staff regarding the
investing, monitoring and reporting of funds of the Corporation.

This investment and deposit policy (“Investment Policy”) is adopted by the Corporation
pursuant to the foregoing provisions of the Public Authorities Law and shall apply to all moneys
and other financial resources available for investment on the Corporation’s own behalf or, when
applicable, on behalf of any other entity or individual. The provisions of this Investment Policy
are also consistent with the requirements of Sections 10 and 11 of the New York General
Municipal Law, which the Corporation is not required to comply with, but has elected to follow
as a “best practice.”

This Investment Policy shall be applicable to all affiliates and subsidiaries of the
Corporation, and to all other affiliates or subsidiary companies of the Corporation which may
hereafter be established by the Corporation and which are determined to be subject to the
requirements of Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law (an “Affiliate™). Unless otherwise
indicated, all references to the “Corporation” herein shall also include the each Affiliate.

ARTICLE 11
Governing Principles

A. Investment Objectives.

The primary objectives of the Corporation’s investment policy are, in order of
priority, as follows: (i) to conform with all applicable federal, state and local laws and legal
requirements; (ii) to adequately safeguard principal; (iii) to provide sufficient liquidity to meet
all operating requirements of the Corporation; and (iv) to obtain a reasonable rate of return.

B. Diversification.

The policy of the Corporation is to diversify by investment instrument, by
maturity, and where practicable by financial institution.

203



C. Internal Controls.

1. All funds received by an officer or employee of the Corporation shall be
promptly deposited with the depositories designated by the Corporation (pursuant to Article III.A
of this Investment Policy) for the receipt of such funds.

2. The Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer of the Corporation shall maintain or
cause to be maintained a proper record of all books, notes, securities or other evidence of
indebtedness held by the Corporation for investment and deposit purposes. Such record shall
identify the security, the fund for which it is held, the place where kept, the date of sale or other
disposition, and the amount received from such sale or other disposition.

3. The Corporation is responsible for establishing and maintaining an
internal control structure to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that deposits and
investments are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, that transactions
are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and recorded properly, and are
managed in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

D. Authorized Financial Institutions and Dealers.

The Corporation shall maintain a list of financial institutions and dealers
approved for investment purposes and establish appropriate limits to the amount of investments
that may be outstanding with each financial institution or dealer. All financial institutions with
which the Corporation conducts business must be creditworthy as determined by criteria
established by the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer of the Corporation. All banks with which the
Corporation does business shall provide their most recent Consolidated Report of Condition
(Call Report) at the request of the Corporation. Security dealers not affiliated with a bank shall
be required to be classified as reporting dealers affiliated with the New York Federal Reserve
Bank, as primary dealers.

E. Purchase of Investments.

The Corporation may contract for the purchase of investments directly, including
through a repurchase agreement, from an authorized trading partner. All purchased obligations,
unless registered or inscribed in the name of the Corporation, shall be purchased through,
delivered to, and held in the custody of a bank or trust company. Such obligations shall be
purchased, sold or presented for redemption or payment by such bank or trust company only in
accordance with prior written authorization from the officer authorized to make the investment.
All such transactions shall be confirmed in writing to the Corporation by the bank or trust
company and shall be held pursuant to a written custodial agreement as described in Article
IV.C.2 of this Policy.

F. Repurchase Agreements.

The Corporation may enter into repurchase agreements subject to the following
restrictions:

204



1. All repurchase agreements must be entered into subject to a Master
Repurchase Agreement.

2. Trading partners are limited to commercial banks or trust companies
authorized to do business in New York State and primary reporting
dealers.

3. Obligations shall be limited to obligations of the United States of America
and obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America.

4. No substitution of securities will be allowed.
5. Obligations purchased pursuant to a repurchase agreement shall be held by

a custodian other than the trading partner, pursuant to a written custodial
agreement that complies the terms of Article IV.C.2 of this Policy.

ARTICLE 111
Investments

A, General Policy.

It is the general policy of the Corporation that funds not required for immediate
expenditure shall be invested as described in Article III.B below. Investments shall be made
with judgment and care, under circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence,
discretion and intelligence exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation,
but for investment, considering the safety of the principal as well as the probable income, net of
fees, to be derived.

B. Permitted Investments.

The Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer is authorized to invest funds not required for
immediate expenditure in the following investments, which are permitted under Section 11 of the
General Municipal Law:

1. Special time deposit accounts in, or certificates of deposit issued by any
commercial bank or trust company that is located in and authorized to do business in New York
State, provided that such deposit account or certificate of deposit is secured in the same manner
as provided in Article IV.B of this Investment Policy and is payable within such time as the
proceeds shall be needed to meet expenditures for which the funds were obtained;

2. Obligations of the United States of America;

3. Obligations guaranteed by agencies of the United States of America where
the payment of principal and interest are guaranteed by the United States of America;

205



4, Obligations of the State of New York; and

5. Such other obligations as may be permitted under Section 11 of the
General Municipal Law.

All investments as provided in Sections B(2) through B(5) of this Article shall be
payable or redeemable at the option of the Corporation within such times as the proceeds will be
needed to meet expenditures for purposes for which the moneys were provided and, in the case
of obligations purchased with the proceeds of bonds or notes, shall be payable or redeemable at
the option of the Corporation within two years of the date of purchase, and comply with such
other requirements as set forth in Section 11 of the General Municipal Law.

ARTICLE 1V
Deposits

A. Designation of Depositories.

The Corporation shall, by resolution, designate one or more commercial banks or
trust companies for the deposit of Corporation funds received by the Corporation. Such
resolution shall specify the maximum amount that may be kept on deposit at any time with each
bank or trust company. Such designations and amounts may be changed at any time by further
resolution of the Corporation.

B. Collateralization of Deposits.

All deposits of the Corporation (including certificates of deposit and special time
deposits) in excess of the amount insured under the provisions of the Federal Deposit Insurance
Act shall be secured as follows:

1. By a pledge of “eligible securities” with an aggregate “market value” as
defined by Section 10 of the General Municipal Law, at least equal to the aggregate amount of
deposits. A list of eligible securities is attached hereto as Schedule A.

2. By a pledge of a pro rata portion of a pool of eligible securities, having in
the aggregate a market value at least equal to the aggregate amount of deposits from all such
officers within New York State at such bank or trust company.

3. By an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a qualified bank (other than the
bank with which the money is being deposited or invested) in favor of the Corporation for a term
not to exceed ninety (90) days with an aggregate value equal to 140% of the aggregate amount of
deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any. A qualified bank is one whose commercial paper
and other unsecured short-term debt obligations are rated in one of the three highest rating
categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating organization or by a bank that is
in compliance with applicable minimum risk-based capital requirements.

206



4. By an eligible surety bond payable to the Corporation for an amount at
least equal to 100% of the aggregate amount of deposits and the agreed upon interest, if any,
executed by an insurance company authorized to do business in New York State, whose claims-
paying ability is rated in the highest rating category by at least two nationally recognized
statistical rating organizations. The terms and conditions of any eligible surety bond shall be
subject to Board approval.

C. Safekeeping and Collateralization.

Eligible securities used for collateralizing deposits shall be held by the depository
and/or third party bank or trust company subject to security and custodial agreements as
described below.

. Security Agreement Requirements. The security agreement shall provide
that eligible securities are being pledged to secure Corporation deposits together with agreed
upon interest, if any, and any costs or expenses arising out of the collection of such deposits
upon default. It shall also provide the conditions under which the securities may be sold,
presented for payment, substituted or released and the events which will enable the Corporation
to exercise its rights against the pledged securities. In the event that the securities are not
registered or inscribed in the name of the Corporation, such securities shall be delivered in a
form suitable for transfer or with an assignment in blank to the depository or its custodial bank.

2. Custodial Agreement Requirements. The custodial agreement shall
provide that securities held by the bank or trust company, as agent of and custodian for the
Corporation, will be kept separate and apart from the general assets of the custodial bank or trust
company and will not, in any circumstances, be commingled with or become part of the backing
for any other deposit or other liabilities. The custodial agreement should also describe that the
custodian shall confirm the receipt, substitution or release of the securities. The custodial
agreement shall provide for the frequency of revaluation of eligible securities and for the
substitution of securities when a change in the rating of a security may cause ineligibility. Such
agreement shall include all provisions necessary to provide the Corporation a perfected interest
in the securities and may include such other terms as the Board deems necessary.

ARTICLE V
Monitoring and Reporting Obligations

The following monitoring and reporting procedures shall be applicable in connection
with the deposit and investment of funds subject to this Investment Policy:

A. Monthly Monitoring.

Each cash and investment account statement will be reviewed and reconciled on a
monthly basis. The Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer will review each account reconciliation for
accuracy and will investigate any unusual items noted.

207



B. Monitoring and Reporting.

Pursuant to Section 2925(5) of the Public Authorities Law, the Treasurer or
Assistant Treasurer of the Corporation shall present a report at each meeting of the Board of
Directors which will include the following information: (i) the cash and investment balances of
the Corporation; (ii) identification of any new investments since the last report; (iii) information
concerning the selection of investment bankers, brokers, agents dealers or auditors since the last
report; and (iv) the names of the financial institutions holding Corporation deposits.

C. Annual Monitoring and Reporting.

1. On an annual basis, the Corporation will obtain an independent audit of its
financial statements, which shall include an audit of its cash and investments and the
Corporation’s compliance with this Investment Policy. The results of the independent audit shall
be made available to the Board of Directors at the time of its annual review of this Investment
Policy.

2. Pursuant to Section 2925(6) of the Public Authorities Law, staff shall, on
an annual basis, prepare and submit for Board approval an investment report which shall include
this Investment Policy, amendments to the Investment Policy since the last investment report, an
explanation of the Investment Policy and any amendments, the results of the annual independent
audit, the investment income record of the Corporation and a list of the total fees, commissions
or other charges paid to each investment banker, broker, agent, dealer and advisor rendering
investment associated services to the Corporation since the last investment report. The
investment report will be distributed to those individuals identified in Section 2925(7)(b) of the
Public Authorities Law. The Corporation shall make available to the public copies of its
investment report upon reasonable request therefor.

ARTICLE VI
Annual Review

This Investment Policy shall be reviewed and épproved by the Board of Directors of the
Corporation on an annual basis.

ARTICLE V11
Savings Clause

Nothing contained in Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law shall be deemed to
alter, affect the validity of, modify the terms of or impair any contract, agreement or investment
of funds made or entered into by the Corporation in violation of, or without compliance with the
provisions of Section 2925 of the Public Authorities Law.

208



SCHEDULE A
ELIGIBLE SECURITIES

Obligations issued by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States
government sponsored corporation or obligations fully insured or guaranteed as to the payment
of principal and interest by the United States of America, an agency thereof or a United States
government sponsored corporation.

Obligations issued or fully guaranteed by the International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development, the Inter-American Development Bank, the Asian Development Bank, and the
African Development Bank.

Obligations partially insured or guaranteed by any agency of the United States of America, at a
proportion of the market value of the obligation that represents the amount of the insurance or
guaranty.

Obligations issued or fully insured or guaranteed by the State of New York, obligations issued by
a municipal corporation, school district or district corporation of New York State or obligations
of any public benefit corporation which under a specific state statute may be accepted as security
for deposit of public moneys.

Obligations issued by states (other than the State of New York) of the United States rated in one
of the three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

Obligations of Puerto Rico rated in one of the three highest rating categories by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

Obligations of counties, cities and other governmental entities of another state having the power
to levy taxes that are backed by the full faith and credit of such governmental entity and rated in
one of the three highest rating categories by at least one nationally recognized statistical rating
organization.

Obligations of domestic corporations rated in one of the two highest rating categories by at least
one nationally recognized statistical rating organization.

Any mortgage related securities, as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
which may be purchased by banks under the limitations established by federal bank regulatory
agencies.

Commercial paper and bankers’ acceptances issued by a bank (other than the bank with which
the money is being deposited or invested) rated in the highest short-term category by at least one
nationally recognized statistical rating organization and having maturities of not longer than sixty
days from the date they are pledged.

Zero-coupon obligations of the United States government marketed as “Treasury STRIPS.”

209



Adopted: 4/7/2009

Re-Adopted: 4/6/2010
Re-Adopted: 3/29/2011
Re-Adopted: 3/27/2012
Re-Adopted: 3/26/2013
Re-Adopted: 3/25/2014

Amended and Adopted: 3/31/2015
Re-Adopted: 3/29/2016
Re-Adopted: 3/28/2017

Amended and Adopted: 3/27/2018
Re-adopted: 3/26/2019
Re-adopted: 3/31/2020

210



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation R
95 Perry Street i i = = - -
Suite 404 ST
Buffalo, New York 14203 .

phone:  716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Item 3.2.6
MEMORANDUM

TO: BUDC Board of Directors

FROM: Mollie Profic, Treasurer

SUBJECT: Reimbursement of Brownfield Expenses from Brownfield Fund
DATE: March 31, 2020

The Buffalo Brownfields Redevelopment Fund (“BBRF” or the “Fund) allows certain third-party
expenses incurred by BUDC in connection with the development of Buffalo Lakeside Commerce
Park (“BLCP”) to be reimbursed. Under the Fund Administration Agreement, these out-of-
pocket third-party costs “include, but are not limited to, land acquisition, site investigations, site
planning, remediation, road and utility construction and related legal costs”.

On September 26, 2012, the Board designated the BLCP project as complete, which allowed for
the expansion of the use of BBRF funds to “other comparable projects” in the City of Buffalo.
Riverbend, Northland and 308 Crowley Street were designated “comparable” projects by the
Board beginning October 1, 2012, January 1, 2015 and June 26, 2018, respectively.

Since 2011, reimbursements have been approved for costs incurred related to BLCP, Riverbend
and Northland. On March 27, 2018, the Board approved the reimbursement of Riverbend,
Northland and BLCP costs from January 1, 2017 — December 31, 2017 in the amount of
$428,227. Grant application fees related to Northland totaling $311,848 were approved for
reimbursement by the Board on May 10, 2018. Additional reimbursement of BLCP, Riverbend,
Northland and 308 Crowley costs from January 1, 2018 — December 31, 2018 in the amount of
$419,785 were approved by the Board on March 26, 2019, for a total of $731,633 in 2018.

On an ongoing basis, the Board approved the pledge of BBRF monies to be used as matching
funds for the $1,912,028 Restore NY 4 grant, based on an original project budget of $2,188,028.
Project cost increases at 612 Northland Avenue lead to final project costs of $2,477,126. The
following chart outlines the project budget, grant and matching sources:

Restore NY 4 Total Project Costs $2,477,126
Empire State Development Restore NY grant (1,912,028)
City of Buffalo in-kind contribution (85.899)
Required local match 479,199
Third party amounts used toward local match! (142.197)
Local match required from BUDC $337,002

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Board Chair » Dennis Penman, Vice Chair » Peter M. Cammarata, President « David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President « Brandye Merriweather, Viee President

Moltie Profic, Treasurer « Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer » Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary o]

211



Funding received from BUDC Regionally Significant Project Fund ($86,097), Albright Knox
Art Gallery ($33,236) and Buffalo Sewer Authority ($22,864) used toward local match
requirement.

We are now requesting reimbursement of BLCP, Riverbend, Northland & 308 Crowley Street
costs incurred in 2019 and Restore NY 4 matching funds in the amount of $787,930, as outlined
below.

Eligible third-party costs® ' $450,078
Restore NY 4 local match from BUDC 337.002
$787,080

2The attachment to this memorandum details the $450,078 in eligible third-party costs that have
been incurred by BUDC and which are eligible for reimbursement by the Fund.

Prior to reimbursement, BUDC management will repay $749,871 of borrowings due to be repaid
to the Brownfield Fund from amounts borrowed for the Northland Road project and Restore NY
grants. After this reimbursement, BBRF is anticipated to have a cash balance of approximately
$1.4 million, inclusive of $611,000 of BUDC borrowings.

Action:

I am requesting that the Committee recommend the following to the Board:
1. Recommend $337,002 of reimbursement from the Brownfield Fund toward the Restore

NY 4 grant local match;
2. Approve the reimbursement to BUDC of $450,078 in third party, BLCP, Riverbend, 308
Crowley and Northland costs, from the BBRF as outlined in Attachment 1 to this

memorandum.

212



. Attachment to item 3.2.6
Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

Summary of Costs Paid by BUDC & Reimbursable from BBRF
For the Year Ended December 31, 2019

|Buffalo Lakeside Commerce Park | 2019
Landscaping S 42,215
Legal Costs 5,903
Marketing -
Property Insurance 17,229
Snowplowing 5,375
Operations & Maintenance 3,746
Consultants 850
Utilities 954
76,272
[Riverbend
Taxes, Operations & Maintenance 132
308 Crowley |
Landscaping 1,475
Legal Costs 1,120
Property Insurance 19,939
22,534
|Northland*
Insurance 80,123
General Development 66,510
Operations & Maintenance 25,898
Legal Costs 7,600
Snowplowing 60,667
Landscaping 12,523
Consultants 19,135
Utilities 1,370
Marketing 1,642
275,467
[683 Northland LLC*
Insurance 71,525
Operations & Maintenance 4,148
75,672
Total S 450,078

*The Northland costs represent those costs that are not reimbursed through other grant agreement(s).

213



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

item 3.3

As indicated on the agenda, this item will be provided to the members
in a separate distribution prior to the meeting.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Board Chair » Dennis Penman, Vice Chair » Peter M. Cammurata, President » David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President « Brandye Merriweather, Vice President
Mollie Profic, Treasurer » Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer » Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary =i

214



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

95 Perry Street

Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone:  716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Buifalo Urban Development Corporation

ltem 3.4

As indicated on the agenda, this item will be provided to the members
in a separate distribution prior to the meeting.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Board Chair » Dennis Penman, Vice Chair » Peter M. Cammarata, President « David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President « Brandye Mermriwcather, Vice President
Mollie Profic, Treasurer « Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer « Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary =fifn

215



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation A £
05 Perry Street, Suite 404 .:‘1_ r"';' S b L |
Buffalo, New York 14203 e P i e ped
phone: 716-856-6525 B 2 :
fax: 716-856-6754
web: butialourbandevelopment.com
Item 3.5

MEMORANDUM

TO: BUDC Board of Directors

FROM: David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President
SUBJECT: Northland Corridor — Community Solar & Microgrid Proposals
DATE: March 31, 2020

On December 2, 2019, BUDC released a Request for Proposals (RFP) for Community Solar and
Microgrid design, financing and installation for the Northland Corridor. This project is being
assisted with a $2 million dollar grant commitment from Empire State Development as part of
the Buffalo Billion 2 East Side initiative. The RFP requested qualifications, approach and pricing
for:

Pre-Development planning, analysis and financing.

Design, installation and implementation of a Community Solar project.

Design, installation and implementation of a neighborhood microgrid.

Design and installation of upgrades to BUDC’s existing 23.5KV/5 MW substation.
Development of an advanced energy training curriculum for the Northland Workforce
Training Center.

o o

The opportunity was advertised on the New York State Contract Reporter website and sent
directly to several dozen companies with known expertise in this area. A Pre-Submission
Information meeting was held on December 16, 2019 at the Northland Workforce Training
Center.

Four (4) proposals were received on January 28, 2020. These proposals were reviewed and
evaluated by a team comprised of:

1. BUDC (Peter Cammarata, David Stebbins, Arthur Hall)

2. BUDC & NWTC Board (Dennis Elsenbeck)

3. City of Buffalo (Jason Paananen)

4. Empire State Development (Paul Tronolone).

Three (3) of the 4 teams were selected for interviews, which were held on February 27, 2020,
and conducted by Mr. Elsenbeck and representatives from BUDC and ESD. A follow-up video
interview was held with the recommended team on Monday, March 23, 2020.

Based on the proposals and interviews, the evaluation team and staff are recommending
the selection of the team led by Frey Electric Construction Company to implement this
project on behalf of BUDC, ESD, the City of Buffalo and the Northland Workforce
Training Center. The Frey team, which also includes Gilbane, 34 Group, Vanguard Energy

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman ofthe Board © Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman © Peter M. Cammarata, President © David A. Stebbins,
Executive Vice President - Mollie Profic. Treasurer @ Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer © Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

216



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

Partners, Eaton, EnergyMark and LaBella, demonstrated a superior understanding of the goals
and objectives for the project; a fast-track approach to implement components of the project
immediately, and clear suggestions and methods for financing the entire project. Their overall
approach was most aligned with the needs and desired outcomes of the Northland Corridor. The
Frey-Gilbane-34 Group team also have significant experience in the corridor, having
implemented the renovation of Northland Central, 683 Northland Avenue.

The initial cost of the project for Pre-Development Planning and Analysis is estimated at
$188,600. The estimated total cost of the project is approximately $5 million, subject to the
results of the pre-development planning and securing additional grants, tax credits and financing
for each component of the project. We are requesting Board approval to select the Frey Team for
the delivery of the entire project and execute a contract for the initial Pre-Development Planning
& Analysis. Contingent upon the results of the Pre-Development Planning & Analysis, and
ability of the team to secure additional financing, subsequent components of the project will be
released incrementally with prior approval by the Board.

This recommendation was reviewed with the Real Estate Committee at its March 24, 2020
meeting and recommended for approval by the Board of Directors.

ACTION:

We are requesting Board approval to engage the team led by Frey Electric Construction
Company for the implementation of the Northland Community Solar, Microgrid and Workforce
Renewable Energy Infrastructure project, to enter into an initial pre-development contract with
the Frey team in an amount not-to-exceed $188,600; and to authorize the BUDC President or
BUDC Executive Vice President to take such actions as are necessary to implement this

authorization.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairrian of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Peter M. Cammarata, President ® David A. Stebbins.
Executive Vice President = Mollie Profic. Treasurcr ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurcr © Kevin J. Zanner, Secrctary

217



e Renewable Energy & Infrastructure Impr

BELTLINE

REY

Location: Buffalo, NY

ﬂim m 3 O qmmszm.n mo : ns m 2 Rafe: Lead Project Management,
. ) Electric Construction & Design,
Renewable Construction & Design,

Operations & Malntenance

Lacation: Buffalo, NY

Role: Consultation
Construction Management

34
GROUP

Locatlon: Buffalo, NY

Role: Energy Management
Community Qutreach | Certified MIBE

218

[

By VANGUARD m..ﬂcz
P FafeGr vennERs 1 € -
Lacation: Branchburg, NY Locatlon: USA
[
) Location: Wallsville, NY
Role: Solar, Construction Design Role: Suppiy & Design, Substation, .
Project Management, Operations & Micragrid Equipment, Workfarce Training Role: Work force Curriculum,
Maintenance | Certified MBE Development & Instruction
™ e oy "
- EnergyMarl, LLC
& e 1 LaBella Jim Dunlop Solar
Locatlon: Buffalo, NY Location: Florida |
Loeation: Rochester, NY |
Rolet Energy Portfolio Management & Rate: Waork forca Curricutum, Salar
Operations Role: Renewable Site Plan & Microgrid Consultation
Design and Engineering
sug s 1jug =
Lacation: Buffalo, NY

Rola: Site Distribution Electrical Design
and Engineering | Certiflad MBE




| Vanguard Energy Paniners: MBE Co. : Alex Riveria SVP Dev & Oparation

RTHLAND REP APFROACH &

Northland Commumity & Waorkforce Training Renewahle Energy @

11 _:rar::iim fmprovement Project Northland Belthng Corridor

VTN S

|
-Site Development
GOALS:
- Advance NYS Clean Energy Plan & Provide Clsan Energy to & G
- Provids Lower Cosl Energy to Business & Low income Resldents
- Revitlization of tha ne & y
- Aftract New & Retain Existing Business T80 KW unity Solar 683

- Upgrades to Infrastrucrus for Fulure Growth

] Tralning

Northland Emerging Technoiogies Lab & The Buffato Experience
GOALS: )

- Engage the communlly of Job opportunites /n Clean Energy and Jobs related to Clean Ensrgy

- Develop Workioroe Traininly at Mulifple Levels Eniry, Mid.end - Advanced

~ Pravide damenstrations, displays & seminars an the Clean Energy Sactor

- Incorma Oppartunity by Leasing space 1o Vendars and Organizations for Seminers and Site Training

Subatation Uparade
porade exisiing substation fad by National Grid's 23kV
soder. Feed exisitng ciroult breakers with new substation
nd install design for fufure expnansion,

. v..ovoma Array ownerehip Za_._-__n:n LLG Yri
_m__aa_:n Options:

PACE Loan Amortized over 20 ﬁua using property aquity,
I»::n.. Dividend Finance: Commercial PACE : Peter Grabell: Senior VP
2, Lease Buy Back 16 year with balion oplion.
Partner: Key Equipment Finance : Joff Eades ; VP Clean Energy

Both Financlal partners woutd provide:

qulpment:
MVA Bubstatlon Upgrada : Eaton MITS 19-0047M
anadaide 1o 10MVA for fulure enewable development,

Canstruetion (Bridge)Financing me__v:_-z?ai.m ,
ITC Tax Equity Credit aton Co Elec : Bob Kirsils:
RGonatruction, Deslgn & GonsultingPartriems ,?i___uoa.ai"

Fray Electric: Deborah Zarbo : P, NABCEP PV Professional, Engineer 1. Funding Packagud in the PACE Energy

logn with Dividend Financlal
Gilbane Bultding Company: John Puma : Superintendent 2. 10 yoar Lesse Buy Baock Loan wilh Key Equipment

incantivas & Grants: 5. Egton I8 offering

NYSERDANY Sun Grant lems on the equipment nEsa.,uc:w_En__o?
ITC Tax Equity Cradit L
Community Bolar Eneray & VDER Incose Manangement: Frey Electrc : ﬂﬂﬁhﬂs ".vmﬂwﬂ uwm_mag Enginoer
40% enargy prodution sald lo Tenanis al 683 Narthland. il el
60% Mar tothe ¢ at & 10% o : g

Enargy Portfolio Managment Partner;

PP. Max Englngering * MBE Company : Abel Plazola PE
EnergyMark, LCC : Luke Marchiod

Glibane Buliding Company : Jahn Puma : Superintendent
Markating & Community Oulrsach Partuer: ¥
34 Group, Inc. : MBE Co ; Thurman Thomas, Keith Bemard

rgy & Ralatad indusiry Joba T Conimunity Out Reach & o Exparienca .

?33:5 - Engage the community with interactive displays highlighting jol

-Alfred State College and SUNY at Buffalo: Report Juns 2019; oppartunities in clean energy and related industries,

*Clean Energy for n NY" o

~ SUNY Center for industrial Effectivness - Partnerwith Buffalo and Reglonal employers to sponser

~WNY Clean AdvisoryCouncil splays, training, and internstilps. Tralning discovery program.

- Invost Buffalo Nisgara Conetting Partmars:.  Alred State Gollage : JeifSlavens

- industryBurveys 34 Group : Thurman Thomas, Keith Bernard

Typas & Nejas of Warkicica 43.5...@

* Offer Teaining Options
Web Based Classroom with On Site-Lab
Tradiflonal Classraom with On Site Lab

o Paitners:& Instrug
Alfred State Colisge: ._mamﬁﬁq_m
Jim Dunlop Solar JimDunlop
Esaton Corp

& Toolsr hidusTy & D Grant Funding
Findnce? 5.__.»_2. man_ Funding, Tultion

PHASE 2

Develap a site @nergy master plan and cost benefit aniysig for Instellation of additional salas,
other viable renewables, energy storage and a contsol flared microgrid.
Funding
Apply to NYSERDA Flex Tech (PON4182) to cover 50-70% or more of Engineering Master Plan Costs.
Design & Enginearing Partners
Labelfla Associates : Steve tongway PE

Phased Site Devalopment :
Additional Solar: Roof Tops, Parking Struclures, Solar Canoples, Concentrated Salar, Solar Glass
Microgrid : Tiered design and control ; Eaton Power Xpent Energy Optimizer Controllar or Equiv
Energy Storage: LEnium Batteries: VOLTA , LG Cham or Equiv; Combined Haat & Power {CHP) ; Solar Thermal
Gompressed Als; Fuel Colis, Other visble technelegles.
Other Ranewables & Technologies: Electric Vechils Chagers, Salar Trees, Sofar Lights, MicroWind, Fual Cell, LED & BMS Upgrades

[ 1
Entry Lsval Work Forcs Tralning Mid Lavel Work Force Training
Job Discovery Programs Skilt Advancement
Skifis Evaluation CareerChange
Safety Tralning
{ i |
Advanced Lavet Work Forca Trsining Loasad Spack Opportiities
Semiinars
CEP Prep classes .
N moam,_uwm“ﬁum . Vendors Training
Vendor Certifications Trade Shows

rations & Maintenance
Equipment: Frey Efectric & \ Energy- M plan: Alt b Gaar, Eleciricat infrastruciure, Microgrid
Energy Operations: EnergyMark - Energy M & 0 b Pricing, Biiling, Optimization,

Qparations & ﬂ-.as:-._.a-
Alfrad Stata Gollega

219



BELTLINE

WM Renewable Energy & Infrastructure Improvement




W Renewable Energy & Infrastructure Improvement

BELTLINE

NORTHLAND BELTLINE CORRIDOR
] mcmmmm._.m_u PHASE 2 mmmeB._Oz & STORAGE

L2 (e

221



IV. Cost & Budgeting

1. Pre-Development Planning and Analysis Fee

Substation:
Cost: $37,600
Hours: 256
750kW Community Solar:
Cost: $17,000
Hours: 120

Microgrid / Master Site Plan:
Cost: $116,000
Energy Master Plan may be subject to cost sharing through
NYSERDA FlexTech. Upon award this will be applied for.
Hours: 640

Workforce Training
Cost: $18,000
Hours: 120

‘FREY
7 e o rocon 0

222



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buffalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fix: 716-856-6754 Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
web: buflalourbandevelopment.com

Item 3.6

MEMORANDUM

TO: BUDC Board of Directors

FROM: David A. Stebbins, Executive Vice President

SUBJECT: Ralph C. Wilson Jr. Centennial Park Project MVVA Contract Amendment
DATE: March 31, 2020

The initial Schematic Design contract with Michael Van Valkenburgh Associates Inc. (MVVA)
for the transformation of LaSalle Park into Ralph C. Wilson Jr. Centennial Park was based on a
February 4, 2019 letter proposal from MV VA to the Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Foundation (the
“Wilson Foundation™). The contract was approved by the Board on May 28, 2019. The Board
also approved an amendment to the contract at its November 26, 2019 meeting for an additional
$500,000 to cover additional Schematic Design costs and inclusion of the Pedestrian Bridge
Schematic Design work.

The project is now proceeding into the Design Development (DD) phase. BUDC’s project
manager, Gardiner & Theobald (G&T) has negotiated a DD proposal from MVVA that includes
a base scope for a lump sum cost of $3,178,890 for a package of design development documents,
client and community meetings and other work as outlined in the attached detailed scope of work
(including a reimbursable expense allowance of $100,000); and a $48,100 scope of work for
design development, construction documents and specifications for the Waterfront Betterment
package to be prepared in coordination with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Shoreline
Protection Project. The total cost of the proposed contract amendment is $3,326,990. G&T has
been able to reduce MVVA’s proposed fee by $762,000. This DD cost proposal is consistent
with industry standards for park and recreation projects, at less than 3% of the total project cost
of $116 million.

Therefore, we are recommending a $3,326,990 amendment to the MVVA Contract for Design
Development services. A recommendation letter from G&T and a proposed scope of work from
MVVA is attached to this memorandum. This requested increase has been reviewed with the
project team from the City of Buffalo as well as the Wilson Foundation; all of the parties support
this request. This contract amendment will be funded by:
e The balance of the 2°¢ Ralph C. Wilson Jr. Foundation Grant for the design;
e Additional funding in a pending 4™ grant from the Wilson Foundation for design (Design
Development and Construction Documents);
¢ A commitment of $1 million from the Great Lakes Commission for the design of
shoreline improvements.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Peter M. Cammarata, President ® David A. Stebbins,
Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin I. Zanner, Secretary

223



Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buflalo, New York 14203

phone: 716-856-6525

fax: 716-856-6754 Buffalo Urban Development Corporation

web: buffalourbandevelopment.com

ACTION

We are requesting Board authorization to amend the contract between Michael Van Valkenburgh
Associates Inc. and BUDC for Design Development documents in the amount of $3,326,990;
and to authorize the President or Executive Vice President to execute and deliver the contract

amendment.

Hon. Byron W. Brown, Chairman of the Board ® Dennis Penman, Vice Chairman ® Peter M. Cammarata, President ® David A. Stebbins,
Executive Vice President ® Mollie Profic, Treasurer ® Atiga Abidi, Assistant Treasurer ® Kevin J. Zanner, Secretary

224



G GARDINER
&THEOBALD

Dave Stebbins

Executive Vice President

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buffalo, NY 14203-3030
Job # 92070

Sent - via e-mail
March 12th, 2020

Dear David,

Re: RWICF Centennial Park — MVVA DD Fee — Recommendation to Award

Please see attached the MVVA Proposal for DD services for the Ralph C Wilson Jr Centennial Park project
which we can recommend for approval for the sum of $3,326,990. This Fee has been reduced by an
effective $762,000.

This scope is only for DD and excludes CD, Bid & Negotiation and Construction Administration which will
form part of an additional Fee Request. SD Services were completed under an earlier agreement.

Note that in addition to the sub consultants carried within the DD Proposal MVVA were asked to hold an
Allowance for an Architect to assist with design of the M&O Building and Comfort Stations.

in addition MVVA were asked to include a Reimbursable allowance of $100,000 to fund all expenses to
date and moving through DD.

We have verified that the Scope of Work is appropriate and that the costs are fair and reasonable. We can
recommend the Proposal for the full sum of $3,326,990 subject to your approval.

Can you confirm Approval by signing and dating at the bottom of the document? Contractually | assume
this will be bolted into the existing Contract as an Amendment? We can provide a change order form to
memorialize agreement.

Yours sincerely

Kevin Gulvin
Director - Cost Management
Gardiner & Theobald, Inc.

Gardiner & Theobald Inc
535 Fifth Avenue, 3rd Floor, New York, NY 10017
t +1 212 661 6624 gardiner.com

225



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Paxk - Design Development Fees

Michael Van Valkenburgh Associates,
3/12/2020

Inc., Landscape Architects

#18019.00

Discipline Firm 13 Feb. DD Fee | Revised DD Fee | Alternative Sub
Prime, Landscape Architecture MVVA $2,020,000.00 $1,915,970.00
Civil Engineering/Infrastructure and |Wendel $204,000.00 $200,200.00
|[Marine Engineering Beech and Bonaparte Engineering $7848,300.00 $334,500.00
Soil Scientist Craul Land Scientists $15, 000.00 $15,000.00
Lighting Domingo Gonzalez Associates 5125,850.00 $118,950.00
Cost Estimating Trophy Point $115,000.00
Structural Engineer Wendell 5125,000.00 $63,300.00
Hydrologist Limnotech §253,050.00 $240,280.00
Ecology Biochabitats $66, 000.00 $66,000.00
Geotechnical engineering Empire Geotechnical Bngineering $42,720.00 $42,720.00
Code Consultant Foit-Albert $18,470.00 $18,470.00
Playground Code Consultant Abundant Playscapes $15,000.00 $15,000.00
Irrigation Designer Wolf Creek $18,500.00 $18,500.00
Architecture Allowance TBD $130,000.00
SUBTOTAL = $3,810,890.00 $3,178,8%0.00
|Accrued Expenses | $100,000.00] $100,000.00|
[ MEs7Y > T a i e
IDiscipli Pirm CD Fee CD Fee
Prime, Landscape Architecture MVVA $35,200.00 $35,200.00
Structural Engineering Wendel $12,900.00 $12,900.00
SUBTOTAL = 548, 100.00 548, 100.00
TOTAL FOR MVVA DESIGN TEAM =] $3,058,090.00] 53,326, 990. 00|SAVING _
TOTAL FOR MVVA DESIGN TEAM with Architect $4,088,990.00 $3,326,990.00{ $762,000.00]

226



13 February 2020
Revised: 03 March 2020

David Stebbins

Vice President

Buffalo Urban Development Corporation
95 Perry Street, Suite 404

Buffalo, NY 14203

Re: Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park Design - Design Development Phase Overview,
Schedule, and Costs

Dear Mr. Stebbins:

Please find below a description of our Design Development (DD) schedule, scope, subconsultant team, and
related fees for you review and approval.

SCHEDULE FOR DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

Based on current project understanding, Design Development will last for 11 months starting January 2020
through November 2020. This phase will include two (2) public meetings, tentatively scheduled on o9
March 2020 and 12 September 2020, and two (2) drawing set/specifications submissions for cost
estimating. The first drawing set and outline specifications will be submitted at 50% completion on 12 June
2020 and the second set and outline specifications at 100% completion on 30 October 2020.

DESIGN TEAM FEE FOR DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

Based on a roughly 110-acre site costing approximately $116 million, the fee for the Design Development
phase will be $3,326,990 lump sum. This includes $3,178,890.00 for MVVA’s base scope and our
subconsultants’ base scope and it assumes one package of documentation for Design Development is
provided. it also includes $48,100.00 for design development, construction documents, and specifications
for the waterfront Betterments package prepared in coordination with the US Army Corps of Engineers
(USACE) Shoreline Protection Project and completed on 22 January 2020. Additional services for MVVA and
subconsultants that require further scope and fee coordination are outlined in Section 1V of this proposat.
Grant application support that requires deliverables in addition to what is outlined in the base scope will

Michael Van Valkenburgh AssoclatesInc, Landscape Architects P.C, 16 Court St, 11th Fl, Brooklyn, NY 11241
P 718 243 2044 F 7182431293 mvvainc.com

227



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr, Centennial Park - Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 2 of 17

be billed hourly in addition to the fees mentioned above. Fees for owner-provided consultants are not
included.

Expenses for the Design Team will be billed as accrued against a not-to-exceed fee of $100,000 and will
include the following:

-~ Transportation and authorized out-of-town travel and subsistence

- Printing, reproduction, and computer plots

- Materials for models, mock-ups, and presentations

- Postage, handling, messenger service, and overnight delivery service

HOURLY BILL RATES

HOURLY BILL RATES
MICHAEL VAN 'VALKENBURGH ASSOCIATES, INC.
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS
Rates Effective 1 January 2020

MICHAEL VAN VALKENBURGH $.375.00
PARTNER $ 325.00
PRINCIPAL $ 280.00
ASSOCIATE PRINCIPAL $'245.00
SENIOR ASSOCIATE LEVEL | $ 205.00
SENIOR ASSOCIATE LEVEL 11 $ 180.00
ASSOCIATE $ 160.00
SENIOR PROJECT MANAGER $ 145.00
SENIOR DESIGNER $ 130.00
DESIGNER $110.00
JUNIOR DESIGNER $ 95,00
STUDIO ASSISTANT $ 80.00
ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF $ 80.00
INTERN $ 50.00

Rates-are for the calendar year2020 and are revised each January for the following year.

228



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr, Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 3 of 17

I SCOPE FOR WATERFRONT BETTERMENTS PACKAGE

100% Construction Documents and Specifications for the Waterfront Betterments package were prepared
by MVVA and Wendel in coordination with the USACE Shoreline Protection Project. The package was
reviewed by the USACE and the City of Buffalo in two (2) instances and it was updated to reflect the
feedback received. The final package was submitted on 22 January 2020.

. SCOPE FOR DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

MVVA’s scope for the Design Development phase will include the following:

- Participate in two (2) public meetings, to continue the process of public engagement. Design team
members will travel to Buffalo, NY, for this purpose, and prepare materials for all meetings, in
continuation of MVVA’s current work with UBRI.

- Participate in three (3) Community Focus Group meetings, either by Conference Call or in person
as a trip to Buffalo, NY. Preparation of materials for all meetings.

- Participate in three (3) Technical Stakeholder Group meetings, including travel to Buffalo, NY, by
design team members. Design team will prepare materlats for all meetings.

- Participate in three (3) meetings with Regulatory Agencies, including travel to Buffalo, NY, or to
Albany, NY by design team members. Design team will prepare materials for all meetings.

- Participate in two (2) meetings with the Key Design Reviewers, including travel to Buffalo, NY, for
design team members. Design team will prepare materials for all meetings.

- Develop the approved Schematic Design of landscape components including site elements,
planting, and site furnishings and structures.

- Submit 50% Design Development Documents for first cost estimate, cost reconciliation and Owner
review. This submission to include in-progress Design Development documentation and outline
specification.

- Submit 100% Design Development Documents for second cost estimate, cost reconciliation, and
owner review. Comments or modifications to the design based on owner comment will be picked
up in the subsequent phase. This submission to include final Design Development documentation
and specifications.

- Review owner-provided cost estimate when received and provide supporting material if needed.
One cost estimate to be provided by owner for the 50% DD submission and a second one for the
100% DD submission.

- Prepare Progress and Final Design Development document set for the park design. Documents will
include plans (erosion protection and site preparation and demolition, layout, materials, soils,
grading, planting, and furnishing) and site details (sections, elevations, and enlargement plans) as
determined by MVVA to convey design ideas. This will include coordinated subconsultant drawings
to address civil engineering and utilities layout; stormwater and road layout; structural
engineering; lighting design; soils and irrigation design; marine edge design; and habitat
enhancement features.

- Graphic deliverables to include: two (2) illustrative plans, two (2) landscape architecturat
renderings, one (1) presentation model, illustrative sections and diagrams as needed.

- Assist Owner Group and Owner’s Rep on developing a Fill Management Strategy by providing
testing recommendations and schedule review in coordination with the subconsultant team. MVWA

229



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park - Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 4 of 17

will not prepare any subgrade grading plans or fill ptacement/management plans. This shall be a
responsibility of the contractor.

- Support for all permitting and approval processes and procedures needed to complete the
RCW.JCP project. All applications to be prepared and submitted by others.

- Support for grant applications by providing base scope graphics. All applications to be prepared
and submitted by others.

- Coordinate and collaborate with concurrent projects, including the Shoreline Protection Project
through USACE, Pedestrian Bridge Project through Schlaich Bergermann Partner (SBP), Feasibility
Study through Buffalo Niagara Waterkeeper (BNW), third phase of the Skate Plaza through the
Tony Hawk Foundation, Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO) #13 Assessment and Storage Facility
Project through Buffalo Sewer Authority (BSA), 48” Watermain Assessment and Colonel F.G. ward
Pumping Station Perimeter through Buffalo Water, and Bus Stop through Niagara Frontier
Transportation Authority (NFTA).

- Undertake trips to quarries, nurseries, and soil providers as needed during the Design
Development phase.

. SUBCONSULTANT TEAM SCOPE OF WORK FOR DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

MVVA’s team of subconsultants for the Design Development phase will include the following disciplines:
civil engineering/infrastructure and utility planning, marine engineering, hydrology, ecology, soil science,
geotechnical engineering, lighting design, code consulting, playground code consulting, structural
engineering, irrigation design, and architecture. Scopes for each of those disciplines are provided below.
All disciplines’ scope to include:

- Provide 50% and 100% Design Development documents and specifications.

- Review owner-provided cost estimate when received and provide supporting material if
needed. One cost estimate to be provided for the 50% DD submission and a second one for
the 100% DD submission.

- Attend biweekly team meetings via GoTo and ongoing coordination calls.

- Visitthe site at least once to thoroughly understand it and carry out the scope of work.

- Identify and support all permit and approval applications and procedures needed for the
RCWJCP project.

- Collaborate and coordinate with concurrent projects.

- Coordinate with MVVA’s Design Team and the Owner Group.

1. Civil Engineering/infrastructure and Utility Planning

MWVA will contract Wendel to provide civil engineering and infrastructure and utility planning services
during the Design Development phase. Wendel will also carry an allowance for any traffic/transportation
consulting services as needed. These services include the following scope:

- Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
civil engineering/infrastructure and utility planning scope of work.

230



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY — #18019.00, page 5 of 17

- Develop site demolition plans for structures, pavements, and utilities including coordination
with and identification of permitting requirements for various City Departments, National Fuel,
and National Grid. Exclude demolition of bulkhead, to be provided by Marine Engineer.

- Develop design for stormwater management in collaboration with Design Team.

- Provide calculations to support stormwater strategies. Coordinate stormwater strategies,
sizing and calculations with points of connection identified by the project team. Coordinate
with City of Buffalo Department of Public Works (DPW) and BSA on any green infrastructure
initiatives, including stormwater management, rain gardens and bioswales.

- Finalize the points of connection between proposed utilities and existing utilities.

- Develop utility design and calculations for potable water, sanitary, stormwater, and gas.

- Coordinate utilities layout, water supply requirements, and stormwater management with
other members of the Design Team.

- Develop subgrade drainage in coordination with the grading and planting soil design prepared
by the Design Team. Coordinate with Soil Scientist, Irrigation Designer, and Geotechnical
Engineer.

- Review MVVA’s grading plan relative to best practices for site stormwater systems. MVVA will
design and document the grading. The Civil Engineer will determine drainage areas, drain and
overflow locations, inverts, stormwater calculations, swale sizing, retention/detention
volumes, and other water conveyance systems.

- Provide cut and fill calculations throughout Design Development.

- Prepare design development plans, details, and specifications as identified in Design
Development project schedule.

- Model digital surfaces in three dimensions based on MVVA’s grading plan. Surfaces to be used
by the Design Team in various studies.

- Coordinate electricat supply requirements with Lighting Designer, Irrigation Consultant, and
Pavilion and Comfort Station Architects.

- Prepare calculations for the project area, including estimated monthly and yearly electrical
demands.

- Provide electrical design for site lighting, irrigation, and remote electrical sources throughout
the park.

- Perform ongoing review of design drawings prepared by MVVA, Lighting Designer, rrigation
Designer, and Pavilion and Comfort Station Architect. Provide a memo of comments and mark-
ups of design drawings.

- Provide any necessary materials for submissions or presentations as required to acquire
approval from:

e Agencies and governing bodies having review, approval, and permitting authority.
e Stakeholder design review.
- Perform various tasks related to traffic and transportation.

231



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 6 of 17

2. Marine Engineering Services

MWVA will contract Beech and Bonaparte Engineers and Geologists of New York, P.C. to provide marine
engineering services during the Design Development phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
marine engineering services scope of work.

Review of the site survey (provided by the Owner) for existing seawall and bathymetric
information. Notify MVVA if discrepancies or missing information is found.

Coordination with and ongoing U.S. Army Corp of Engineers projects.

Understand the USACE LaSalle Park Shoreline Protection Project and assess the loading
capacity of the reconstructed seawall.

Review existing infrastructure and provide strategies to reconcile with proposed design.
Develop demolition and rehabilitation strategies for the existing bulkhead in coordination with
Hydrologist and Ecologist.

Provide design studies of various edge conditions and strategies to deploy along the shoretine
in coordination with Hydrologist, Ecologist, and MVVA.

Coordinate with Hydrologist and Ecologist to develop a series of water’s edge section
standards, including hard (stone) and soft (vegetated) edge conditions.

Coordinate with Hydrologist and Ecologist to develop a strategy to tie proposed design back
Into existing marine edge conditions.

Coordinate with Geotechnical Engineer.

Collaborate with Buffalo Niagara Waterkeeper and other stakeholders to develop safe water
access strategies.

Review assessment of existing seaplane ramp and recommend additional testing needed.
Develop a rehabilitation strategy for seaplane ramp.

Support digital modeling for three (3) hydrologic simulations to ensure proper water
movement and flushing in the lagoon, as well as seiche and wave protection. Simulations to be
performed by Hydrologist.

Prepare design development plans, profiles, typical details, and specifications per Design
Development Project Schedule.

3. Hydrological Services

MWVA will contract Limnotech to provide hydrological services during the Design Development phase.
These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
hydrological services scope of work.
Review the site survey (provided by the Owner) for existing bathymetric information. Notify
MVVA if discrepancies or missing information is found.
Coordinate with existing studies and ongoing U.S. Army Corp of Engineers projects.
Provide three (3) hydrologic and hydraulic simulations in support of the design to:

e Ensure proper water movement and flushing in the lagoon.

232



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 7 of 17

Ensure seiche, wave, and ice shore protection along the project’s shoretine.
Analyze sediment and debris accumulation.
Analyze water velocities as they relate to aquatic habitat.
Demonstrate flood protection along the project’s shoreline during extreme storm
events. '
Prepare reports that summarize all hydrologic and hydraulic simulation findings.
Coordinate with Marine Engineer and Ecologist:
¢ To develop bulkhead rehabilitation strategies.
e To develop a series of water’s edge section standards, including hard (stone) and soft
(vegetated) edge conditions.
e To develop a strategy to tie back into existing marine edge conditions.
Collaborate with the Buffalo Niagara Waterkeeper and other stakeholders on developing safe
water access strategies.
Participate in meetings and provide any necessary materials for submissions and
presentations as required to acquire approval from:
e Agencies and governing bodies having review, approval, and permitting authority
including but not limited to USACE, Fish & Wildlife, DEC, DOS.
o Stakeholder design review.

4. Ecological Services

MVVA will contract Biohabitats to provide ecological services during the Design Development phase. These
services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
ecological services scope of work.

Review of the site survey (provided by the Owner) for bathymetric information. Notify MVVA if
discrepancies or missing information is found.

Provide design studies of various edge conditions and strategies to deploy along the shoreline
in coordination with Marine Engineer and Hydrologist.

Coordinate with Marine Engineer to develop a series of shoreline section standards, including
hard (stone) and soft (vegetated) edge conditions.

Nearshore Habitat Enhancement strategies.

Support digital modeling for (3) hydrologic simulations to ensure proper water movement and
flushing in the lagoon, as well as seiche and wave protection. Simulations to be performed by
Hydrologist.

Prepare design development plans, profiles, typical details and specifications per Design
Development Project Schedule.

233



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park - Buffalo, NY — #18019.00, page 8 of 17

5. Soil Science Services

MVVA will contract Craul Land Scientists to provide soil science services during the Design Development
phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
soil science scope of work.

Review of the Geotechnical investigations and Recommendation Report (provided by the
Owner) for existing soil information and recommendations. Notify MVVA if discrepancies or
missing information is found.

Identify potential sources for soil components, including base soil, compost, and sand.
Provide testing (mechanical, chemical, biological) for potential soil sources. Research and
report on locally available horticuttural soil, compost, and amendments. Maintain accurate
sampling records. Provide written report including findings and recommendations. Submit
report as a deliverable for 50% and 100% Design Development.

Coordinate with Geotechnical Engineer and Civil Engineer for subgrade review. Geotechnical
borings to be provided by the Owner.

Review and comment on planting soils plan, sections and/or details prepared by MVVA.
Undertake one (1) soil sourcing trip.

oOutline a landscape underdrainage strategy to be documented by Civil Engineer. Suggest
materials, layout, and details for drawings.

Identify soil profiles necessary at each project area.

Provide soil specifications for the 50% Design Development and 100% Design Development
phases for your scope of work per Design Development Project Schedule.

Coordinate with Irrigation Designer to align water needs relative to soil types.

incorporate feedback from ecologist into design of aqueous soils.

6. Geotechnical Engineering Services

MVVA will contract Empire Geotechnical Engineering Services to provide geotechnical engineering services
during the Design Development phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
geotechnical engineering scope of work.

Coordinate with Civil Engineer and Soil Scientist for subgrade design. Geotechnical borings to
be provided by the Owner.

Review and comment on location and designs for MVVA landforms and other structures.
Provide recommendations for bulk fitt management to be used for inland earthworks, include
strategies to utilize alternative fill materials that might be generated by on- and off-site
construction activities.

Prepare technical specifications for fill material and placement.

Review environmental assessment of existing soil quality and reuse or disposal strategies
prepared by the Environmental Engineer. Environmental Engineering to be provided by Owner.

234



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park - Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 9 of 17

Ground Settlement Assessment and Design: Provide ground settiement analysis and define
acceptable tolerance with the Design Team based on the sensitivity of the future conditions to
settlement. Design ground improvements for areas susceptible to settlement. Analyze
alternative ground improvement options including preloading and surcharging in such areas.
Coordinate ground improvements with Civil Engineer and Transportation Consultant.
Coordinate with Structural Engineer to Review proposed foundation locations/design based on
the existing soil conditions. Bridge and architecture foundation review to be provided by
others.

Provide foundation design recommendations for the following park elements:

Subbase, and base support for pedestrian paths and roadways.

Parameters for lightly loaded structures including boardwatks.

Subgrade, subbase, and base support for park utilities.

Lightly loaded structures, including but not limited to retaining walls, light and
camera poles, bollards, signage, site furniture, railings, decks, and play structures.

7. Lighting Design Services

MVVA will contract Domingo Gonzalez Associates to provide lighting design services during the Design
Development phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
lighting design scope of work.

Develop an integrated lighting strategy for illumination of park areas and specialty areas such
as the lagoon, the outcrop, promenades, and athletic fields. Pedestrian bridge and
architecture lighting to be provided by others.

Coordination with the Pedestrian Bridge Team and the USACE Shoreline Protection Team.
Provide recommendations and options for lighting control.

Prepare CAD plans for fixture locations at 50% and 100% Design Development Phases and at
interim submissions per Design Development Project Schedule.

Provide lighting strategies at sports fields. Assist with specifying light fixtures per City of
Buffalo Sports Fields Guidelines.

Coordinate with Civil Engineering/infrastructure and Utility Planning Consultant.

Coordinate with the City of Buffalo and New York Power Authority through MVVA.

Coordinate with Ecologist for acceptable lighting strategies in areas with high ecologicat
importance.

Provide photometric calculations and plans showing light levels and distribution to ensure
conformance with integrated lighting strategy and city standards.

perform two reviews of drawings prepared by MVVA to confirm that layout of lighting matches
proposed layout by lighting designer. Produce a memo of comments and/or mark-ups of
design drawings.

Provide a lighting fixture and pole schedule including acceptable manufacturers, electrical
information and special mounting or finish notes. Include a package of manufacturers’ lighting
fixture cut sheets.

235



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 10 of 17

Coordinate with Electrical Engineer for wiring requirements. Perform two reviews of updated
lighting conduit plans prepared by Electrical Engineer. Produce a memo of comments and/or
mark-ups of design drawings.

Coordinate with Civil Engineer and Traffic/Transportation Consultant for lighting at proposed
roadway.

Prepare design development plans, profiles, typical details and specifications per Design
Development Project Schedule.

8. code Consulting Services

MWVA will contract Foit-Albert Associates to provide code consulting services during the Design
Development phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
code consulting scope of work.

Participate in bi-weekly team meetings during the Design Development Phase via web
conference.

Participate in one (1) meeting with MVVA and the Owner Group for concurrence on approach
and one (1) meeting for close out confirmation.

Thorough examination of the technical and design considerations affecting code compliance
that establishes the framework for achieving agency approval for the entire project. Includes
site related elements as well as site structures.

Create and maintain a master matrix, memo, and/or other form of record-keeping, of all
applicable codes, indicating to which area(s) or part(s) of the project each code applies.
Report to Design Team any changes in codes or standards that impact project design.
Prepare two formal reviews of design development documents for compliance with applicable
codes and standards. Produce a memo of comments for each review. Joint permit application

to be done by others.

9. Playground Code Consulting Services

MVVA will contract Abundant Playscapes to provide playground code consulting services during the Design
Development phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
playground code consulting services scope of work.

Participate in Coordination meeting with MVVA and Owner Group in order to identify the
technicat and design considerations affecting code compliance that establishes the framework
for achieving agency approval for the entire project.

Collaborate and coordinate with MVVA to address code compliance of overall piayground
design and equipment selection. Perform ongoing reviews of in-progress work for the MVVA
Team.

Create and maintain a master matrix, memo, and/or other form of record-keeping, of all
applicable codes. Report to Design Team any changes in codes or standards that impact

236



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park - Buffale, NY — #18019.00, page 11 of 17

project design, and track compliance with various codes or actions required to meet
requirements.

Prepare two formal reviews of design development documents for compliance with applicable
codes and standards. Produce a memo of commenits for each review. After each memo is
issued, participate in an in-person meeting at the MVWVA office to discuss the memo.

10. Structural Engineering Services

MWVA will contract Wendel to provide structural engineering services during the Design Development
phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
structural engineering services scope of work.
Concrete foundations and structures: determine reinforcement for concrete.
Determine footings and foundations for Park elements including but not limited to:
e Retaining walls.
Light and camera poles.
Bollards.
Signage.
Site furniture.
Landscape railings.
Decks.
Play structures.

Assist MVVA with member sizing, connection, attachment details, and material selection at
Park elements including but not limited to:

* Landscape railings.

e Benches and other site furniture.

* Decks.

e Walls and boardwalks.
Offer alternate means of achieving technical ideas through quick design sketches as
necessary.
Prepare design development plans, profiles, typical details and specifications.
Coordinate with Marine Engineer for shoreline design.
Coordinate with Lighting Designer, Geotechnical Engineer, and Playground Equipment
Manufacturer for reviewing any items requiring structural engineer’s input.

11. Irrigation Design Services

MVVA will contract Wolf Creek Company to provide irrigation design services during the Design
Development phase. These services include the following scope:

Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
irrigation design scope of work.

237



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY — #18019.00, page12 of 17

- Coordinate water supply and electrical requirements for irrigation system with Civil Engineer,
including location(s) of irrigation tie-in(s) to water service.

- Prepare calculations for each irrigation area, including estimated monthly and yearly water
demands, and develop an estimate of annual operating costs at 50% Design Development and
100% Design Development phases.

- Provide irrigation controller options. Controller shall be an automatable, remote access
system responsive to environmental conditions, and shall include weather stations, soil
moisture sensors, radio frequency and internet communication.

- Develop establishment-period (temporary) irrigation options.

- Provide selections of irrigation components for such items as rotors, drip tubing, control
valves, isolation valves, quick couplers, etc.

- Prepare design development irrigation plans, details and specifications at 50% Design
Development and 100% Design Development phases.

- Coordinate with MVVA’s design and the owner group.

- Coordinate with soil scientist to align water needs relative to soil types.

12. Architect

MVVA has issued an RFP to provide architectural services for the RCWJCP. These services include the
following scope:

- Building Sizing / requirements:

s O+M Building (approximately 9,000 sq.ft.): The operations and management building
shall serve as the base of operations for the park, where provisions will exist for
maintaining park amenities and sports fields. Coordinate with MVVA and the client
group in order to prepare a building programming and establish the spaces required
within the main building (office space, meeting room, small kitchen and lunchroom,
equipment storage, washrooms, lockers, garages etc.). Coordinate with the City of
Buffalo and the client group for finishes and materials to be used, always in
accordance with the budgets established during the Schematic Design Phase.

® One Comfort Station (approximately 2,000 sq.ft.): Coordinate with MVVA and the
client group in order to prepare a building programming and establish the spaces
required within the comfort station. The comfort station will offer concessions, space
for flexible program, storage for maintenance equipment, two handicap-accessible
restrooms, and four single-occupant restrooms. Additional programming might be
required or revised as the design of the park advances,

e Electricity, gas, plumbing, and other related utilities shall be coordinated to service
these buildings.

e Coordinate with MVVA and the Design Team for any utility hook-ups required for the
comfort station and the O+M Building.

- Review design and documents provided by MVVA to acquire a thorough understanding of the
project relative to the scope of services herein. Provide any questions or comments related to
your scope of work.

- Review cost estimate and narrative prepared during the Schematic Design Phase that
established budgets for the operations and maintenance (O+M) Building and the comfort
station.

238



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 13 of 17

- Coordination meeting with MVVA and client group in order to identify the technical and design
considerations affecting the design of the buildings.

- Procure and coordinate subconsultants specifically required for the architectural scope, as
identified below. Technical and design considerations affecting building and structure design
shall be a responsibility of the Architect’s team and Architect shall ensure to provide a
complete building based on the requirements set by the client group. Proponent may add or
subtract subconsultants as required for the completion of the scope of work listed herein.

e MEP Engineer

Structural Engineer

Sanitary Services Engineer

Lighting Designer

Geotechnical Engineer

Signage Designer

Security Consultant

Data/Telecom Consultant

café/kitchen Consultant, if required.

Sustainability Consultant

Building Commissioning Consultant

Code Consultant

Cost Estimator

Notes:

a) MVVA's Design Team sub-consultants will provide the main line utility hook-ups
for potable water, sanitary, gas, and electrical services for the buildings, to within
five feet of the face of the buildings. The Architect will provide all engineering
services related to the buildings.

b) The RCWJCP project is seeking to comply with the City of Buffalo Minority and
Women-Owned Business Enterprises (M/WBE) requirements, which target 25%
MBE and 5% WBE. The Architect’s Team should contribute to this goal by selecting
some subconsultants that are certified within one of these categories.

- In coordination with the MVVA Design Team and Client, develop the program reconciliation
with code, zoning, and other design criteria for the operations and maintenance (0O+M)
Building and the comfort station.

- Work with MVVA to site the buildings and to integrate them into the park’s elements and
setting.

- Thorough examination of the technical and design considerations affecting building and
structure design that establishes the framework for achieving agency approval for the entire
project.

- Provide Design Development design services producing plans, sections, elevations and other
drawings, specifications, and other items as required for each structure. Designs must be
reconciled to fit the spatial context of the structure’s location within the currently approved
site design. Coordinate with MVVA and the Design Team members as required.

- Coordination with MVVA’s design team and the client group.

239



Ralph C, Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 14 of 17

. DESIGN TEAM FEE BREAKDOWN
BRASESGOPE
Discipline Firm DD Fee MBE | WBE
Prime, Landscape Architecture | MVWA $1,915,970.00
Civil Engineering/infrastructure | Wendet $200,200.00
and Utility Planning
Marine Engineering Beech and Bonaparte $334,500.00
Engineering P.C.
Soil Scientist Craul Land Scientists $15,000.00
Lighting Domingo Gonzalez Associates $118,950.00 | X
Structural Engineer Wendel $63,300.00
Hydrologist Limnotech $240,280.00
Ecology Biohabitats $66,000.00
Geotechnical Engineering Empire Geotechnical $42,720.00 X
Engineering Services

Code Consultant Foit-Albert $18,470.00 | X
Playground Code Consultant Abundant Playscapes $15,000.00
Irrigation Designer Wolf Creek $18.500.00
Architecture - ALLOWANCE TBD $130,000.00

SUBTOTAL = | $3.178,890.00

$100,000.00

Discipline Firm CD Fee MBE | WBE
Prime, Landscape Architecture | MVVA $35,200.00
Structural Engineering Wendel $12,900.00

SUBTOTAL = $48,100.00

TOTAL LUMP SUM FEE FOR MVVA DESIGN TEAM = [ $3,326,990.00

NOTE: MVVA reserves the right to reallocate fees between MWA and the subconsultants.

LEGEND:

MBE = Minority Owned Business Enterprise
WBE = Woman Owned Business Enterprise

240




Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park - Buffalo, NY — #18019.00, page 15 of 17

V. ADDITIONAL SERVICES

MVVA and their Design Team can provide the services listed below if needed. Coordination between the
Owner Group and MVVA will be required to define the scope and fee for each one of the additional services
listed below.

- Grant Application Support: Grant application support that requires deliverables in addition than
what is outlined in the base scope will be billed hourly.

- Expedited Packages: When the owner’s representative defines the construction schedule, MVVA
will work with the Owner Group to define scope and fees to advance project areas through
construction documents as needed, including necessary subconsultants. MVVA will prepare a
proposal upon request from the Owner and submit it for approval.

- Construction Administration (CA) Services for Waterfront Betterments: When the scope and
involvement of MVVA in CA is identified by the USACE and the Owner Group, MVVA will prepare a
proposal upon request from the Owner and submit it for approval.

- Request for Great Lakes Legacy Act Funding: As a subconsultant to MVVA, LimnoTech can assist
in coordination of the request for Great Lakes Legacy Act Funding to support design and
construction fees. LimnoTech can prepare a proposal upon request from the Owner and submit it
for approval.

- Athletic Fields Consultant: MVVA can add an athletic fields consultant to the Design Team if the
City of Buffalo guidelines are deemed by the Owner Group to not be the standard of design and/or
they do not include alt the proposed fields and courts. MVVA will request proposal from Athletic
Field Consultants upon request from the Owner and submit it for approval.

- Design of Existing Bulkhead Rehabilitation: \f any section of existing bulkhead is to remain in the
project and not be addressed through USACE, MVVA will work with the Owner Group to define
scope and fees for any design items related to bulkhead rehabilitation. MVVA will prepare a
proposal upon request from the Owner and submit it for approval.

- Football Field Lighting: Owner to provide existing lighting information, including lighting level,
correlated color temperature, and luminaire and light pole types. If upgrades are needed to
existing lighting, MVVA will work with the Owner Group to define scope and fees, MVVA will
prepare a proposal upon request from the Owner and submit it for approval.

- Operations and Maintenance: If needed, MVVA will work with the Owner Group to define scope
and fees to assist in the development of an Operations and Maintenance Strategy, including
necessary subconsultants. MVVA will prepare a proposal upon request from the Owner and submit
it for approval.

VL. OWNER-PROVIDED SERVICES

MVVA requests that the Owner provide certain services to furnish the design team with the information and
services necessary to complete the Design Development phase. These disciplines include:

- Boundary, Topographic and Bathymetric Survey Base Mapping.
- utility Surveying.

241



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 16 of 17

- Geotechnical Investigation and Recommendations (including in-land and in-water borings, and
test pits.)

- Environmental Engineering.

- Cultural Resource Investigations (terrestrial and underwater.)

- State Environmental Quality Review Act (SEQR) Assistance.

- Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) Assessment.

- Joint in-water Permit Application.

- Permit and Approval Application Preparation and Submission.

- Fill source Identification, Testing and Management.

- Information Technology (IT)/Security.

- Park Signage/Wayfinding.

- Maintenance & Operations Planning.

Vil. EXCLUSIONS

MVVA anticipates the following scopes of work to be excluded or performed by others:
- Formal Value Engineering Process.
- Archeological Services.
- Hazardous Materials Identification and Removal Plan.
- Environmental impact Statement (EIS.)
- LEED and SITES documentation.
- Telecommunications/Data Infrastructure.
- Boat/Ferry Mooring Infrastructure.
- Subgrade Grading Plans or Fill Placement/management Plans.
- Pavilion Improvements.

Please feel free to reach out with any questions or concerns you may have. .

Sincerely,

A5

A. Paul Seck
Partner and Chief Operating Officer

Cc: Michael Van Valkenburgh
Paloma Garcia
Michalis Piroccas
Scott Lang

242



Ralph C. Wilson, Jr. Centennial Park — Buffalo, NY - #18019.00, page 17 of17

Our receipt of a signed copy of this Agreement shall be interpreted as our authorization to commence with
the project.

Approved: BUDC Date

Signed:
03/13/20

Kevin Gulvin - Director

Approved: G&T Date

243



